
Agenda - Y Pwyllgor Cydraddoldeb, Llywodraeth Leol a 
Chymunedau
Lleoliad:
Ystafell Bwyllgora 1 - Y Senedd
Dyddiad: Dydd Mercher, 19 Hydref 
2016
Amser: 09.00

I gael rhagor o wybodaeth cysylltwch a:
Jon Antoniazzi
Clerc y Pwyllgor
0300 200 6565 
SeneddCymunedau@cynulliad.cymru

Rhag-gyfarfod anffurfiol 09.00 - 09.15 

1 Cyflwyniad, ymddiheuriadau, dirprwyon a datgan buddiannau
 

2 Ymchwiliad ôl-ddeddfwriaethol i Ddeddf Trais yn erbyn Menywod, 
Cam-drin Domestig a Thrais Rhywiol (Cymru) 2015 sesiwn 
dystiolaeth 5
(09.15-10.15) (Tudalennau 1 - 127) 

Rhian Bowen-Davies, Cynghorydd Cenedlaethol ar gyfer Trais yn erbyn Menywod 
a mathau eraill o Drais ar Sail Rhywedd, Cam-drin Domestig a Thrais Rhywiol

Egwyl (10.15-10.30) 

3 Ymchwiliad ôl-ddeddfwriaethol i Ddeddf Trais yn erbyn Menywod, 
Cam-drin Domestig a Thrais Rhywiol (Cymru) 2015 sesiwn 
dystiolaeth 6
(10.30-12.00) (Tudalennau 128 - 138) 

Carl Sargeant AC, Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Gymunedau a Phlant
Martin Swain, Dirprwy Gyfarwyddwr, Diogelwch Cymunedol

------------------------Pecyn dogfennau cyhoeddus ------------------------



4 Papurau i'w nodi
 

Llythyr gan Weinidog y Gymraeg a Dysgu Gydol Oes ynghylch y Tasglu 
Gweinidogol ar gyfer Cymoedd y De

(Tudalennau 139 - 140) 
Llythyr gan Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet ynghylch ymgysylltu â Llywodraeth y DU ar 
gymorth i ffoaduriaid o Syria ac ar gyflwyniad arfaethedig Llywodraeth y DU o’r 
Ddeddf Hawliau Prydeinig

(Tudalennau 141 - 144) 

5 Cynnig o dan Reol Sefydlog 17.42 i benderfynu gwahardd y 
cyhoedd o weddill y cyfarfod

 

6 Ymchwiliad ôl-ddeddfwriaethol i Ddeddf Trais yn erbyn Menywod, 
Cam-drin Domestig a Thrais Rhywiol (Cymru) 2015: sesiwn 
dystiolaeth 2  - Ystyried y dystiolaeth
(12.00-12.20)  

7 Ymchwiliad i ffoaduriaid a cheiswyr lloches yng Nghymru - 
Ystyried dull yr ymchwiliad
(12.20-12.30)  



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 1

Eitem 2Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



Pwyllgor Cydraddoldeb, Llywodraeth Leol a Chymunedau
Equality, Local Government and Communities Committee 
ELGC(5)-08-16 Papur 1 / Paper 1

1. About the National Adviser 

1.1 The National Adviser provides an independent, expert perspective to the work being 
taken forward in Wales; advising, shaping and informing legislative, strategy and policy 
developments and driving forward improvements in the prevention, protection and support 
for all individuals affected by violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence 
in Wales.

1.2 The role is a statutory advisory role, independent of Government, and its functions are 
detailed in Section 21 of the Act;

The National Adviser is to exercise the following functions, subject to the direction of the 
Welsh Ministers

a) To advise the Welsh Ministers about pursuing the purpose of this Act or tackling related 
matters

b) To give other assistance to the Welsh Ministers in their pursuit of the purpose of this Act 
or tackling related matters

c) To undertake research relating to the purpose of this Act
d) To advise and give other assistance, with the agreement of the Ministers, to any persons 

on matters relating to pursuing the purpose of this Act or tackling related matters
e) Produce reports on any matter relating to the purpose of this Act or tackling related 

matters

1.3 I was appointed to the role of National Adviser through the Public Appointments process 
and began my term of office in September 2015 reporting to, the then Minister for Public 
Services, Leighton Andrews AM. Following the National Assembly elections in May 2016 I 
report to the Cabinet Secretary for Communities and Children, Carl Sergeant AM.

1.4 The Act requires the National Adviser to prepare an Annual Plan setting out how they 
propose to exercise the functions of the role during the following financial year. The Annual 
Plan must state the objectives and priorities for the following year; state any matters on 
which the Adviser proposes to report during that year and state any other activities that the 
Adviser proposes to undertake. A copy of my first Annual Plan is attached to this response. 

1.5 The Act further requires the National Adviser to send an Annual Report to Welsh 
Ministers about the exercise of the functions during the previous financial year.  A copy of 
my first Annual Report is also attached to this response.

2. Context for this response

Tudalen y pecyn 18



2

Internationally

2.1 In September 2015 world leaders agreed 17 new global sustainable development goals 
as part of the “Transforming our World – The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development”.  
Sustainable Development Goal 5 commits to achieving “Gender Equality and empowering 
all Women and Girls” and includes targets to 

 End all forms of discrimination against all women and girls everywhere
 Eliminate all forms of violence against all women and girls in the public and private 

spheres, including trafficking and sexual and other types of exploitation 
 Eliminate all harmful practices, such as child, early and forced marriage and female 

genital mutilation 

The publication of the sustainable development goals underlines a global commitment to 
ending all forms of violence against women and girls and a set of indicators to monitor the 
progress of the goals are expected in 2016.

2.2 The Council of Europe Convention on preventing and combating violence against 
women and domestic violence (‘Istanbul Convention’), to which the UK is a signatory, sets 
out minimum standards for Government’s to meet to prevent violence against women, 
protect victims and prosecute perpetrators. The Convention sets out the standards to: 

 a) protect women against all forms of violence, and prevent, prosecute and eliminate 
violence against women and domestic violence; 

b) contribute to the elimination of all forms of discrimination against women and promote 
substantive equality between women and men, including by empowering women;

 c) design a comprehensive framework, policies and measures for the protection of and 
assistance to all victims of violence against women and domestic violence;

 d) promote international co-operation with a view to eliminating violence against women 
and domestic violence; 

e) provide support and assistance to organisations and law enforcement agencies to 
effectively co-operate in order to adopt an integrated approach to eliminating violence 
against women and domestic violence.

2.3 The EU Victims Directive establishes a new legal standard for victim’s services which 
include advice, practical, emotional and psychological support services. The obligations 
placed upon states include a minimum level of provision of specialist services for individuals 
and their children regardless of nationality or citizenship.

UK

2.4 The publication of the UK Government’s “Ending Violence against Women and Girls 
Strategy 2016 -2020” in March 2016 builds on the work of the UK Government over recent 
years and prioritises the prevention of violence and abuse, provision of services, partnership 

Tudalen y pecyn 19



3

working and pursuing perpetrators. The accompanying action plan provides detail of the 
legislative and policy changes required to deliver the strategy and the resources being 
invested to support implementation. When considered collectively, the UK Government 
strategy commitments and subsequent inquiry announcements by both the Home Affairs 
and Women and Equalities Parliamentary Committees relating to prostitution and sexual 
violence and harassment in schools provides an opportunity for a complementary 
framework to policy commitments and practice developments in Wales. Whilst recognising 
the “complexities” of devolved and non-devolved policy areas it is imperative that potential 
duplication is avoided and opportunities for improved co-ordination, consistency and 
coherence identified for stakeholders and survivors. 

Wales

2.5 The Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (Wales) Act 2015 
(The Act) is recognised as ground breaking in its intention to improve responses of public 
services and arrangements for the protection, prevention and support of those experiencing 
any form of violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence. The potential of 
the Act now relies on effective leadership and the delivery, scrutiny and monitoring of its 
implementation.

2.6 Having received Royal Assent in April 2015 two commencement orders have brought 
into force all provisions of the Act including requirements on Welsh Ministers, Relevant 
Authorities and the National Adviser. 

2.7 There have been consultation periods for three pieces of draft statutory guidance; 

 the National Training Framework, 
 Ask and Act and 
 Multi Agency Collaborative Working  

In March 2016, following consultation, the National Violence against Women, Domestic 
Abuse and Sexual Violence Training Framework was published as statutory guidance.

2.8 The draft National Strategy, as required by the Act, is currently being consulted upon 
and this must be an integrated, ambitious cross government strategy providing leadership 
and clear expectations for implementation of the Act. 

2.9 The Well Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act aims to improve the social, 
economic, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales and, through the introduction of 
a sustainable development principle, requires Public Bodies listed in the Act to think more 
about the long term, work better with people, communities and each other, look to prevent 
problems and take a more joined up approach. 

2.10 The implementation of the Social Services and Well-Being (Wales) Act 2014 aims to 
improve the well-being of people who need care and support and carers who need support. 

Tudalen y pecyn 20



4

The Act changes the way people’s needs are assessed and the way services are delivered; 
promotes a range of help available within the community to reduce the need for formal, 
planned support and introduces stronger powers to keep people safe from abuse and 
neglect. The Act also has wide ranging implications for ensuring services are able to provide 
the right support at the right time.

2.11 The Housing (Wales) Act 2014 requires local authorities to prevent and alleviate 
homelessness enhancing the enabling legislative framework that we have in Wales to 
address violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence and improve 
arrangement for protection, prevention and support.

2.12 The National Independent Safeguarding Board has been established under the Social 
Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014. The National Board is an advisory body that will 
advise Welsh Ministers on safeguarding people in Wales. It will work alongside the regional 
safeguarding adult boards and safeguarding children boards to secure improvements in 
safeguarding policy and practice throughout Wales and has nominated a violence against 
women, domestic abuse and sexual violence lead from within its membership. 

2.13 In January 2016 Public Health Wales published a report on the first Welsh Adverse 
Childhood Experiences Study (ACEs).  ACEs are stressful experiences occurring during 
childhood that harm a child (e.g. physical or sexual abuse) or affect the environment in 
which they live (e.g. growing up in a house with domestic violence or abuse). Findings show 
that ACEs have a major impact on the development of health harming behaviours in Wales 
and the prevention of ACEs is likely to not only to improve the early years experiences of 
children born in Wales but also reduce levels of health harming behaviours such as problem 
alcohol use, smoking, poor diets and violent behaviour. The study found that 16% of adults 
had lived in households where there had been domestic abuse and that, as children, 17% of 
adults had experienced physical abuse and 10% had experienced sexual abuse.

2.14 All of the above provide the cross cutting context in which the Act is being 
implemented and should be considered by the Committee to ensure that the Act itself is not 
isolated from wider legislative context in Wales but rather is aligned and integrated not only 
across Welsh Government policy areas and devolved responsibilities, but is proactively 
contributing and complementary to the wider UK and international context for the 
prevention of violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence. 

   

3. To what extent is the approach to tackling violence against women, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence improving as a result of the obligations of the Act

Tudalen y pecyn 21



5

3.1 The Act has the potential to significantly improve the approach to tackling violence 
against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence in Wales through effective 
implementation of the obligations set out within.

3.2 Listed below are, to my knowledge, the obligations of the Act that have been delivered 
since April 2015;

1. Appointment of the National Adviser in September 2016
2. Statutory Guidance published relating to the National Training Framework in March 

2016 
3. Draft guidance relating to “Ask and Act” and “Multi Agency Collaborative Working” 

consulted upon (September 2015 – January 2016) but not yet published. 
4. 2 early adopter sites identified to pilot Ask and Act and an evaluation of these sites 

planned for Autumn / Winter 2016
5. Draft National Strategy consulted upon August – October 2016 to be published 4th 

November

3.3 My observations would be that awareness and understanding of the Act and its 
requirements remain inconsistent across the public service in Wales.

3.4 The timing of the introduction of the Act alongside the Social Services and Well-Being 
(Wales) Act and Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act presented an opportunity to 
integrate many of the key messages, principles and requirements of the legislation. I feel, 
however that this opportunity was missed and that there is a resultant risk that the Act will 
be considered in isolation rather than as part of an integrated Welsh approach to improving 
social, economic and cultural wellbeing.

3.5 The specialist sector, organisations and individuals have been key in raising awareness of 
the Act and its requirements, however a lack of meaningful communication and clear 
direction from Welsh Government has meant that relevant authorities and partners have, in 
some instances, been unsure as to how to progress delivery of their own obligations and 
there remains uncertainty in relation to timescales for obligations within the Act  e.g. 
implementation of Ask and Act, publication of statutory guidance.

3.6 The publication of the statutory guidance on commissioning for specialist services is 
critical to the purpose of the Act and it is therefore concerning that there is no confirmed 
timeline for the publication of this guidance.  Commissioning of specialist services is already 
happening in Wales, in particular those services funded by Welsh Government’s Supporting 
People Programme Grant. In the absence of Welsh Government guidance and principles, 
commissioning processes are inconsistent, with different services being commissioned from 
different approaches. 

Strategic, collaborative commissioning is vital for the sustainability of specialist services and 
delivery of the purpose of the Act.  

Tudalen y pecyn 22



6

3.7 I welcome the Lloyds Bank Foundation “Tackling Violence against Women, Domestic 
Abuse and Sexual Violence; A Collaborative Commissioning Toolkit for Services in Wales” 
and in the absence of Welsh Government guidance the principles within the toolkit need to 
be embedded within commissioning practices. This toolkit, developed in collaboration with 
survivors, commissioners and service providers outlines key principles that should underpin 
the Welsh Government guidance to ensure greater consistency of commissioning practice.

3.8 I have seen some progress in relation to governance arrangements for violence against 
women, domestic abuse and sexual violence in that local areas are considering how they 
can move to regional governance arrangements. Learning from the Gwent Pathfinder 
project has enabled other areas to consider regional arrangements and I am supporting a 
number of regions through this transition. The draft Multi Agency Collaborative Working 
document consulted upon in 2015 provided guidance for areas when considering 
governance and partnership arrangements however, no final document has been 
published.Guidance on effective governance arrangements is critical to delivering the 
obligations of the Act in terms of effective strategic leadership at a regional and local level.

3.9 In preparation for the population needs assessments required by the Social Services and 
Well-Being (Wales) Act areas have begun considering data relating to violence against 
women, domestic abuse and sexual violence which is included as a core theme for inclusion 
within the data catalogue. This assessment, alongside others as specified in the Act must be 
considered by Local Authorities and Health Boards when preparing their local strategies.

3.10 The publication of statutory guidance relating to the National Training Framework and 
the piloting of Ask and Act have raised important issues including;

 Alignment of the national training framework with other training requirements / 
frameworks e.g. Social Services and Well-Being to ensure key messages are 
integrated and consistent and maximise resources 

 Assessment of the resources required to support effective and sustainable 
implementation of the national training framework 

 Earlier identification of individuals experiencing violence against women, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence resulting in an increased demand for specialist services 
and resource implications to support this increased demand  

 A mechanism for effective communication between Welsh Government and 
Relevant Authorities as it relates to the implementation of both the National 
Training Framework and Ask and Act

3.11 These key issues relating to resources to support effective implementation, capacity 
and demand upon the specialist sector and effective communication need to be carefully 
considered and addressed prior to national roll-out.  

Tudalen y pecyn 23



7

4. What are the most effective ways of capturing the views and experiences of 
survivors? Are the arrangements in place to capture these experiences and to what 
extent is this information being used to help inform the implementation of the 
Act’s provisions?

4.1 Survivors’ experiences are key to understanding their needs, challenges and aspirations 
and should be integral to informing the development of the National Strategy, 
implementation of the Act and my work as Adviser. 

4.2 Within the terms and conditions of my appointment, my role, on behalf of Welsh 
Ministers includes working with victims and survivors to gain an understanding of their 
experiences and views and consider how these could influence the development of policy 
and delivery of services.

4.3 There is currently no sustainable structure for engaging with survivors about what is 
important to them. Current survivor engagement is ad-hoc and tends to be responsive to an 
organisation or establishment’s request for feedback or formal consultation. 

4.4 Within my Annual Plan 2016-17 I commit to seeking survivors’ views on the 
development of a sustainable national framework for survivor engagement, where survivors 
are supported to shape the agenda, voice issues that are important to them and influence 
and inform practice improvements.  Survivors from marginalised and under-represented 
groups including male survivors, LGBT survivors, Black and Minority survivors, refugees, 
disabled individuals, women involved in the Criminal Justice System, adult survivors of child 
sexual abuse and survivors not engaged with services will be encouraged and supported to 
contribute their voices. I prioritise the following deliverables within my plan;

 To support a pilot project to inform the development of a sustainable survivor led 
engagement framework with a view to promote the adoption of the model across 
Wales

 To support and ensure representation of all communities and groups of people to 
have their voices heard specifically where violence or behaviours tend to be related 
to a specific identities e.g. FGM

4.5 Between January and March 2016 I supported an engagement and consultation project 
with survivors of violence of abuse, domestic abuse and sexual violence delivered by Welsh 
Women’s Aid and an independent facilitator. The consultation was requested by the then 
Minister for Public Services, Leighton Andrews AM to inform the National Advisory Group of 
survivor’s recommendations on;

 Priorities for the national strategy – prevention, protection and support
 Improving public service responses and priorities for the National Adviser
 Test out views on continued survivor engagement in Wales

Tudalen y pecyn 24



8

4.6“Are you listening and am I being heard? Survivor Consultation: A report of the 
recommendations made by survivors or violence against women, domestic abuse and 
sexual violence to inform the National Strategy in Wales” contains a number of 
recommendations to inform the development of the national strategy, feedback on the 
priorities for the National Adviser and recommendations for improvements in specific 
agencies. 

4.7 The report also contains recommendations that reflect survivors overwhelming support 
for a sustainable model of engagement and consultation. Survivors wanted to ensure that 
their voices and experiences remain central to policy and service improvements across 
Wales. Survivors strongly recommended that that a national framework for ongoing 
survivor engagement and involvement be prioritised and resourced by Welsh 
Government. I have attached a copy of the report to this response.

4.8 Survivors identified 10 key recommendations for priority inclusion in the National 
Strategy and I expect these recommendations to be integral to the Strategy, demonstrating 
how Welsh Government is placing survivors central to improvements in Wales.

4.9 I wish to highlight a number of examples of practice developments relating to survivor 
engagement;

1. The Lloyds Bank Foundation “Tackling Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and 
Sexual Violence – A collaborative commissioning toolkit for services in Wales” 
published in 2016 was developed in collaboration with commissioners, survivors, 
providers and second tier organisations and highlights how understanding survivors 
experiences of public services is key to improving the effectiveness of prevention, 
protection and support services and systems. The toolkit provides guidance when 
considering engagement with survivors including good practice principles relating to 
childcare, accessible and safe locations, resources for interpreters, running 
dedicated sessions for different groups and thinking about different methods of 
participation. The toolkit has been widely distributed in Wales to inform strategic 
commissioning of violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence 
services.

2. Survivor engagement has been central to needs assessment and strategy 
development in two local authority areas that have undertaken these activities in 
2016 and has been identified as integral in other areas that are planning how they 
will meet the requirements of the Act.

3. Llamau’s The Llwybrau Project – Service User Consultation Toolkit which aims to 
share tools and ideas that can enhance service user engagement.

4. Welsh Women’s Aid are currently developing a national survivor participation 
framework using Survivors Empowering and Educating Domestic Abuse Services 
(SEEDS) model. This framework, which will be developed over the next two years 
enables survivors to engage in local and national decision making and can provide a 

Tudalen y pecyn 25



9

mechanism for agencies to better understand survivor’s experiences and 
perspectives. This model is being piloted in the South East Wales region to inform 
national roll out.

4.10 Meaningful and effective survivor engagement requires resource to ensure that good 
practice principles are demonstrated and that survivors are appropriately supported. 

4.11 Survivors have lived through violence and abuse. They know first-hand what it is like 
and what may help others in similar situations. It is vital therefore that Welsh Government 
and Public Services are prepared and willing to listen as this can really have an impact on 
future services and resources for individuals and families impacted by violence against 
women, domestic abuse and sexual violence. 

4.12 To ensure that survivor views and experiences are listened to effectively and inform 
policy and practice improvements in a meaningful way I believe that Wales should develop a 
national survivor engagement framework, centrally resourced by Welsh Government and 
independently delivered to ensure consistency and adherence to principles of good practice. 
A national framework could support engagement regionally to inform and shape 
improvements at this level whilst simultaneously contributing nationally through the 
National Advisory Group and National Adviser. 

5. Whether survivors of abuse are beginning to experience better responses from 
public authorities as a result of the Act, particularly those needing specialist 
services?

5.1 The Act contains obligations that provide an overarching framework for improved 
responses e.g. the preparation and publication of a National and local strategies and the 
power to issue statutory guidance. 

5.2 The only guidance published to date is that relating to the National Training Framework 
which aims to ensure that high quality and consistent training is available to those across 
the public and specialist sector. 

5.3 Welsh Government consulted on the policy of “Ask and Act” between November 2015 
and January 2016 but has not yet published final guidance. A principles-based approach to 
targeted enquiry, “Ask and Act” aims to create a more consistent approach to the 
identification and support for those who experience violence against women, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence. 

5.4 When considered together, the aims of both policy developments are to increase 
awareness and understanding of violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence across public authorities, to identify individuals experiencing these matters at the 
earliest opportunity and provide an appropriate response which may include referral to a 
specialist service. Increased identification will undoubtedly lead to increased referrals to 
specialist services; this at a time when services are facing year on year cuts to funding.

Tudalen y pecyn 26



10

5.5 The impact of the National Training Framework is, at this time, minimal and Ask and Act 
is limited to being piloted in two early adopter sites with an evaluation planned for Autumn 
2016. It is therefore unlikely that survivors of abuse have seen any improvements in 
responses as a result of these policy developments.

5.6 The Act requires Local Authorities and Local Health Boards to develop a joint strategy by 
May 2018. The Strategy must pay regard to existing needs assessments including the 
population needs assessment required by the Social Services and Well-Being (Wales) Act 
2014 and others listed in the Act. The process of needs assessment should identify priority 
areas and gaps in existing provision and identify resources for investment from across 
stakeholders. Although areas have started to consider needs assessment information, only 
two local authority areas have, to my knowledge, begun developing their strategy and 
neither of these areas have articulated as yet the impact of strategic priorities on service 
delivery models. It is too early therefore to consider whether the requirement to develop 
joint strategies has or will result in improved responses for survivors.

5.7 The role of the specialist violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence 
sector is critical to achieving better responses for individuals. In the recent report survivors 
identify the need for improved links between public authorities and the specialist sector and 
survivors wanting to know about specialist services in their areas and how they can access 
for information and support.

5.8 When considering the potential for increased referrals to specialist services as a result of 
increased awareness and requirements to “Ask and Act” there must be progress towards 
agreeing sustainable funding for services to ensure that high quality, specialist provision is 
accessible across Wales to provide a needs-led, strengths based response to individuals and 
families at the earliest opportunity. These principles should underpin commissioning of all 
violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence services however, in the 
absence of Welsh Government’s Commissioning Guidance processes different approaches 
are being taken to commission different services. 

5.9 There are examples of initiatives across Wales demonstrating how Public Authorities are 
seeking to improve their responses to survivors;

 IRIS – general practice based project with health and the specialist sector working in 
partnership to improve the health care response to violence against women, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence. Funded by the South Wales Police and Crime 
Commissioner IRIS is currently being piloted in Cwm Taf and Cardiff and Vale Health 
Board areas.

 TALK – an early identification and intervention model for key personnel and students 
who are undertaking further or higher education and are or have experienced 
domestic abuse or sexual assault. Funded by the South Wales Police and Crime 
Commissioner

 Free from Fear – Gwent Social Housing Domestic Abuse Partnership – researching 
and developing a toolkit for improving responses of social landlords and preventing 
domestic abuse

Tudalen y pecyn 27



11

 “Ask me scheme” – Welsh Women’s Aid and Powys Local Authority piloting the 
scheme which aims to create safe spaces in local communities where it is safe for 
survivors to disclose and get signposted appropriately to access to support they 
need. This pilot goes beyond the responses of public authorities and the specialist 
sector building a community response to violence against women, domestic abuse 
and sexual violence.

5.10 These initiatives have an opportunity to contribute to policy development and it is 
important that Welsh Government is willing to listen to ensure that learning from these 
initiatives is embedded within national guidance and are translated into practical application 
to improve responses to individuals experiencing violence against women, domestic abuse 
and sexual violence.

5.11 Survivors recommend that Welsh Government place a “greater focus on stopping 
perpetrators behaviours and, where coercive control is a feature, on getting perpetrators to 
leave and end abusive relationships”.1

5.12 It is therefore also important to consider how public authorities respond to 
perpetrators of violence and abuse. Statutory guidance is expected from Welsh Government 
in relation to working with perpetrators and this guidance needs to provide overarching 
principles and clear direction from Welsh Government as to the role of public authorities in 
challenging and holding perpetrators to account for their behaviours. Evidenced and 
accredited programmes are an important element of our responses to perpetrators and I 
expect the guidance to include minimum expectations for the commissioning of perpetrator 
interventions to ensure the safety of individuals and families are priority and the 
management of risk and support to partners / ex partners are integral to any programme 
being commissioned and delivered in Wales.

5.13 The purpose of the Act is clear in its aim to improve responses of public authorities and 
improve the arrangements for the prevention of and protection and support for those 
experiencing violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence. The policy 
developments to date are the first provisions intended to deliver on this purpose. Although 
too early to assess their contribution to improved responses I would also wish to see Welsh 
Government and Public Authorities committing to continuous, ongoing improvement in 
response both to changing individual and societal needs and learning from within Wales and 
beyond as it relates to the prevention, protection and support of individuals experiencing 
violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence.

6. Whether the National Adviser has sufficient power and independence from the 
Welsh Government to ensure implementation of the Act?

1 “Are you listening and am I being heard? Survivor Consultation: A report of the recommendations made by survivors or 
violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence to inform the National Strategy in Wales”

Tudalen y pecyn 28



12

6.1 The functions of the National Adviser are detailed in Section 21 of the Act;

1) The National Adviser is to exercise the following functions, subject to the direction of the 
Welsh Ministers

f) To advise the Welsh Ministers about pursuing the purpose of this Act or tackling related 
matters

g) To give other assistance to the Welsh Ministers in their pursuit of the purpose of this Act 
or tackling related matters

h) To undertake research relating to the purpose of this Act
i) To advise and give other assistance, with the agreement of the Ministers, to any persons 

on matters relating to pursuing the purpose of this Act or tackling related matters
j) Produce reports on any matter relating to the purpose of this Act or tackling related 

matters

3) If the National Adviser requests that a relevant authority provides information for the 
purpose of the exercise of any of the Adviser’s functions, the authority must comply with the 
request unless the authority considers that doing so would –

a) be incompatible with the authority’s own duties

b) otherwise have an adverse effect on the exercise of the authority’s functions

4) A relevant authority which decides not to comply with a request under subsection (3) must 
notify the National Adviser in writing of the reasons for the decision.

6.2 The powers of the National Adviser, as the title of the role suggests only extends to 
advisory functions; providing advice and assistance to Ministers and any other persons; 
undertaking research, producing reports and requesting information from relevant 
authorities.

6.3 Within this advisory capacity the role has no powers to hold Ministers, Welsh 
Government or public services to account in relation to the implementation of the Act and 
as such, there is “no teeth” to the role. This raises further questions in relation to what 
sanctions can be imposed if the legal obligations mandated by the Act are not implemented. 
There is currently a lack of detail as to any sanction options relating to the requirements of 
the Act or any statutory guidance. If it is not the National Adviser who holds public 
authorities to account in relation to the Act where does the accountability sit?

6.4 Throughout the appointment process to the role it was emphasised that this role was a 
public appointment and that nothing within the terms and conditions should be construed 
as, or be taken to create a contract of employment between myself and the Welsh 
Government i.e. I was not an employee. However there are elements of the post that from a 
public perspective could be unclear and raise questions relating to the independence of the 

Tudalen y pecyn 29



13

role i.e. the role has a Welsh Government email address and is effectively based within the 
Welsh Government’s Community Safety Division in Merthyr.

6.5 I am absolutely clear about the need for the role of the National Adviser to be 
independent and I advocate this at every available opportunity and seek to demonstrate 
this in all that I do. I feel however that the current infrastructure in which the role operates 
and the lack of resources available to the Adviser limit not only the effectiveness and 
potential of the role but could also undermine the independence that is integral to the role.

6.6. My annual plan outlines the principles and priorities that I have set myself and sets out 
my statement of intent for the role of National Adviser. The breadth and scale of my annual 
plan also raises questions about resources and the capacity of the National Adviser. 

6.7 The role was appointed on a part time basis– 3 days a week and there is no budget 
allocated to the National Adviser over and above salary and on costs. Any request for 
financial resources to carry out the functions of the role has to be made to Welsh 
Government or Ministers.   

6.8 In response to a request for additional resources to support the National Adviser an 
allocation of part time hours within the Violence against Women and Domestic Abuse team 
were identified to support the role.  Although grateful for the administrative support this 
role can offer I am acutely mindful of the nature of support I request both in terms of not 
compromising the independence of my role nor the role of the civil servant.

6.9 Additional resources are required to support, build capacity and consolidate the 
effectiveness of the role if its potential is to be realised and a balance is required between 
the resources provided by Welsh Government and the fundamental need to maintain the 
independence of the role.  

6.10 The independence of the National Adviser should not rely wholly on the individual 
undertaking the role; rather it should also be supported by appropriate allocation of 
resources to the National Adviser and an infrastructure to enable the individual to perform 
the functions of the role.

Tudalen y pecyn 30



14

7. To what extent the good practice guide to healthy relationships is successfully 
influencing the development of a whole school approach to challenging violence 
against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence?

7.1 The provisions within the Act as they relate to Education are included within;

Section 9 - Requiring local authorities, by regulations, to publish information about whether 
and how local education functions are being exercised to promote the purpose of the Act

Section 10 – Issuing of guidance to the governing bodies of further education institutions on 
how the bodies may contribute to the purpose of the Act.

7.2 I am unaware of the proposed content or timescale for publishing either the regulations 
or guidance. 

7.3 It is interesting to note that the Auditor General has published intention to carry out a 
study of how councils and their partners are tackling the issues of violence against women, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence in Wales. A call for evidence has recently been made to 
shape the aims of the full study and as part of the evidence Local Authorities are asked 
whether they have considered how they will provide information to the public about 
whether, and if so how, local authority education functions are being exercised to promote 
the purpose of the Violence against Women, Domestic Violence and Sexual Violence (Wales) 
Act 2015.

 
7.4 On the 26th February 2015 whilst the Bill was progressing through the National Assembly 
a written statement was made by the then Minister for Public Services, Leighton Andrews 
outlining the education policies that would be introduced to complement the provisions of 
the Act. These provisions included;

 The need to consider healthy and respectful relationships within the Curriculum 
Reform work 

 The publication of a good practice guide to healthy relationships education
 Safeguarding provisions within the revised “Keeping Learners Safe” guidance and all 

Wales protocol
 Inclusion of education based staff within the National Training Framework
 Estyn led thematic review to approaches across Wales
 Guidance to school governors
 Funding of the Spectrum project and All Wales Core Liaison Programme

7.5 “A Whole Education Approach to Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual 
Violence – A Good Practice Guide” was published in October 2015 and its intent is described 
on Welsh Government’s website as;

Tudalen y pecyn 31



15

“to be used as a handy tool to help integrate these issues and approaches into existing 
teaching and management practices”

7.6 The guide has been published on the Welsh Government website but further than this I 
do not know how the guide has been distributed to the Education sector and what 
expectations have been attached to the guide by Welsh Government. I am not aware of any 
monitoring mechanism that enables Welsh Government to assess how many schools are 
aware of the guide, how many schools have or intend to implement the guide or what 
mechanisms are in place to assess the difference being made by adopting a whole education 
approach to violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence.

7.7 For schools that would like to adopt the principles of a whole education approach I am 
unsure what resources have been considered locally, regionally or nationally to support and 
enable the schools to drive forward this cultural change. Local and national specialist 
services would undoubtedly support schools and other education settings to implement the 
approach however consideration of a long term solution is required for appropriate 
resources to facilitate effective, sustainable implementation.

7.8 A toolkit of resources and materials for use within primary, secondary and further 
education settings to complement the good practice guide has also been researched and 
compiled by Welsh Women’s Aid and AVA (Against Violence and Abuse). We await 
publication of the resource however, I fear that without clear direction from Welsh 
Government as to the expectation for implementation and mechanisms for data collection 
and monitoring there is a real risk that the commitments made by the former Minister will 
fail to deliver change within our education settings.

7.9 A key principle within the Whole Education Approach good practice guide is staff 
learning about violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence. This applies to 
all teaching staff, lecturers, tutors, youth workers, non-learning and support staff. Training 
should be provided in line with the National Training Framework which will apply to all staff 
within local authority education functions. Within the “New Deal” element of the curriculum 
reform there is an opportunity to align continuous professional development with the 
requirements of the national training framework to ensure that all staff receive appropriate 
training relating to violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence. At this 
time I am unclear as to what extent education professionals recognise the relevance of the 
requirements of the Act to their roles and functions. 

7.10 A thematic review is expected to be carried out by Estyn during 2016/17 which should 
provide a baseline of information as to current practice across Wales. Taking consideration 
of the scope of work relevant to education (National Training Framework, Whole Education 
Approach, reporting requirements of the Act, areas of learning within the curriculum 
reform) I expect the review to make recommendations for practice improvement and 

Tudalen y pecyn 32



16

outline how monitoring responses and approaches to violence against women, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence should be embedded within the inspection framework.

7.11 Education plays a key role in the primary prevention of violence against women, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence and survivors in Wales identify compulsory prevention 
education in all schools and colleges as a key priority for inclusion within the National 
Strategy2. Survivors said;

“Children need to know what’s wrong and right in relationships, what’s acceptable and what 
help is available – what services there are. It needs to be age appropriate, in primary school 
– it should be compulsory and not out of choice as parents and some children may not get it. 

As they get older, in secondary schools, boys already hit girls for the sake of it and no-one 
challenges it”

“I want my daughter and her friends to know. I wish I’d had more knowledge, I never saw it 
coming and I’m not stupid but we just didn’t have any education, any awareness. I didn’t 

know there were services here to help me. This should be taught in all schools”

7.12 The development of a new curriculum following Professor Donaldson’s “Successful 
Futures” Report and Welsh Government’s “Qualified for Life – A curriculum for Wales – A 
Curriculum for Life” provides an opportunity to align the Act with the four purposes of the 
curriculum. In particularly how the Act relates to the purposes that all children and young 
people will be healthy, confident individuals who know how to find information to keep safe 
and well and form positive relationships based upon trust and respect.

7.13 It is imperative that the curriculum includes compulsory age appropriate, preventative 
programmes regarding all forms of violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence grounded in a gender equality and human rights framework.

7.14 The role of Education is crucial if Wales is to successfully implement and realise the 
potential of the Act. This highlights, once again the necessity for a truly integrated national 
strategy requiring leadership, commitment and resources from across Government to 
deliver lasting change. 

I submit this written response for consideration of the Equality, Local Government and 
Communities Committee and look forward to contributing further to the post legislative 
inquiry when I provide evidence on the 19th October 2016.

    

2 “Are you listening and am I being heard? Survivor Consultation: A report of the recommendations made by survivors or 
violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence to inform the National Strategy in Wales”

Tudalen y pecyn 33



17
Tudalen y pecyn 34



1 
 

 

 

ANNUAL PLAN 
National Adviser for tackling Violence against Women, other 

forms of Gender based Violence, Domestic Abuse and Sexual 

Violence 

 

 

April 1st 2016 – March 31st 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

NATIONAL ADVISER RHIAN BOWEN-DAVIES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Pwyllgor Cydraddoldeb, Llywodraeth Leol a Chymunedau 
Equality, Local Government and Communities Committee 
ELGC(5)-08-16 Papur 1a / Paper 1a 

Tudalen y pecyn 35



2 
 

INTRODUCTION 

My name is Rhian Bowen-Davies and this is my first Annual Plan as National Adviser for 

Violence against Women, other forms of Gender based Violence, Domestic Abuse and Sexual 

Violence. 

This plan sets out my objectives and priorities for 2016/17 and outlines the key principles by 

which I shall undertake the duties and responsibilities of the role. 

The appointment of the National Adviser, the first role of its kind in the UK, is required by the 

Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (Wales) Act 2015 (The Act).  

This ground breaking legislation provides the strategic framework to improve arrangements for 

the prevention, protection and support of those affected by all forms of Violence against 

Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence.  

The Act applies to all individuals, recognising that anybody can experience gender based 

violence irrespective of age, gender, ethnicity, sexual orientation or religion. We cannot 

however, ignore the disproportionate impact and effect of gender based violence, domestic 

abuse and sexual violence on women and girls.  

Violence against Women and other forms of gender based violence are violations of human 

rights and persist in our society as a cause and consequence of continued gendered inequalities. 

Achieving gender equality within a wider human rights framework is integral to improving the 

arrangements for the protection, prevention and support for all individuals experiencing any 

form of gender based violence.  

STATEMENT OF INTENT 

Over the course of my term as Adviser my challenge, ultimately, is to contribute to long lasting 

change in the prevention, protection and support for all individuals experiencing any form of 

gender based violence.  

The current national context in relation to inequalities and gender based violence affords a 

unique opportunity to pursue the elements set out in this Plan. Alongside the Act, the following 

national developments are integral to achieving my vision:  

 The Well Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and the Social Services and 

Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2015 provide a unique opportunity for me to integrate the 

purpose and requirements of the Act within the wider legislative context; embedding 

Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence as a key strategic priority 

in determining the well-being of our Nation.  

 

 The recently published Equality and Human Rights Commission’s Report “Is Wales 

Fairer? – The state of equality and human rights 2015” identifies the elimination of 

violence, abuse and harassment in the community as a key equality and human rights 

challenge for Wales. The report aims to inform the priorities of the Welsh Government 

and devolved public authorities when setting Equality Objectives for 2016-20 in line 

with the Public Sector Equality Duty. 

Tudalen y pecyn 36



3 
 

UK legislative developments strengthen further the purpose of the Violence against Women, 

Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Act in particular those contained within the Serious Crime 

Act 2015  

 Sections 70 – 75 introducing new offences relating to Female Genital Mutilation, 

protection orders and a mandatory duty to report to the police 

 Section 76 which came into force on December 29th 2015 introduces an offence of 

“Controlling or Coercive behaviour in an intimate or family relationship”. This offence 

recognises the reality of domestic abuse for victims; a continuous and repeated pattern 

of controlling behaviours which have a cumulative impact on an individual’s day to day 

life causing fear, isolation and distress.  

I will endeavour to inform and influence the implementation of these national developments 

that I believe, alongside the Act, provide a framework that can truly strengthen and improve 

policy and practice.  

This annual plan covers a year in which Assembly Elections will take place. Regardless of the 

political landscape post May 2016, the Act provides a world leading and long term commitment 

to improving arrangements for the prevention, protection and support of individuals 

experiencing any form of gender based violence and I will work alongside the Ministers of the 

next Assembly term to ensure that the momentum and focus of the legislation is continued. 

To deliver real change it is crucial for me to work alongside organisations whose functions are 

both devolved and non-devolved.  

I am acutely aware that my vision and commitment to deliver real improvements for individuals 

and families who are experiencing any form of gender based violence aligns with significant 

challenges for our Public and Voluntary sectors. Within my term of office the face of public 

services in Wales could look very different and I will work alongside leaders of Public Services 

to ensure that Violence against Women and other forms of Gender Based Violence continue as a 

strategic priority. With further pressures on public sector budgets forecast I will evidence the 

cost benefit of effective early intervention and support services and encourage appropriate 

statutory investment to deliver long term societal cost savings. The cost of getting it wrong in 

just one instance significantly outweighs investment and resourcing of effective early 

intervention and prevention. 

The Act and subsequent provisions of statutory guidance will increase the early identification of 

individuals and families and subsequently increase demand on services Wales-wide. It is 

imperative that individuals, wherever they are in Wales, can access high quality service 

provision responsive to their needs. It is unacceptable for individuals to face a postcode lottery 

for quality, needs-led, evidence based service provision that can support positive, lasting 

outcomes.  

The challenge: to use my role to promote awareness of key issues at a strategic level and 

to work alongside commissioners, service providers and survivors to enable new and 

innovative thinking about service delivery, collaboration and approaches to early 

intervention and prevention in order to uphold and enforce peoples’ right to be safe. 

Tudalen y pecyn 37



4 
 

My vision and overall aim: through joint endeavour to ensure that any individual 

(covered by the Act) who is abused, injured, violated, under threat or unsafe can expect 

and be confident that they will receive a timely, appropriate, consistent, quality and 

sustained response when this right has been compromised or is under threat. 

THE ROLE AND FUNCTIONS OF THE NATIONAL ADVISER 

The National Adviser provides an independent, expert perspective to the work being taken 

forward in Wales; advising, shaping and informing legislative, strategy and policy developments 

and driving forward improvements in the prevention, protection and support for all individuals 

affected by violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence in Wales. 

The functions of the Adviser are detailed in Section 21 of the Act; 

The National Adviser is to exercise the following functions, subject to the direction of the Welsh 

Ministers 

a) To advise the Welsh Ministers about pursuing the purpose of this Act or tackling related 

matters 

b) To give other assistance to the Welsh Ministers in their pursuit of the purpose of this Act or 

tackling related matters 

c) To undertake research relating to the purpose of this Act 

d) To advise and give other assistance, with the agreement of the Ministers, to any persons on 

matters relating to pursuing the purpose of this Act or tackling related matters 

e) Produce reports on any matter relating to the purpose of this Act or tackling related matters 

The legislation enables me to request information from relevant authorities for the purpose of 

exercising my role and review actions being taken by individuals and organisations to 

implement the Act and subsequent statutory guidance. I will report my findings of any such 

reviews to Welsh Ministers. 

I will not shy away from challenging relevant authorities and others if the requirements of the 

legislation or statutory guidance are not being implemented however, my aim would be to work 

alongside any such authority or organisation to support improvements.  

Requirements for the National Adviser to draft an Annual Plan are contained within the Act. The 

Annual Plan must set out how I propose to exercise the functions of the role during the 

following financial year. Section 22 (2) states that an Annual Plan must 

a) State the Ministerial Adviser’s objectives and priorities for the financial year covered by the 

report 

b) State any matters on which the Ministerial Adviser proposes to report during that year 

c) State any other activities the National Adviser proposes to undertake during that year in the 

exercise of the National Adviser’s functions. 

The legislation allows the National Adviser to consult with any persons in preparing the annual 

plan and for this, my first annual plan; I invited individuals, organisations and services to share 

their thoughts and priorities for inclusion. This invitation was extended via social media, 

written communications, attendance at events and through the numerous and diverse 

discussions that I have undertaken during these initial months. 

Tudalen y pecyn 38



5 
 

In preparing my annual plan I have considered contributions from the Police and Police and 

Crime Commissioners, Fire and Rescue Services, Public Health Wales, Health Boards and NHS 

Trusts, Local Authorities, The Older People’s Commissioner, The Independent Police Complaints 

Commissioner, National and Local Voluntary Sector organisations, specialist Violence against 

Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence service providers and individual practitioners and 

Survivors. I have listened to what is important to them in shaping my objectives and priorities 

for 2016/17. 

PRINCIPLES 

Alongside the Nolan Principles for Public Life, 7 core principles will inform how I will carry out 

my duties and underpin the priorities and objectives I have set for this year: 



Safety & 

Safeguarding 

 

For me, the key principle that underpins the purpose of the legislation 

and my role is that of safeguarding; any child, young person or adult, at 

risk, or experiencing any form of violence against women, gender based 

violence, domestic abuse or sexual violence.  

  

 

Leadership 

I will provide visible, active leadership and a consistent, strategic focus 

for all forms of Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual 

Violence. 

  



Enabling & 

Encouraging 

I will work with and alongside Public Services and the Voluntary Sector 

to inform and influence change; making workable recommendations to 

improve the impact and effectiveness of services for individuals and 

families.  

  

 

Early Intervention 

& Prevention 

 

I will work alongside stakeholders to develop and promote an evidence 

base that demonstrates the impact and effectiveness of early 

intervention in reducing long term societal risks and financial costs 

  



Collaboration & 

Integration 

I will identify and support opportunities nationally, regionally and 

locally to mainstream Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and 

Sexual Violence as “core business” and facilitate innovative, creative 

ways of working together. 

  



Consultation & 

engagement

I will ensure there are opportunities for stakeholders and survivors to 

inform and shape policy and service delivery. I will continuously seek to 

listen, comprehend and respond to their experiences, needs, challenges 

and aspirations.  

  

 

Promoting learning 

& excellence 

I will provide a strategic platform to ensure that good practice and 

learning is disseminated and used to support improvements that enable 

service providers and commissioners to achieve the highest possible 

standards.   

 

Tudalen y pecyn 39



6 
 

Objectives and priorities 2016/2017 

As National Adviser, my work will be driven by the objectives and priorities contained within 

this plan.   

The priorities state the focus for this financial year whilst the objectives provide a longer term 

framework for my work.  The objectives that underpin my priorities are inter-related and 

should be viewed as a whole. The diagram illustrates this connectivity which is further explored 

in this section. 

The requirement to produce an annual plan provides an opportunity for on-going reflection, 

enabling my in-year priorities to be influenced and informed by progress, developments and 

learning. My plan needs to be dynamic and an action research approach enables me to remain 

flexible and responsive to change whilst retaining the focus and clarity to work towards my 

overall aim.  

Overall Aim and Objectives 

 

 

Overall Aim:  

through joint endeavour to ensure that any 
individual (covered by the Act) who feels 
abused, injured, violated, under threat or 

unsafe can expect and be confident that they 
will receive a timely, appropriate, consistent, 

quality and sustained response when this 
right has been compromised or is under 

threat 

Objective 1 

To advise & support the 
strategic implementation of 

the legislation 

Objective 2 

Develop a strategic, coherent 
and integrated approach to 
policy and service delivery 

decisions 

Objective 3 

Develop workable 
recommendations to improve the 
impact & effectiveness of public & 

voluntary sector provison 

Objective 4  

Provide a strategic platform 
for shared learning & 

research 

Objective 5 

Enable effective & inclusive 
communication with 

survivors, stakeholders and 
the public 

Tudalen y pecyn 40



7 
 

The Objectives and Priorities 

 

Reference framework 

The Act aims to ensure a consistent consideration of Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse 

and Sexual Violence as a strategic priority.  

The development of a National Strategy will be progressed in 2016 along with the development 

of National Indicators which should clearly articulate progress and contribute to wider 

indicators and outcomes. 

Although providing a focus on Violence against Women, the Act ensures that provisions for the 

prevention, protection and support extends to all victims of gender based violence, domestic 

abuse and sexual violence regardless of gender, age, ethnicity, sexual orientation or religion. 

To ensure greater understanding of the scope of the legislation there is a need to raise 

awareness of all forms of violence against women and gender based violence as defined by the 

legislation; sexual violence including rape, sexual harassment and exploitation, forced marriage, 

so called Honour Based Violence, Female Genital Mutilation and Domestic Abuse.  

The legislation requires relevant authorities to prepare, publish and implement joint local 

strategies for Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence. Such strategies 

should be informed by local / regional needs assessments which demonstrate an understanding 

of demand and analysis of gaps in service provision for all forms of Violence against Women, 

Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence.  

Relevant authorities are also required to comply with statutory guidance issued in line with 

Section 15 of the Act. Statutory guidance will be issued in relation to the National Training 

Framework, Effective Multi Agency Collaboration, Ask and Act, the commissioning of services 

and work related to perpetrators. 

“Successful Futures”, Professor Donaldson’s report provides the foundation for a twenty-first 

century curriculum and “Qualified for Life; A curriculum for Wales – A curriculum for life” sets 

out the steps that will be taken to achieve the first “made in Wales” curriculum.  

I will monitor the progress of education provisions; both the requirements contained within the 

Act and wider actions. I will influence, inform and advise on such matters to ensure that the 

commitments articulated during the progress of the Act are implemented and that further 

opportunities to influence and integrate gender based violence and healthy relationships into 

the new curriculum framework are identified and explored; ensuring that all children and 

young people are healthy, confident individuals who form positive relationships based upon 

trust and mutual respect. 

 

 

•To advise and support the strategic 
implementation of the legisaltion 

OBJECTIVE 1 

Tudalen y pecyn 41



8 
 

 

To deliver this objective I will focus on the following priorities: 

 

 

Reference framework  

To enable Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence to be consistently 

considered as a strategic priority its governance and accountability, at all levels, must be robust 

and integrated within strategic frameworks.  

Consistent strategic information to inform decisions is required. It is a complex task to ensure 

that all disciplines (education, health, criminal justice, housing and social care) link together on 

a strategic and practice level and collaborate effectively where necessary. It is crucial that this 

area is tackled and progressed at a policy making, strategic level in order that services can be 

integrated and seamless at the point of delivery and from the point of view of service users. 

Operating in isolation is not an option particularly given the current opportunities for real 

alignment and integration across sectors afforded by the legislation referred to earlier.  

Across Wales, commissioning and funding of interventions and support services are 

inconsistent and preventative responses tend to be under resourced and variable across 

localities. Different principles and approaches to commissioning are being applied depending on 

the commissioning party with different outcomes being sought. This has inevitably resulted in 

an over-reliance by service providers on specific funding programmes which due to funding 

eligibility criterion end up restricting opportunities for innovation and service development. 

Many services continue to be funded on a year by year basis impacting on forward planning, the 

D
E

L
I

V
E

R
Y

 

1. Provide an expert perspective to the development of the National 
Strategy and Indicators 

2. Provide strategic support, advice and assistance to implement the 
requirements of the Act 

3. Identify strategic alignments to wider legislative frameworks and 
promote integration to improve consistency and coherence 

4. Identify appropriate strategic opportunities to contribute and 
influence 

5. Review actions being taken to implement the Act and report to 
Ministers 

•Develop a strategic, coherent and integrated 
approach to policy and service delivery decisions 

OBJECTIVE 2 

Tudalen y pecyn 42



9 
 

ability of service providers to be innovative and creative and ultimately the sustainability of 

support providers.  

There is an overwhelming need to review existing funding arrangements nationally, regionally 

and locally for all forms of violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence and to 

advise on the feasibility of a sustainable funding model and opportunities to pool statutory 

resources and jointly commission services to improve outcomes for individuals and families. 

Where commissioning of services is chosen as the preferred option to distribute resources the 

process should be compliant with all legislative and regulatory requirements including the most 

recent changes to EU procurement regulations and the EU Victims Directive, in force since 

November 2015. In addition such processes need to be effectively executed, skilfully 

administered as well as being fair, transparent and accountable. 

Commissioning for any violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence service 

should be informed by survivors and specialist knowledge and be underpinned by a needs 

assessment demonstrating the current and potential demand for services and an analysis of 

gaps in provision whilst fully considering the duties imposed by the gender equality duty.  

 

To deliver this objective I will focus on the following priorities 

 

 

 

 

 

 

D
E

L
I

V
E

R
Y

 

1. Review existing governance arrangements both nationally and locally 
and advise as to whether greater consistency and co-ordination can be 
achieved.  

2.Review national, regional and local statutory funding arrangements and 
advise on a sustainable funding model that maximises resources, avoids 
duplication and delivers outcomes for individuals and families  

3.Work with stakeholders to evidence cost effectiveness of early 
intervention  

4.Inform and monitor commissioning arrangements for Violence against 
Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Services ensuring 
legislative and regulatory compliance  

Tudalen y pecyn 43



10 
 

 

Reference framework  

Services to need be inclusive, accessible, high quality and value for money. In order to achieve 

this: 

 Service providers need not to be hidebound and limited by short term funding 

arrangements and variable commissioning systems 

 Service providers need to be encouraged to be innovative and creative within the context of 

accurate, well researched information in respect of local assessments of need and service 

gaps without being constrained by different types of funding regimes 

 Wales has a wealth of expertise in terms of support provision and commissioning practices. 

We need to develop a culture where learning and good practice is shared and extended so 

that excellence can become the norm 

 Taking risks is key to innovation and developing new models of provision and this aspect 

needs to be fostered and encouraged within patterns of commissioning. 

 If prevention is to become embedded within core practice commissioners and policy makers 

will need to develop new ways of measuring the short and long term value of such 

approaches beyond annual outcome reporting systems and short term funding regimes 

 In terms of achieving long term change it will also be necessary to consider approaches to 

perpetrators and to source models of good practice that are capable of altering patterns of 

behaviour and where safety and safeguarding are prioritised 

 The geographical landscape of Wales, the rich cultural diversity along with the range and 

size of settlements and communities requires a flexible, locality sensitive response. A variety 

of service models and approaches are essential to respond fully to Welsh citizens regardless 

of where they live. It is clear that a one-size fits all approach will not be sufficient. 

 

It is clear that a pluralist response is required to meet diverse demand. No group covered in the 

legislation (Violence against Women, other forms of Gender based Violence, Domestic Abuse 

and Sexual Violence) constitutes a homogenous group and therefore responses will need to 

complex, sophisticated, diverse and locality sensitive to respond to the challenge and vision set 

out in the Statement of Intent. 

 

I am aware that intrinsic to the above is the question of resources and that this Annual Plan sits 

within a period of swinging cuts to public services. The reality is that funding for this area of 

work has to compete with other service priorities. Therefore it is imperative that the need for 

new services and the value of existing services is well argued and evidenced.  

 

In such times and to embed gender based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence across 

all sectors it will also be necessary to scrutinise existing patterns of funding, commissioning and 

providing services.  It will be essential to ask whether services could be funded and/or provided 

more effectively and to be prepared to change and adapt. In saying this I am well aware that 

voluntary sector providers and the public sector have a track record of responding and adapting 

to changing political and economic circumstances.  

• Develop workable recommendations to improve 
the impact and effectiveness of public and 
voluntary service provision 

OBJECTIVE 3 

Tudalen y pecyn 44



11 
 

 

The regional model adopted in South East Wales during 2015/16 is an example of such a 

response and provides a platform for shared learning and supporting further regional models. 

The evolution of this model has required a significant shift from historic arrangements and the 

transition will continue to present challenges to existing thinking and approaches.  If we are 

truly committed to improving arrangements for the prevention, protection and support of all 

individuals we must be radical and brave in our approach . 

 

In many respects I think this objective is the most challenging and complex and also the most 

pressing because it is about front line services and the responses that are made to people at the 

time they are in need.  

To deliver this objective I will focus on the following priorities 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

D
E

L
I

V
E

R
Y

 

1. Research and explore with stakeholders and survivors the components 
of effective, evidence based integrated models of service delivery 

2.Work with stakeholders to pilot initiatives to develop and test evidence 
bases/outcomes and utilise the results to inform best practice 

3.Engage with and monitor the regional model in South East Wales  

4.Identify and support further opportunities for regional delivery models 

5.Influence and inform how resources are formulated and distributed at a 
national, regional and  local level to ensure fitness for purpose  

6.Promote a funding model that mainstreams prevention and early 
intervention services as part of an holistic approach alongside advice 
services and crisis and longer term support provision  

7.Work with all relevant stakeholders to review arrangements to ensure 
that people can use their language of choice when accessing advice and/or 
using services 

Tudalen y pecyn 45



12 
 

 

Reference framework  

The preceding objectives and priorities outline the challenges and opportunities for change in 

order to deliver real improvements in the prevention, protection and support for individuals 

and families.  

To enable service providers and commissioners to achieve the highest possible standards a 

culture of learning, challenge and change must be created whereby stakeholders support and 

encourage each other to explore and identify good practice. 

A strategic platform to promote innovative practices, evidence based interventions and 

evaluations would encourage sharing of knowledge and continuous improvement across 

devolved and non- devolved services.  

There are numerous innovative practices and interventions currently underway in Wales and 

the strategic platform would enable greater sharing of knowledge and learning to inform 

practice and service improvements from these Wales based practices and beyond. 

Where reviews have been undertaken there is an absence of a platform where 

recommendations and learning can be shared. 

There continue to be gaps in our knowledge and understanding relating to diverse needs of 

individuals experiencing gender based violence and as a result, appropriate responses and 

interventions to inform an evidence base.  A strategic platform would provide an arena for 

research to be shared and for interventions to be tested.  

The following areas for further research were highlighted by respondents  

 What are the components of an effective integrated community model? 

 What is the evidence base for effective recovery programmes? 

A greater understanding of the needs and the evidence based for effective interventions and 

models of support for the following groups; 

 Older people  

 Children and young people as individuals – as victims and those demonstrating 

abusive behaviours 

 Adolescent to parent violence 

 Bi-directional violence  

 Individuals who ‘choose’, feel they have no other options but to stay in an abusive 

relationship  

 Stalking and Harassment 

 

 

•Provide a strategic platform for shared learning 
and research 

OBJECTIVE 4 

Tudalen y pecyn 46



13 
 

 

To deliver this objective I will focus on the following priorities 

 

 

 

Reference framework  

Survivors’ experiences of protection and support arrangements are key to me understanding 

their needs, challenges and aspirations and should be integral to informing the development of 

the National Strategy and my work as Adviser.  

There is currently no sustainable structure for engaging with survivors about what is important 

to them. Current survivor engagement is ad-hoc and tends to be responsive to an organisation 

or establishment’s request for feedback or formal consultation. I wish to seek survivors’ views 

on the development of a sustainable national framework for survivor engagement, where 

survivors are supported to shape the agenda, voice issues that are important to them and 

influence and inform practice improvements.  Survivors from marginalised and under-

represented groups including LGBT survivors, Black and Minority survivors, refugees, disabled 

individuals, women involved in the Criminal Justice System and adult survivors of child sexual 

abuse will be encouraged and supported to contribute their voices. 

I will advise and inform the development of media campaigns relating to violence against 

women, domestic abuse and sexual violence. The use of targeted campaigns to raise awareness 

and influence attitudes and behaviours should be informed by survivors and stakeholders to 

ensure that experiences are accurately reflected and the language, imagery and messaging 

understood by the wider public. 

D
E

L
I

V
E

R
Y

 

1. Explore opportunities with stakeholders to undertake / support 
research initiatives to inform policy and service delivery  

2.Engage with stakeholders to identify innovative practice 
developments and consider evidence base and evaluations to inform 
wider policy and service delivery  

3.Promote and encourage evidence based interventions  

4. Map recommendations from Wales’ Domestic Abuse Homicide 
Reviews; review implementation and share learning to inform further 
improvements   

5.Identify opportunities to promote the learning and experiences of 
Wales to a wider audience  

•Enable effective and inclusive communication with 
survivors, stakeholders and the public 

OBJECTIVE 5 

Tudalen y pecyn 47



14 
 

I am keen to explore the role of the media in Wales in raising awareness and reporting of 

violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence. I will seek opportunities to work 

alongside partners in the media to promote good practice reporting.  

I will continue to engage with stakeholders, survivors and the public by means of formal and 

informal communications identifying the most appropriate format in each case. I will instigate 

and respond appropriately to media opportunities in order to maximise the reach of messages 

and contribute to events and conferences which provide an opportunity to meet and engage 

with diverse groups.   

To reduce barriers to effective communication I will continue to communicate bilingually and 

encourage individuals and organisations to communicate with me in the language of their 

choice. 

To deliver this objective I will focus on the following priorities 

 

 

Delivery of my Annual Plan 

I will develop an Implementation Plan detailing how I will deliver the objectives and priorities 

outlined in this document and for 2016/17 I intend to the report on the following; 

 The development and publication of the National Strategy and National Indicators 

 The development of a national sustainable, survivor led engagement framework 

providing inclusive and supported opportunities for individuals to have their voices 

heard 

 Progress towards a holistic, sustainable funding model that maximises resources, avoids 

duplication and delivers outcomes for individuals and families through high quality, co-

ordinated service provision 

D
E

L
I

V
E

R
Y

 

1.Support a pilot project to inform the development of a sustainable 
survivor led engagement framework with a view to promote the 
adoption of the model accross Wales 

2.Advise and inform the development of future campaigns to raise 
awareness of all forms of violence against women, domestic abuse and 
sexual violence 

3.Support and ensure representation of all communities and groups of 
people to have their voices heard specifically where violence or 
behaviours tend to be related to a specific identities eg. FGM 

4.Explore opportunities to work with media outlets in Wales in relation 
to their reporting of violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence 

Tudalen y pecyn 48



15 
 

 Mapping of recommendations from Wales Domestic Abuse Homicide Reviews and 

identification of shared learning platforms 

 

Monitoring and reporting 

Each year I am required to report to the Welsh Ministers about the exercise of my functions 

during the previous financial year. My annual report must include 

a) An assessment of the extent to which the National Adviser’s objectives and priorities for the 

financial year covered have been met; 

b) A statement of the matters on which the National Adviser has reported during that year; 

c) A statement of the other activities the National Adviser has undertaken during that year in 

the exercise of the National Adviser’s functions. 

During the year I will report progress against the Implementation Plan on a quarterly basis to 

the National Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Advisory Group, 

Chaired by the Minister for Public Services, Leighton Andrews AM. 

The Act requires Welsh Ministers to publish both my annual plan and report. 

 

Closing Remarks 

There can be no denying the commitment and progress that has been made in Wales to date in 

providing a national vision to drive improvements and deliver change. 

My annual plan sets out my statement of intent as Wales’ first National Adviser and how I feel 

my role can contribute to this vision. 

I have shared the principles and objectives that will underpin my work for the duration of my 

term and I have also outlined the priorities which I believe are necessary to build on the 

momentum of the national context and make the Act and its purpose a reality for individuals 

and families.  

Some of the priorities stated within this plan require a long term commitment and, where 

appropriate, will continue through to future plans. This is due to the scale and complexity of the 

work required to achieve the strategic co-ordination and coherence that is necessary to deliver 

lasting change. 

If Wales is to realise the potential of its ground breaking legislation we must all work together 

to embed a responsibility to provide the best possible arrangements for prevention, protection 

and support for all individuals. As the Adviser I am reliant on your commitment and co-

operation to drive forward the priorities contained within this plan and I look forward to 

working with you. 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 49



16 
 

Contact details 

Rhian Bowen-Davies 

National Adviser for Violence against Women, other forms of gender based violence, Domestic 

Abuse and Sexual Violence 

Rhian.Bowen-Davies@wales.gsi.gov.uk 

@NatAdv_VAW 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 50

mailto:Rhian.Bowen-Davies@wales.gsi.gov.uk


1 
 

 

 

ANNUAL REPORT 
National Adviser for tackling Violence against Women, other forms 

of Gender based Violence, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 

 

The first six months: September 2015 – March 31st 2016 

 

 

 

 

NATIONAL ADVISER RHIAN BOWEN-DAVIES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Pwyllgor Cydraddoldeb, Llywodraeth Leol a Chymunedau 
Equality, Local Government and Communities Committee 
ELGC(5)-08-16 Papur 1b / Paper 1b 

Tudalen y pecyn 51



2 
 

INTRODUCTION 

My name is Rhian Bowen-Davies and this is my first Annual Report as National Adviser for 

Violence against Women, other forms of Gender based Violence, Domestic Abuse and 

Sexual Violence. 

This, my first Annual Report, relates to the six month period from my appointment in 

September 2015 to March 31st 2016 and summarises how I exercised the functions of the 

National Adviser. This six month period informed the content of my Annual Plan April 2016 – 

March 2017 which was published in April 2016.  

The appointment of the National Adviser, the first role of its kind in the UK, is required by 

the Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (Wales) Act 2015 (the 

Act).  

This potentially ground breaking legislation provides the strategic framework to improve 

arrangements for the prevention, protection and support of those affected by all forms of 

Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence.  

During this period I reported to the Minister for Public Services, Leighton Andrews AM. 

THE ROLE AND FUNCTIONS OF THE NATIONAL ADVISER 

The National Adviser provides an independent, expert perspective to the work being taken 

forward in Wales; advising, shaping and informing legislative, strategy and policy 

developments and driving forward improvements in the prevention, protection and support 

for all individuals affected by violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence. 

The role is a statutory advisory role, independent of Government, and its functions are 

detailed in Section 21 of the Act; 

The National Adviser is to exercise the following functions, subject to the direction of the 

Welsh Ministers 

a) To advise the Welsh Ministers about pursuing the purpose of this Act or tackling related 

matters 

b) To give other assistance to the Welsh Ministers in their pursuit of the purpose of this Act 

or tackling related matters 

c) To undertake research relating to the purpose of this Act 

d) To advise and give other assistance, with the agreement of the Ministers, to any persons 

on matters relating to pursuing the purpose of this Act or tackling related matters 

e) Produce reports on any matter relating to the purpose of this Act or tackling related 

matters 

Tudalen y pecyn 52



3 
 

The Act requires the National Adviser to draft an Annual Plan. The Annual Plan must set out 

how I propose to exercise the functions of the role during the following financial year. 

Section 22 (2) states that an Annual Plan must 

a) State the Ministerial Adviser’s objectives and priorities for the financial year covered by 

the report 

b) State any matters on which the Ministerial Adviser proposes to report during that year 

c) State any other activities the National Adviser proposes to undertake during that year in 

the exercise of the National Adviser’s functions. 

My first Annual Plan was published in April 2016. 

Each year I am required to report to the Welsh Ministers about the exercise of my functions 

during the previous financial year. My annual report must include 

a) An assessment of the extent to which the National Adviser’s objectives and priorities 

for the financial year covered have been met; 

b) A statement of the matters on which the National Adviser has reported during that 

year; 

c) A statement of the other activities the National Adviser has undertaken during that 

year in the exercise of the National Adviser’s functions. 

The Act requires Welsh Ministers to publish both my annual plan and report. 

THE CONTEXT – RELEVANT DEVELOPMENTS 

The six month period covered by this Annual Report provided an exciting and progressive 

international, UK and national context for me to establish the role of National Adviser. 

ON THE WORLD STAGE  

In September 2015 world leaders agreed 17 new global sustainable development goals as 
part of the “Transforming our World – The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development”.  

Sustainable Development Goal 5 commits to achieving “Gender Equality and empowering 
all Women and Girls” and includes targets to  

 End all forms of discrimination against all women and girls everywhere 

 Eliminate all forms of violence against all women and girls in the public and private 
spheres, including trafficking and sexual and other types of exploitation  

 Eliminate all harmful practices, such as child, early and forced marriage and female 
genital mutilation  

The publication of the sustainable development goals underlines a global commitment to 

ending all forms of violence against women and girls and a set of indicators to monitor the 

progress of the goals are expected in 2016. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 53



4 
 

ELSEWHERE IN THE UK 

The publication of the UK Government’s “Ending Violence against Women and Girls 

Strategy 2016 -2020” in March 2016 builds on the work of the UK Government over recent 

years and prioritises the prevention of violence and abuse, provision of services, partnership 

working and pursuing perpetrators. The accompanying action plan provides detail of the 

legislative and policy changes required to deliver the strategy and the resources being 

invested to support implementation. When considered collectively, the UK Government 

strategy commitments and subsequent inquiry announcements by both the Home Affairs 

and Women and Equalities Parliamentary Committees relating to prostitution and sexual 

violence and harassment in schools provide an opportunity for increased engagement with 

UK Government. Whilst recognising the “complexities” of devolved and non-devolved policy 

areas it is imperative that potential duplication is avoided and opportunities for improved 

co-ordination, consistency and coherence identified for stakeholders and survivors.  

UK legislative developments have strengthened further the purpose of our Act and the UK 

Strategy, in particular offences contained within the Serious Crime Act 2015;  

 Sections 70 – 75 introducing new offences relating to Female Genital Mutilation, 

protection orders and a mandatory duty to report to the police 

 Section 76 which came into force on December 29th 2015 introduces an offence of 

“Controlling or Coercive behaviour in an intimate or family relationship”. This offence 

recognises the reality of domestic abuse for victims; a continuous and repeated pattern 

of controlling behaviours which have a cumulative impact on an individual’s day to day 

life causing fear, isolation and distress 

HERE IN WALES 

Having received Royal Assent for the Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual 

Violence (Wales) Act in April 2015 Wales now has a legislative framework to enable 

progress and deliver improvements. Since September 2015, two commencement orders 

have brought into force all provisions of the Act including requirements on Welsh Ministers, 

Relevant Authorities and the National Adviser. There have been consultation periods for 

three pieces of draft statutory guidance;  

 The National Training Framework,  

 Ask and Act and  

 Multi Agency Collaborative Working   

In March 2016, following consultation, the National Violence against Women, Domestic 

Abuse and Sexual Violence Training Framework was published as statutory guidance. 

The Well Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act aims to improve the social, economic, 

environmental and cultural well-being of Wales and, through the introduction of a 

Tudalen y pecyn 54



5 
 

sustainable development principle, requires Public Bodies listed in the Act to think more 

about the long term, work better with people, communities and each other, look to prevent 

problems and take a more joined up approach. Wales’ first Future Generations 

Commissioner will act as a guardian for the interests of future generations in Wales and 

support the public bodies listed in the Act to work towards achieving the well- being goals. 

The implementation of the Social Services and Well-Being (Wales) Act 2014 aims to 

improve the well-being of people who need care and support and carers who need support. 

The Act changes the way people’s needs are assessed and the way services are delivered; 

promotes a range of help available within the community to reduce the need for formal, 

planned support and introduces stronger powers to keep people safe from abuse and 

neglect. The Act also has wide ranging implications for ensuring services are able to provide 

the right support at the right time. 

The National Independent Safeguarding Board has been established under the Social 

Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014. The National Board is an advisory body that will 

advise Welsh Ministers on safeguarding people in Wales. It will work alongside the regional 

safeguarding adult boards and safeguarding children boards to secure improvements in 

safeguarding policy and practice throughout Wales. The Chair and members of the National 

Board were appointed in 2016. 

In January 2016 Public Health Wales published a report on the first Welsh Adverse 

Childhood Experiences Study (ACEs).  ACEs are stressful experiences occurring during 

childhood that harm a child (e.g. physical or sexual abuse) or affect the environment in 

which they live (e.g. growing up in a house with domestic violence or abuse). Findings show 

that ACEs have a major impact on the development of health harming behaviours in Wales 

and the prevention of ACEs is likely to not only to improve the early years experiences of 

children born in Wales but also reduce levels of health harming behaviours such as problem 

alcohol use, smoking, poor diets and violent behaviour.  

The study found that 16% of adults had lived in households where there had been domestic 

abuse and that, as children, 17% of adults had experienced physical abuse and 10% had 

experienced sexual abuse.  

The first Welsh ACE survey identified that a substantial proportion of the Welsh population 

suffered abuse, neglect and other ACEs during their childhood with 47% reporting having 

experienced at least one ACE and 14% having experiencing 4 or more ACEs.  

Activity by other Commissioners in Wales has continued to identify Violence against 

Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence as a strategic priority; 

 

 In February 2016 the Children’s Commissioner for Wales published the findings from the 

second phase of “Beth Nesa? What next? - the biggest consultation with children and 

Tudalen y pecyn 55



6 
 

young people to inform the priorities of the Children’s Commissioner of Wales and to 

gather new evidence of the lives of our children and young people.  

6000 children and young people (aged 3-18) and 1000 adults responded to the 

consultation and the findings are considered in line with the themes of Provision, 

Protection and Participation. For young people aged 11-18 protecting children and 

young people from violence and abuse in the home was a priority and this was also 

reflected as a priority for adults who responded to the survey. 

As a result of these findings the Children’s Commissioner for Wales has identified the 

safety of children and young people; in the community, school and at home as a priority 

for 2016-19. 

 The Older People Commissioners’ priorities for 2015/16 reinforce her commitment to 

safeguarding and protecting older people in Wales experiencing violence and abuse; 

working alongside professionals to raise awareness, developing resources and working 

in partnership to understand and remove barriers faced by older people in accessing 

justice. 

The legislative and policy infrastructure outlined here provide a complementary and 

enabling framework for the Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 

(Wales) Act 2015; providing opportunities to both prioritise and mainstream violence 

against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence. The principles underpinning the 

legislative framework provide a space for action and an opportunity to work differently.  

When considered alongside an increasing evidence base for prevention and early 

identification and the continued recognition of Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse 

and Sexual Violence as a cross cutting priority in society, Wales has a unique opportunity to 

support and enable system change and practice improvement. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 56



7 
 

THE FIRST SIX MONTHS: SETTING THE FOUNDATIONS 

What I wanted to do in this period ……… 

 

What I’ve done………………………. 

OBJECTIVE 1: LISTENING AND COMMUNICATING 

I actively sought out inclusive and meaningful opportunities for individuals to engage 

directly with me, to share their experiences and shape and inform my priorities 

Written Communications   Chief Officers of all relevant authorities, strategic leads and the specialist 

sector 

   

Meeting with survivors   Individually and collectively who have or are receiving information, 

accommodation and support services form a range of providers across Wales 

   

Attendance at strategic 

meetings and fora  

 Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Advisory 

Group, Violence against Women Action Group, Ask and Act Implementation 

Board, Home Office Stakeholder Group, DRIVE Advisory Group, National 

leadership Groups – FGM / Honour Based Violence and Modern Slavery, 

Curriculum Reform – stakeholder group, MARAC Scrutiny Panel  

   

Social media and media 

engagement  

 Press interviews about my role and specific issues relating to Violence against 

Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence, social media and blogs 

   

Meetings with key  Chief Officers and strategic leads for relevant authorities, commissioners, 

Regional Collaborative Committee representatives, Welsh Government 

OVERALL AIM 

To learn about people’s experiences in Wales, what was important to them and what they 
wanted me to focus on as I developed my first Annual Plan and  

To establish the legitimacy and credibility of the role by: 

 

OBJECTIVE 1: TO LISTEN & 
COMMUNICATE 

Establishing effective 
relationships with stakeholders 

Investing time & energy in 
getting to know people 

Intelligence & information 
gathering 

Understanding what's going on 
in different parts of the country 

Identifying opportunites & 
challenges 

OBJECTIVE 2: TO 
UNDERSTAND THE CURRENT 
& POTENTIAL SERVICE USER 

PERSPECTIVE 

Talking to providers working on 
the front line 

Meeting service users and 
survivors 

Learning from research & 
studies into service user needs 

& priorities 

OBJECTIVE 3: TO 
PARTICIPATE & INFLUENCE 

Making my voice heard 

Acting as a catalyst to represent 
views of survivors and 

stakeholders at a a policy 
making level 

Encouraging collaborative 
working 

Connecting views & practices 
across different disciplines 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 57



8 
 

stakeholders  

 

officials, Police and Police and Crime Commissioners, Specialist  Sector, 

National Probation Service and NOMS, CPS, Home Office, Public Health Wales, 

NUS, EHRC, Independent Police Complaints Commissioner and Domestic 

Abuse Co-ordinators, Welsh Language and Older People’s Commissioner  

   

Conference and events  

 

 Police and Crime Commissioner Events, Welsh Women’s Aid Coercive Control 

and Prevention Seminars, Safeguarding events, Welsh Government Education 

and Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 

Conference, NHS Confederation, Local Health Board and Local Authority 

Presentations, White Ribbon events 

 

These diverse activities have provided a platform for me to articulate the role and functions 

of the National Adviser and for individuals to gain a better understanding of the role. They 

have accelerated my own learning, enabling me to develop a greater understanding of 

survivor and stakeholder experiences across Wales, the challenges and barriers faced and 

what is important to them. 

OBJECTIVE 2: UNDERSTANDING THE CURRENT AND POTENTIAL SERVICE USER 

PERSPECTIVE 

Key to my learning has been the survivor consultation undertaken by Welsh Women’s Aid 

on behalf of the Minister for Public Services between January and March 2016 and the 

resulting report “Are you listening and am I being heard? - A report of the 

recommendations of survivors of violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual 

violence in Wales”. I attended three of these focus groups where survivors were asked 

about their recent experiences of using services, their recommendations for improving 

service responses and priorities for the national strategy in relation to prevention, 

protection and support. 

Tudalen y pecyn 58



9 
 

 

The learning resulting from my engagement with stakeholders and survivors was crucial to 

the development of my first Annual Plan. Through asking questions, listening and observing I 

developed key principles of working and identified my vision, priorities and objectives which 

are now embedded within my Annual Plan April 2016 – March 17.  

OBJECTIVE 3: PARTICIPATING & INFLUENCING 

The engagement described above gave me lots of ideas and enabled me to explore how 

best to work alongside stakeholders to support implementation of the Act. As I have 

considered and analysed information that was presented to me I was able to start to get 

involved and to apply my learning. Below are some of the ways I have contributed to debate 

and discussions: 

The purpose of the consultation was to inform the development of the new National Strategy for Violence against 
Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence, the immediate and future priorities for the National Adviser and 

the development of a national survivor engagement framework.  

Women and men who had recently experienced domestic abuse, sexual violence or other forms of violence against 
women were invited to attend focus groups across Wales. These groups were organised by Welsh Women’s Aid 

and led by an independent facilitator in partnership with specialist services.  

Survivors made a numberof recommendations to inform the development of a new national strategy and 
improvements to be made by specific agencies and also provided feedback on what they felt should be priorities 

for the National Adviser. Survivors strongly supported a national framework for ongoing engagement and 
involvement which would enable survivors to educate, advise and inform services on improving their practice. 

They all wanted to ensure that survivors voices and experiences remain central to Government action to improve 
prevention, protection and provision of support services across Wales 

The report, which has recently been presented to the National Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and 
Sexual Violence Advisory Group provides an opportunity for agencies to receive direct feedback and 

recommendations for improvement from survivors and should underpin the priorities within the new National 
Strategy 

Tudalen y pecyn 59



10 
 

 

 

SUMMARY OF WHAT I SEE AS MY KEY ACHIEVEMENTS SEPTEMBER 2015 – MARCH 2016 

During this early period my priorities have been to 

 Establish the role of National Adviser – a new role for Wales and a new role for me. I 

have endeavoured to bring energy and drive to the position and to use this period to 

introduce and explain the expectations and core functions of the role to 

stakeholders across Wales and to key parties elsewhere in the UK 

 Identify partners and develop effective working relationships at all levels 

 Use the information and knowledge to develop my Annual Report which outlines, 

the principles by which I will work, my priorities and objectives and sets out my 

statement of intent  

 Listen to experiences of survivors who know first-hand what it is like to live through 

violence and abuse and know best what may help others in a similar situation 

 Work to bring an understanding, focus and clarity to Violence against Women, 

Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence within the Welsh context 

 Support and enable – working alongside others to create buy in to the role and the 

strategic vision and direction that I have set out 

It is vital that you keep talking to me so that I am aware of innovative practice and 

interventions and that I can take these into policy and strategic debates. It’s a central 

part of my role to challenge current thinking and to represent evidenced based survivor, 

practitioner and stakeholder views in high level settings.  

Working with strategic leads 
locally and regionally to support 

implementation of the Act – 
development of needs 

assessments and strategic plans 

Advice to the Minister on current 
issues - providing information, 

ideas, reports and 
recommendations  

Attending national groups: Violence 
against Women, Domestic Abuse and 

Sexual Violence Advisory group, 
DRIVE Advisory Group, Ask and Act 

Implementation Board, Public Health 
Wales All Wales Group, Curriculum 
Reform Stakeholder Group, MARAC 

Scrutine Panel 

Advising and supporting 3 
regions to review and develop 

effective, integrated  governance 
structure   

Advising relevant authorities in 
relation to policy development 

and planning for the 
implmentation of the Act 

Supporting areas to move to 
regional footprints 

Advice on the the development 
of commissioning guidance to 
improve the consistency and 
practice of Violence against 

Women, Domestic Abuse and 
Sexual Violence commissioning 

in Wales 

Advice to establish a Cross 
Government Officials Group to 

create opportunities for 
integration of Violence against 
Women, Domestic Abuse and 

Sexual Violence  across 
Government divisions and 

departments  

Advice to Welsh Government 
through formal consultation 

processes and events on National 
Training Framework, Ask and 

Act and Multi Agency 
Collaborative working  

Tudalen y pecyn 60



11 
 

Alongside this I want to use my platform and position to promote the Welsh perspective 

on Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence in the UK and on the 

international stage in order to ensure that Wales is a prominent and equal contributor. 

Looking forward in 2016 -17  

This first six months provided me with the opportunity to develop an Annual Plan based on 

the experiences and priorities communicated to me by stakeholders and survivors. I will 

now focus on progressing and delivering the priorities identified within my Annual Plan. 

Here’s a reminder of key elements in the Annual Plan April 2016 – March 2017: 

7 core principles will inform how I will carry out my duties: 



Safety & 

Safeguarding 

 

For me, the key principle that underpins the purpose of the legislation 

and my role is that of safeguarding; any child, young person or adult, at 

risk, or experiencing any form of violence against women, gender based 

violence, domestic abuse or sexual violence.  

  

 

Leadership 

I will provide visible, active leadership and a consistent, strategic focus 

for all forms of Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual 

Violence. 

  



Enabling & 

Encouraging 

I will work with and alongside Public Services and the Voluntary Sector 

to inform and influence change; making workable recommendations to 

improve the impact and effectiveness of services for individuals and 

families.  

  

 

Early Intervention 

& Prevention 

 

I will work alongside stakeholders to develop and promote an evidence 

base that demonstrates the impact and effectiveness of early 

intervention in reducing long term societal risks and financial costs 

  



Collaboration & 

Integration 

I will identify and support opportunities nationally, regionally and 

locally to mainstream Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and 

Sexual Violence as “core business” and facilitate innovative, creative 

ways of working together. 

  



Consultation & 

engagement

I will ensure there are opportunities for stakeholders and survivors to 

inform and shape policy and service delivery. I will continuously seek to 

listen, comprehend and respond to their experiences, needs, challenges 

and aspirations.  

  

 

Promoting learning 

& excellence 

I will provide a strategic platform to ensure that good practice and 

learning is disseminated and used to support improvements that enable 

service providers and commissioners to achieve the highest possible 

standards.   

Tudalen y pecyn 61



12 
 

 

Overall aims and objectives 

    

 

WHAT’S AHEAD IN 2016/2017 

There are some key developments expected this year that will provide me with an 

opportunity to progress the principles, aims and objectives highlighted above: 

I will continue to inform and influence the development of the National Violence against 

Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Strategy which will be published in 

November 2016. I hope to contribute to an ambitious, integrated strategy that will  set out 

the principles, approach and priorities for action that Welsh Government and public bodies 

in Wales should take to mainstream and prioritise violence against women, domestic abuse 

and sexual violence, making it “everyone’s business”. The Strategy needs to build on the 

priorities set out in the Right to be Safe Strategy and the opportunities provided by the 

Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (Wales) Act 2015.  

I expect the recommendations and priorities identified by survivors in Welsh Women’s Aid 

report “Are you listening and am I being heard? - A report of the recommendations of 

Overall Aim:  

through joint endeavour to ensure that any 
individual (covered by the Act) who feels 
abused, injured, violated, under threat or 

unsafe can expect and be confident that they 
will receive a timely, appropriate, consistent, 

quality and sustained response when this right 
has been compromised or is under threat 

Objective 1 

To advise & support the 
strategic implementation of 

the legislation 

Objective 2 

Develop a strategic, coherent 
and integrated approach to 
policy and service delivery 

decisions 

Objective 3 

Develop workable recommendations 
to improve the impact & 

effectiveness of public & voluntary 
sector provison 

Objective 4  

Provide a strategic platform 
for shared learning & 

research 

Objective 5 

Enable effective & inclusive 
communication with 

survivors, stakeholders and 
the public 

Tudalen y pecyn 62



13 
 

survivors of violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence in Wales” to be 

integral to the Strategy, demonstrating how Welsh Government are placing survivors central 

to improvements in Wales. 

Alongside the development of the National Strategy I will lead work to develop a set of 

National Indicators that will articulate and measure progress towards the achievement of 

the purpose of the Act.  

The development of the National Indicators provides an opportunity to work towards a co-

ordinated and coherent measurement framework with disaggregated data which would 

form part of a wider integrated approach to addressing and prevention all forms of Violence 

against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence.  

Furthermore, the creation of National Indicators provides an opportunity to mainstream 

data from this field across wider policy areas; aligning and supporting existing measurement 

frameworks and strengthening the comparability of data from different policy areas.  

The development of National Indicators presents an invaluable opportunity to improve the 

collection and analysis of data required to enhance knowledge to inform, shape and 

evaluate the impact of policy and practice developments and, fundamentally, ensures that 

individuals are protected and supported and prevention work is informing lasting 

behavioural and attitudinal change. 

It is my intention that the National Indicators will be published for consultation at the end of 

2016/17. 

The establishment of Public Service Boards and Health and Social Care Partnerships and 

the requirement for population needs assessments provide an opportunity for me to work 

alongside local and regional leads to embed Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and 

Sexual Violence as a strategic priority within the requirements of the wider statutory 

requirements and, furthermore, improve the consistency and coherence of our legislative 

framework. 

This year will see elections both for the National Assembly of Wales and our four Police 

and Crime Commissioners. Those elected have a key leadership role in the implementation 

of the Act and delivering improvements for individuals and families experiencing any form 

of violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence and I look forward to 

working alongside elected officers to progress a shared agenda.  

It is paramount that I continue to listen and engage in order to feed your views into the 

above and to shape the future direction of my work in general. It is imperative that my post 

acts as a catalyst to bring experiences and expertise together and to create platforms to 

share learning and harness experiences to inform best practice and pursue service 

improvements. 

Tudalen y pecyn 63



14 
 

 

CONCLUDING REMARKS 

We have set ourselves an ambitious agenda on Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse 

and Sexual Violence in Wales and my role has a part to play if we are to achieve the vision to 

improve arrangements for protection, support and the prevention of all forms of violence 

against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence. 

During this initial period I have invested time and energy to provide meaningful 

opportunities for survivors and stakeholders to engage directly with me. I have listened to 

their experiences, challenges and aspirations and asked what is important to them in order 

to inform the principles, aims and objectives integral to the development of my Annual Plan.  

I believe that this was the right approach for my initial 6 months – being visible, establishing 

relationships, gathering and analysing information and intelligence. It feels now that I need 

to move to the next phase of the role – using the information and intelligence to get 

involved and influence improvements and change. It is important that the Adviser gets 

involved at a practical level in achieving change as opposed to simply being seen as a public 

figure. 

My Annual Plan is both challenging and ambitious – it provides focus and clarity in terms of 

what I am trying to achieve and there is a lot to do if we are to deliver lasting change. The 

breadth and scale of my annual plan raises questions about the role of the National Adviser 

and the infrastructure in which it operates, issues that if not addressed, could potentially 

limit the effectiveness and potential of the role.  

The role is part time and has limited resources attached. One of the issues that I will be 

pursuing is to ask for additional resources to back up the post and to enable me to build the 

capacity and consolidate the effectiveness of the role. A balance is required between the 

resources provided by Welsh Government and the fundamental need to maintain the 

independence of the role. Given that it is the first term of the post this provides an 

opportunity for reflection and learning and it is fitting to address these issues at an early 

stage.   

This year Wales will have a renewed National Strategy which is intended to provide an 

overall framework to achieve the goals set out within the Act. My view is that the Strategy 

will only deliver if underpinned by detailed intent and sustained informed action. I believe 

an infrastructure for delivery of the Act that sets out in detail the reality of what is needed 

to make a difference would help reinforce the Act and promote a consistent Wales wide 

approach to implementation. Such an infrastructure must be underpinned by a needs-led, 

strengths-based service model, resourced appropriately and sustainably and within an 

integrated and coordinated whole system approach. It must be interwoven with other key 

Tudalen y pecyn 64



15 
 

areas of public policy, finances, commissioning activity, service delivery and accountability 

frameworks.  

Alongside survivors and stakeholders, I want to be part of exploring and developing these 

approaches to create the opportunities for policy and decision makers to listen, reflect and 

act to fulfil the potential offered by the Act.  

As National Adviser I feel I have a mandate and a unique opportunity to influence and shape 

change for individuals experiencing Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual 

Violence. This is what makes this role so stimulating, it’s what motivated me to apply and I 

will endeavour to use the position to its full potential. Survivors have high hopes for the Act 

and we need to listen to and learn from their experiences and be ambitious and 

transformative in our thinking and joint efforts if we are to live up to and exceed their 

expectations. It is incumbent upon us to do so.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

How to contact the National Adviser for Violence against Women, other forms of gender 

based violence, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 

Rhian.Bowen-Davies@wales.gsi.gov.uk 

07464 646912 

@NatAdv_VAW 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 65

mailto:Rhian.Bowen-Davies@wales.gsi.gov.uk


 

 
 

Are you listening and am I being heard? 

 

Survivor Consultation: A report of the recommendations made by survivors of 

violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence, to inform the 

National Strategy in Wales.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

March 2016  

Pwyllgor Cydraddoldeb, Llywodraeth Leol a Chymunedau 
Equality, Local Government and Communities Committee 
ELGC(5)-08-16 Papur 1c / Paper 1c 

Tudalen y pecyn 66



2 
 

Government should hear from women, women who’ve been through it, on an ongoing 

basis otherwise they’ll come up with these ideas that won’t work. Any of us could ... 

there’s enough of us who’ve gone through it so we can help (Survivor, FG2)   

 

All organisations need to listen to us and take us seriously. I was one of them who 

used to say why doesn’t she leave? or how can she leave her kids? …….but you go 

through it and you hear other women’s stories and you understand (Survivor, FG1) 

 

You need the consistency with every agency you’re involved with, otherwise 3 or 4 

different officers only get a bit of the experience, it becomes diluted, there’s such a 

lack of consistency. If professionals could hear women in a group, know what it’s like. 

They get trained but they don’t really hear the woman who’s gone through it. Maybe 

women can be filmed and agencies can hear what it’s really like for us (Survivor, FG4)  

 

Women survive violence then have to survive on peanuts, we have nothing, no 

furniture, no food, no recourse to public funds, we need money to live on, otherwise 

we are either destitute or die. The no recourse and immigration rules don’t help... 

Does the government in Wales understand that we are living on nothing? (Survivor, 

FG6)   

  

  

Tudalen y pecyn 67



3 
 

Contents 

            

           Page 

     Acknowledgements       4 

             

1. Executive summary       5 

 

2. Introduction & national context      7 

 

3. The consultation process      13 

 

4. Consultation feedback: issues raised by survivors   16 

 

5. Recommendations       50 

 

6. Final Comments        58 

 

7. Appendices         59 

      

 

 

 

  

Tudalen y pecyn 68



4 
 

Acknowledgements 

We would like to extend our sincere thanks and deepest gratitude to:  

Survivors of violence and abuse across Wales who were able to share their experiences with 

the facilitators and with each other. Their willingness to participate in these focus groups will 

help inform an improved response to survivors of violence and abuse in the future.  

The national, regional and local specialist support services in Wales for offering a safe and 

welcoming space and for helping us contact past and recent survivors of violence and abuse 

to participate in this consultation. 

The staff and CEO of Welsh Women’s Aid for supporting delivery of the consultation and 

engagement, and for sharing their knowledge of the landscape of support available for 

survivors of violence and abuse in Wales.  

Rhian Bowen–Davies, Independent National Adviser on Violence against Women, Domestic 

Violence and Sexual Violence in Wales, for her support throughout the course of this 

consultation.  

  

About Welsh Women’s Aid 

Welsh Women’s Aid, established in 1978, is the national charity in Wales working to end 

domestic abuse and all forms of violence against women. It is a federation of specialist 

organisations in Wales (working as part of a UK network) that provide lifesaving services to 

survivors of violence and abuse - women, men, children, and families- and deliver a range of 

innovative support and preventative services in local communities. Welsh Women’s Aid 

provides the National Quality Service Standards accreditation framework for specialist services 

in Wales, and has been at the forefront of shaping coordinated community responses and 

practice. It achieves this by campaigning for change and providing advice, consultancy, 

support and training for agencies, commissioners and partnerships, to deliver policy, systems 

and service improvements for survivors, families and communities. Welsh Women’s Aid also 

delivers the Wales Live Fear Free Helpline for survivors of sexual violence and domestic abuse, 

support and advocacy services in Colwyn Bay and Wrexham, the National Training Service 

partnership providing accredited qualifications and bespoke training, the national Children 

Matter preventative project that supports agencies working with children and young people in 

every local authority in Wales, and a national survivor engagement project. Welsh Women’s 

Aid is committed to ensuring the experience of survivors is at the heart of all its work.  

About the Facilitator and Report Author 

Yasmin Rehman worked on this project as an independent facilitator. Yasmin has worked for 

almost 30 years predominantly on violence against women, race, faith and gender, and human 

rights. Yasmin is currently working with a number of organisations on violence against women 

prevention, providing training for higher education institutions, and is an independent panel 

member reviewing past serious case reviews relating to children and young people. Yasmin is 

currently a Board member of EVAW (End Violence Against Women Coalition) and is a Trustee 

of the Centre for Secular Space.  

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 69



5 
 

1. Executive Summary  

Understanding how survivors of domestic abuse, sexual violence and other forms of 

violence against women use and experience public services is key to improving the 

effectiveness of prevention, protection and support services and systems in Wales.  

Survivors’ voices and experiences must also be central to informing the development 

and delivery of legislation, policy and strategy in order to ensure systems and services 

best meet survivors’ needs and action is taken to prevent violence and abuse in the 

short and longer term.   

Between January and March 2016, women and men who had recently experienced 

domestic abuse, sexual violence or other forms of violence against women,1 were 

invited to attend focus groups across Wales. These groups were organised by Welsh 

Women’s Aid and led by an independent facilitator, in partnership with specialist 

services. Over this period, 66 survivors participated and were asked about their recent 

experience of using services, their recommendations for improving service responses, 

and priorities for the national strategy in relation to prevention, protection and 

support. This consultation also involved testing out a model in which survivors 

empower and educate services (seeds), and their views on this and other approaches 

to continued survivor engagement in Wales were sought.  

Recommendations 

Survivors made a number of recommendations to inform the development of a new 

national strategy on violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence. 

They also made recommendations for improvements in specific agencies, and provided 

feedback on what they felt should be the priorities for the National Adviser.  

The report also contains recommendations that reflect survivors’ overwhelming 

support for a sustainable model of consultation and engagement. They all wanted to 

ensure that survivors’ voices and experiences remain central to Government and local 

action to improve prevention, protection and provision of support services across 

Wales.  

An overview of all the recommendations made by survivors is contained in Chapter 5.  

 

Survivors strongly recommended that a national framework for ongoing 

survivor engagement and involvement be prioritised and resourced by Welsh 

Government, that enables survivors to educate, advise and inform services on 

improving their practice.  

 

                                                           
1 This includes rape and sexual violence, domestic abuse, forced marriage, so-called ‘honour’ crimes, female 
genital mutilation, stalking, trafficking, sexual harassment and exploitation.   

Tudalen y pecyn 70



6 
 

Survivors also identified 10 key recommendations for priority inclusion in the 

updated national strategy, to be delivered by Welsh Government:  

1. Dedicated specialist services for children and young people impacted by or 
experiencing domestic abuse, sexual violence, FGM, forced marriage, sexual 
exploitation or harassment, available in every area.  

2. Specialist domestic abuse and sexual violence services for survivors that are 
accessible and resourced to meet the needs of specific survivor groups, 
available in every area.  

3. Improved awareness of and response to violence against women, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence by professionals involved in the family justice system 
(CAFCASS Cymru, judges and court personnel, contact centres), and safe child 
contact with parents/carers following separation, in cases of domestic abuse 
and sexual violence.  

4. Accessible ‘refuge service’ support in every area, accompanied by safe, 
affordable, longer-term housing options for survivors of abuse, that provide 
flexibility, choice and meet survivors’ needs.    

5. Women’s groups and peer support available in every area, to reduce isolation 
and maximise independent spaces that increase confidence, esteem, and 
empowerment.  

6. Protection and support for all survivors who have no recourse to public funds, 
to ensure equal access to safety, support, protection and justice, and finances 
to live independently, irrespective of survivors’ immigration and residency 
status. 

7. Counselling and therapeutic services for survivors that is available, in every 
area, when needed, is age-appropriate, and helps build resilience and recovery 
from abuse.  

8. Greater focus on stopping perpetrators’ behaviour and holding them to account 
by public services, and where violence and abuse involves coercive control, 
action by public services to ensure perpetrators leave and end abusive 
relationships.   

9. Improved training for all services on all aspects of violence against women, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence, informed by survivors’ experiences. 

10. Preventing violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence from 
happening in the first place, through compulsory prevention education in all 
schools and colleges, increasing awareness of the issues and the help available 
in local communities across Wales.  

 

Survivors were concerned that there may be a delay in delivering improved 

interventions in the short-term, and therefore, recommended that the National Adviser 

ensures that Government and Public Authorities take action to deliver improvements 

in the following areas:  

 Media and publicity campaigns 

 Education 

 Immigration 

 Sustainable funding for specialist services 

 Family and criminal courts 

 The development of a sustainable model for future survivor engagement.  

Tudalen y pecyn 71



7 
 

2. Introduction and national context  

This consultation was requested by the Welsh Government Public Services Minister 

and the Violence Against Women National Advisory Board. Its purpose is to inform the 

new National Strategy for Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual 

Violence in Wales, immediate and future priorities for the National Adviser, and the 

development of a national survivor engagement framework. 

Between January and March 2016, women and men who had recently experienced 

domestic abuse, sexual violence or other forms of violence against women,2 were 

invited to attend focus groups across Wales. These groups were organised by Welsh 

Women’s Aid and led by an independent facilitator, in partnership with specialist 

services. Over this period, 66 survivors participated and were asked about their recent 

experience of using services, their recommendations for improving service responses, 

and priorities for the national strategy in relation to prevention, protection and 

support. This consultation also involved testing out a model in which survivors 

empower and educate services (seeds), and their views on this and other approaches 

to continued survivor engagement in Wales were sought.  

The findings and recommendations contained within this report will be presented to 

the Minister and Violence Against Women Advisory Board meeting in the spring, to 

inform the National Strategy Development and Adviser priorities. The report will also 

be disseminated by the National Adviser in order to inform regional strategy 

developments, and improvements in statutory and voluntary agencies’ practice. 

Wales Right to be Safe Strategy 2010-2016  

The Welsh Government national strategy on violence against women and domestic 

abuse – the ‘Right to be Safe Strategy 2010-2016’3 - defines ‘violence against women’ 

in accordance with the United Nations definition, as violence that is directed at women 

because they are women or affect women disproportionately: 

'Any act of gender based violence that results in, or is likely to result in, 

physical, sexual or psychological harm or suffering to women, including 

threats of such acts, coercion or arbitrary deprivation of liberty, whether 

occurring in public or private life’4. 

The Right to be Safe strategy set out an integrated, cross government programme of 

action to tackle all forms for violence against women, and was accompanied by a 

detailed implementation plan. The strategy identified 4 key priorities in 2010:  

 Prevention and Raising Awareness of Violence Against Women and Domestic 

Abuse.  

 Providing Support for Victims and Children.  

                                                           
2 This includes rape and sexual violence, domestic abuse, forced marriage, so-called ‘honour’ crimes, female 
genital mutilation, stalking, trafficking, sexual harassment and exploitation.   
3 http://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/commsafety/100325besafefinalenv1.pdf  
4 1993 Declaration on the Elimination of Violence Against Women 

Tudalen y pecyn 72

http://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/commsafety/100325besafefinalenv1.pdf


8 
 

 Improving the Response of Criminal Justice Agencies.  

 Improving the Response of Health Services and Other Agencies.  

The strategy was a response in Wales to what is known about the extent of various 

forms of violence against women including domestic abuse and sexual violence:5  

 4.6 million women in England and Wales have experienced domestic abuse 

since the age of 16; in one year 1.4 million women and 700,000 men (aged 16-

59) reported having experienced any type of domestic abuse.  

 In England and Wales, on average, 2 women a week are killed by a partner or 

ex-partner. In 2014 149 UK women were known or suspected to have been 

killed by men. 

 According to 2011/12 Crime Survey data disaggregated for Wales, women 

experience twice the levels of ‘any domestic abuse’ (11.1% compared to 5.1% 

for men) while rates of ‘any sexual assault’ were also higher for women (3.2%) 

than men (0.7%). The data also indicated more women reported being stalked 

than men (7.8% compared to 3.5%). 

 In Wales in 2013/14, there were 6,325 prosecutions of violence against women 

and girls offences, with a conviction rate of 76.7%. Of these, 5,637 were cases 

of domestic abuse; 257 cases of rape, and 431 cases of sexual offences.  

 137,000 girls and women are living with consequences of female genital 

mutilation (FGM) in the UK and 60,000 girls under the age of 15 are at risk of 

FGM in the UK. It is estimated there are 140 victims of FGM a year in Wales. 

 82% of cases dealt with by the Forced Marriage Unit involved female victims; 

18% involved male victims. It is estimated there are up to 100 victims of forced 

marriage a year in Wales.  

 1 in 7 children and young people under 18 will have living with domestic abuse. 

 25% girls and 18% boys experience physical abuse in teenage relationships; 

75% girls and 14% boys experience emotional abuse, and 33% girls and 16% 

boys experience sexual abuse. Girls experience more severe abuse, more 

frequently, and suffer more negative impacts on their welfare, compared with 

boys.   
 

Experiences of violence and abuse can have serious psychological, emotional and 

physical consequences and may contribute to multiple disadvantage, problems with 

substance use, homelessness, offending behaviour, gang involvement, prostitution or 

mental health problems.6  The costs of violence and abuse to the economy are also 

significant. Domestic abuse alone costs Wales £303.5m annually: £202.6m in service 

costs and £100.9m to lost economic output. These figures do not include any element 

                                                           
5 http://www.welshwomensaid.org.uk/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=49&Itemid=55  
6https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/505961/VAWG_Strategy_2
016-2020.pdf  

Tudalen y pecyn 73

http://www.welshwomensaid.org.uk/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=49&Itemid=55
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/505961/VAWG_Strategy_2016-2020.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/505961/VAWG_Strategy_2016-2020.pdf


9 
 

of human and emotional costs, which research estimates costs Wales an additional 

£522.9m. It is estimated that providing public services to victims of domestic abuse, 

and the lost economic output of women affected, costs the UK £15.8 billion annually 

and the cost to health, housing and social services, criminal justice and civil legal 

services is estimated at £3.9 billion7. The cost to public purse is considerably higher 

when other forms of violence against women are included, like sexual violence, forced 

marriage, female genital mutilation, stalking, harassment and sexual exploitation  

In order to strengthen responses to violence against women, domestic abuse and 

sexual violence in Wales, the Right to be Safe Strategy was accompanied by the 

introduction of legislation in 2015 which introduced a range of statutory measures for 

Government and Public Authorities in Wales.  

Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse & Sexual Violence Act 2015 

On the 29th April 2015 the Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual 

Violence (Wales) Bill received Royal Assent, and became an Act of the National 

Assembly for Wales. The stated purpose of the Act is to improve arrangements for the 

prevention, protection and support for all forms of violence against women, 

domestic abuse and sexual violence. 

Provisions include: 

 A duty on Ministers to prepare, plan and publish a national strategy and action 

plan for addressing violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual 

violence. 

 A duty on Local Authorities and Local Health Boards to jointly prepare and 

publish a local strategy for their areas. 

 A duty on Ministers to publish national indicators and an annual report to 

measure progress of the Act. Local authorities and Local Health Boards must 

also publish an annual report of the progress they have made in achieving the 

objectives specified in their local strategy.  

The following statutory guidance is currently being developed, or will be developed in 

due course, by the Welsh Government under the Act, and will be issued separately: 

The National Training Framework 

This statutory guidance8 aims to create a consistent standard of care for those 

who experience violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence, 

and an unfailing standard of service throughout the Public Service to survivors. 

It outlines the key competencies and knowledge required at each professional 

level within relevant authorities.  

 

                                                           
7  Walby, S (2009), The Cost of Domestic Violence Up-date 2009 Lancaster University  
8 http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-
communities/communities/safety/domesticabuse/publications/national-training-framework/?lang=en  

Tudalen y pecyn 74

http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/communities/safety/domesticabuse/publications/national-training-framework/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/communities/safety/domesticabuse/publications/national-training-framework/?lang=en


10 
 

Ask and Act policy framework  

The primary objective of Ask and Act is to encourage relevant professionals to 

‘ask’ potential victims about the possibility of violence against women, domestic 

abuse and sexual violence where such abuse is suspected, and to ‘act’ so 

suffering and harm, as a result of the violence and abuse, is prevented or 

reduced. This will be facilitated through guidance and accompanied by a 

training programme delivered through the National Training Framework. 

Guidance on responding to perpetrators and on information sharing will also be 

published.  

A Whole Education Approach to Prevention  

This will outline the expectations on local authorities in relation to a whole 

education approach to healthy relationships, and builds on the Whole Education 

Approach Good Practice Guide published by Welsh Government.9  

Multi-agency Working 

This guidance will explore the necessary stages of collaboration and identify 

good practice in establishing partnership arrangements. It will also detail what 

is required within agencies to deliver on their partnership commitments and 

embed a robust response to violence against women, domestic abuse and 

sexual violence within their agency. 

Guidance for Commissioners 

The commissioning guidance will provide a comprehensive outline of the 

considerations to be made when procuring specialist service provision. The 

guidance will be developed in partnership. The overarching objective of the 

guidance is to ensure consistent consideration of the prevention, protection, 

support and recovery needs of service users within a risk and needs led 

framework.  

The Welsh Government has appointed an Independent National Adviser to advise and 

support Welsh Ministers on violence against women, domestic and sexual violence, 

and on the publication and delivery of a refreshed National Strategy and Action Plan.    

In addition to strengthening the legislative and policy framework on addressing all 

forms of violence against women in Wales, the Welsh Government has also introduced 

relevant parallel legislation including the Well-Being of Future Generations Act 2015. 

The aim is to improve the social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being of 

Wales, by making public bodies think more about the long-term, work better with 

people and communities and each other, look to prevent problems and take a more 

joined-up approach.  

 

                                                           
9 http://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/commsafety/151020-whole-education-approach-good-practice-
guide-en.pdf  

Tudalen y pecyn 75

http://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/commsafety/151020-whole-education-approach-good-practice-guide-en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/commsafety/151020-whole-education-approach-good-practice-guide-en.pdf


11 
 

Seven well-being goals have been identified:  

 A prosperous Wales 

 A resilient Wales  

 A healthier Wales  

 A more equal Wales  

 A Wales of cohesive communities  

 A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh Language and  

 A globally responsible Wales.  

These are accompanied by 46 national indicators which includes ensuring that Welsh 

partnerships are working towards the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals. 

Sustainable Development Goal 5 is to “achieve gender equality and empower all 

women and girls”, which is accompanied by a series of targets on eliminating all 

forms of violence against women and girls in the public and private spheres, including 

trafficking and sexual and other types of exploitation.10   
 

UK Government: Ending Violence Against Women and Girls 2016-2020  

The UK Government has also stated its commitment to tackling all forms of violence 

against women and girls by publishing, in March 2016, the revised Ending Violence 

against Women and Girls Strategy 2016-2020, which identified several outcomes to 

be achieved by 202011, including: 

Prevention:  

• Decreases in the overall prevalence of violence against women.  
• More victims helped to long term independence and freedom from abuse 

(strengthening the focus on prevention and early intervention, and addressing 
perpetrators behaviour).  

• More victims and offenders are identified at the earliest possible opportunity, 
with effective interventions in place to prevent violence and abuse from 
escalating to a crisis point. 

• Increased awareness across all sections of society that violence against women 
is unacceptable and individuals, communities and frontline agencies are 
empowered to confidently challenge negative attitudes to violence against 
women.  

• Increased awareness in children and young people of the importance of respect 
and consent in relationships and that abusive behaviour is always wrong.  

   
Provision:  

• Local partners assess the needs of victims and survivors and their families, and 
have local strategies to ensure they can access the right support at the right 
time. 

                                                           
10 The additional targets for achieving SDG 5 are available at http://www.unwomen.org/en/news/in-
focus/women-and-the-sdgs/sdg-5-gender-equality  
11 The complete set of outcomes and actions to be delivered are outlined in the UK Government Strategy: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/505961/VAWG_Strategy_20
16-2020.pdf  

Tudalen y pecyn 76

http://www.unwomen.org/en/news/in-focus/women-and-the-sdgs/sdg-5-gender-equality
http://www.unwomen.org/en/news/in-focus/women-and-the-sdgs/sdg-5-gender-equality
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/505961/VAWG_Strategy_2016-2020.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/505961/VAWG_Strategy_2016-2020.pdf


12 
 

• No victim is turned away from accessing critical support services delivered by 
refuges, rape support centres and FGM and forced marriage units..  

• Services provide support at an earlier stage so that fewer victims will reach 
crisis point or other secure accommodation.  

• Better access to integrated pathways of support to meet the needs of victims 
experiencing multiple disadvantages.  

• A robust evidence base in place to support interventions that work and to 
inform commissioning decisions. 

 
Partnerships:  

• Multi-agency working in local areas is transformed - improved governance, links 
to safeguarding and needs-led interventions for victims, children and 
perpetrators. 

• Areas have violence against women partnership, rigorous needs assessment 
and local strategy - aligned with drug and alcohol services, homelessness and 
children’s services. 

• More children are safeguarded and more families supported through the 
collection and appropriate (safe) multi-agency sharing of information.  

• Violence against women is mainstreamed across businesses with more 
employers introducing policies to support staff who may be victims of domestic 
abuse or stalking.  

• Greater focus on changing the behaviour of perpetrators based on strong 
evidence of what works and centred on victim safety (accredited programmes, 
for example).  

• Partnership action to promote gender equality, including the specific targets on 
violence against women and girls.  

 
Perpetrators  

• Increased victim confidence in, and access to the justice system for violence 
against women victims, and increased reporting and prosecutions. 

•  Improved victim satisfaction and the first response right first time using Victim 
Satisfaction Surveys to assess impact.  

• Embedded robust approach to tackling perpetrators behaviour and reduction in 
re-offending. 

• Improved use of new technology and rehabilitation.  
• Greater transparency and accountability of the criminal justice system through 

improved data provision.  
 

Many of the above priorities and actions also apply to Wales, in accordance with the 

delivery of non-devolved responsibilities.  

This strategy builds on a number of initiatives undertaken by the UK Government 

including the introduction of the a new offence of coercive control, the Modern Slavery 

Act, the roll out of Domestic Violence Protection Orders (DVPOs) and Domestic 

Violence Disclosure Scheme (DVDS), the introduction of female genital mutilation 

(FGM) Protection Orders and an FGM mandatory reporting duty, and strengthening 

measures to manage sex offenders or those who pose a risk of sexual harm.  

 

Tudalen y pecyn 77



13 
 

3. The consultation process 

Feedback from services and survivors suggests there is currently no sustainable or 

consistent framework in Wales for Government, commissioners, or public services to 

engage with a wide range of survivors about what is important to them. Survivor 

engagement processes are ad-hoc and the same groups are usually consulted with.  

Yet the involvement of survivors in the planning, delivery and review of services and 

systems in Wales is essential to understand their effectiveness, whether needs are 

met and abuse is prevented, and how practice and services can be improved. 

Survivors’ voices and experiences are also essential to informing strategies, legislative 

and policy developments, the National Strategy and National Adviser’s Plan. It is 

especially important to involve whose voices are seldom heard, who are most likely to 

experience discrimination, whose experiences are hard to hear by agencies and who 

have multiple support needs.  

 

a) Aims of the consultation  

This consultation, conducted via focus groups and interviews, aimed to: 

 Ensure that survivors’ voices are heard by Government and public services, 

and maximise the commitment to providing accountability for survivors.  
 

 Collate a snapshot of current information, concerns and opinions from 

survivors in Wales, in order to inform National Adviser priorities and the 

development of the refreshed National Strategy on violence against women, 

domestic abuse and sexual violence.  
 

 Help shape a more consistent and sustainable framework for survivor 

involvement, and associated good practice principles, so that survivors inform 

public services’ work to prevent violence against women, domestic abuse and 

sexual violence, and influence improvements in the provision of services and 

responses of organisations. 
 

b) Conducting the consultation and producing this report 

This consultation provides a snapshot of survivors’ views and recommendations for 

strategy development and for improving practice across Wales.  

The focus groups did not request that survivors share experiences of violence and 

abuse but rather focussed on their recent experience of services in Wales, in order to 

ascertain whether improvements to services and systems could be made, and action 

what should be prioritised in any national strategy.  

Seven focus groups were held with 66 survivors of abuse in locations across Wales 

including West Wales, Gwent, Powys, North Wales and South Wales. It is important 

to note the success of the recruitment process for participating in these focus, which 

Tudalen y pecyn 78



14 
 

was primarily due to the assistance of the local frontline specialist agencies and 

community groups. Receiving detailed feedback from 66 survivors regarding their 

experience of services in relation to violence and abuse is a distinct achievement, both 

in qualitative and quantitative terms, in such a short timescale.  

Each focus group lasted for two hours. All of the focus groups were facilitated by the 

independent facilitator, with the support of the independent National Adviser on 

Violence against Women, Domestic Violence and Sexual Violence in Wales and/or the 

CEO of Welsh Women’s Aid. Expenses associated with attendance and participation 

were covered, interpreters were provided as needed, and childcare arrangements 

made where necessary. Local specialist services were on hand to support survivors 

who took part in groups, as were national and local helplines. 

There was time allocated during and after the session/interviews for individual 

survivors to speak with facilitators in more depth and/or with specialist services. Ten 

survivors accepted this additional opportunity to contribute to the consultation. 

Information about local services and Live Fear Free Helpline leaflets were made 

available for each survivor after each session.  

This report is based on the findings from the focus groups and telephone interview 

conducted with survivors unable to attend groups. Survivors in this consultation are 

not identified at any time in this report to protect their identity. Although quotes are 

used throughout to illustrate the issues raised, identifiable information has been 

removed. The recommendations made are based on full transcripts from each 

group/interview, during which the independent facilitator agreed with participants 

their recommendations for action and their top priorities for the strategy.   

The letter to specialist services about the consultation, the focus group protocol and 

a group outline are attached as appendices. Survivors who took part in the 

consultation will be able to access the final report through their contact with specialist 

services. 

c) Background of survivors 

The aim was to ensure survivors of different forms of violence and abuse were able 

to engage with this process, and that has been achieved. Survivors who contributed 

to the consultation had experienced a number of forms of violence and abuse 

including: domestic abuse, sexual violence as adults, child sexual/physical/emotional 

abuse, forced marriage, ‘honour based’ violence, coercive and controlling behaviour, 

female genital mutilation, sexual exploitation and trafficking. 

The survivors who took part in the focus groups were at different stages in their 

journeys to freedom from violence and abuse. Some survivors were current service 

users accessing refuges, counselling, advocacy and a range of provision. Other 

survivors were recent service users, and of these a small minority had been living free 

of abuse for a number of years but still felt the impact of the abuse on their lives and 

needed continued support.   

Tudalen y pecyn 79



15 
 

The facilitator made every effort to ensure the involvement of Black and minority 

women, older and young women, and many of the groups and interviews had 

interpreters present to enable women’s involvement. 65 participants in this 

consultation were women and were over 18, and 29 women self-identified during the 

sessions as being of minority backgrounds.  

Although we sought involvement from women and men to participate, in separate 

focus groups, 65 women survivors participated in focus groups/interviews and 1 man 

participated by interview. A number of male survivors were contacted about the 

consultation and encouraged to participate in focus groups or interviews by their male 

support workers, but declined to take part. Additional written recommendations for 

service improvement was also provided by some survivors, which has been reflected 

in the report.  

Other protected characteristics were not recorded, so there is no analysis provided of 

responses by gender identity, sexuality, disability and so on. Had more time been 

available, targeted focus groups with survivors who identified as lesbian, bisexual, 

gay, disabled, transgender, from Gypsy and Traveller communities, as older and young 

people, would have drawn out how experiences of services are compounded by 

protected characteristics, identities and life experience. Evidence shows that belonging 

to one or more of the aforementioned groups inevitably makes help-seeking more 

complex and in many instances will reduce the number of services available.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 80



16 
 

4. Consultation feedback 

There were several experiences shared of the violence and abuse endured by survivors 

and how they accessed services, and even though there were commonalities in these 

experiences, each was unique and had different needs. However there were several 

shared experiences of services, particularly with respect to the challenges survivors 

faced in seeking help, and whether they were able to move on to recovery and 

freedom from abuse or not.  

The common themes from the consultation are set out below with quotes from 

survivors. A more detailed set of recommendations which were drawn from these 

experiences and agreed with survivors follows in Chapter 5.  

i. Identifying and naming the abuse   

Survivors spoke of not always recognising their experiences as abusive or being able 

to name their abuse, which often made them reluctant or unable to seek help. When 

survivors eventually did seek help, they found specialist services like refuges, 

advocacy, counselling and peer support services helpful in supporting them to name 

their experiences as abusive.  

I went from the earlier thing to my first then second husband and things from my 

childhood were brought back up for me…then it all comes together in your head 

and you realise it didn’t start from when I was married at 17 but it started from 

much younger. Coming here is amazing and just talking …someone listening to 

you… with no one saying ‘that didn’t happen’. (Survivor, FG7) 

I live with all the controlling aspects of abuse and didn’t realise he was doing 

anything wrong. Until I came here I thought it was normal, that I was to blame 

and that I can’t do anything right. (Survivor, FG5)  

I’ve moved from my family home after a lot of sexual and financial abuse. I didn’t 

know a husband could rape you. He told me I don’t have any rights to say no, he’s 

my husband and he can do what he wanted. It wasn’t until I spoke with women’s 

aid that I knew what rights I had and I now know what rape means. (Survivor, 

FG3) 

I’ve been in care …My mother was abusive to me. I’m now in the refuge and 

getting help. It doesn’t matter who the abuser is you just need help. (Survivor, 

FG4) 

When it’s more verbal and emotional and controlling abuse, it happens so slowly 

and builds up, it becomes normal and you get to thinking there’s no other way. It 

was a total eye opener coming to a domestic abuse service, which helped me 

understand what was going on, I didn’t know they existed. (Survivor, FG2) 

I’ve been in two abusive relationships. The first one – he hit me, was very violent. 

The second one, it was all mind games and control. I didn’t recognise what was 

Tudalen y pecyn 81



17 
 

happening. I just thought he’s not hitting me. I did the [group] here and now I 

know better and will be on my guard (Survivor, FG1). 

Most survivors said that services that helped them name the abuse and recognise their 

experiences as abusive were vital to enable them to begin recovering and moving on, 

and that this often took some time. Once they recognised their experiences were 

abusive and they had decided to seek help the response of the agency they disclosed 

to had a huge impact on their next steps.   

If someone discloses and they don’t give you the right response, it can be 

devastating. (Survivor, FG5) 

I think I’m getting close to the point of speaking up but I’m nervous about what 

the response will be. (Survivor, FG4) 

Even if you’re a strong person, going to get help from services that don’t 

understand and don’t believe you or know what it’s like. They can make it so 

difficult and getting an unhelpful response from services has a cumulative effect 

and feels like you’re being abused all over again. (Survivor, FG1) 

 

ii. Coercive and controlling behaviour of perpetrators 

Coercive control and fear played a big part in survivors’ ability to access services 

and to recover and move on from the abuse, as did the threats and nature of the 

abusive behaviour.  

Women who engage with services are the tip of the iceberg, think of all those 

women living with this who aren’t engaging because of fear. You’re not going 

to go to mental health services or social services because he’s told you they’ll 

section you or take your kids from you. He tells you you’re a bad mother so 

you can’t get help because you’re worried about that. So you sit alone not 

knowing where to go, until you’re at breaking point. (Survivor, FG3).   

Survivors who participated in the focus group spoke about their every movement 

being controlled and there being very little space for action or help seeking. Often 

survivors felt that services would not understand the fear and control they lived 

with. 

At home he had complete control over me, he was another person, I couldn’t 

socialise or work or see family. I couldn’t eat or sleep or use the bathroom 

when I wanted, I couldn’t wear what I wanted or speak to anyone. (Survivor, 

FG1) 

I’ve been bullied and controlled and you think it’s your fault. You stay because 

you’re frightened, you leave because you’re frightened, you try killing yourself 

because you’re frightened. You don’t know which way to turn. (Survivor, FG4) 

I didn’t dare ring the police. I just don’t know how to deal with the fear so that 

when I do get out, I get out alive. (Survivor, FG3) 

Tudalen y pecyn 82



18 
 

This is an adult child to their mother who is an OAP, it’s still abuse but they're 

not picking it up. They're probably afraid of him too, he’s taking money, giving 

me drugs and I'm frightened, but I can't speak to anyone (Survivor FG5). 

The control I was under was like a spell. He would call me early every morning 

to check on me…he had control over me in so many ways even when he wasn’t 

in the country. What service would understand that when I try to explain? 

(Survivor, FG1) 

Survivors spoke about how they were denied independent access to even the most 

basic of healthcare, as part of the abuse, which meant that no amount of training 

or awareness raising would have made a difference to enabling disclosure. 

I was totally cut off. I was taken away for my daughter to be born, I had no 

midwife or health visitor in this country, they didn’t even know I had children. 

Training or posters wouldn’t have meant anything... I was just too frightened, 

that’s the biggest barrier. Being physically locked up, isolated, kept like a 

prisoner, and being frightened. (Survivor, FG4).  

He hit me and bruised me and took me to the hospital but he sat with me all 

the time so no one said anything. I lost my hearing. (Survivor, FG2)  

My husband didn’t register my baby with a doctor or anyone so I had no contact 

with the outside world. I didn’t know where to go for help. He dominates me, 

my thoughts, my space, every moment I’m awake I’m frightened. I imagined I 

would die if I don’t do something about it, they need to understand getting help 

is often a life and death situation (Survivor FG3).  

Some survivors spoke of abusers going to great lengths to monitor their behaviour 

and movements, including the use of recording equipment being placed in the 

house to monitor activity during the day when the perpetrator was not at home.  

I told them (…) I can’t leave the house. I can’t go anywhere. He records me in 

the house so he knows everything I say and who I speak to on the phone. He 

knows when he hears me open and close doors and asks me where I go. I 

spoke to a women’s aid solicitor on the phone and my husband heard it by 

recording it, he told me my solicitor called him and told him. This made me not 

trust the solicitor any more (Survivor, FG3).  

He put cameras outside and in the house. He watched my every move. I was 

trapped. (Survivor, FG1).  

Many survivors spoke about the ongoing impact of the abuse they experienced 

from the perpetrators many years after the relationship had ended.  

I haven’t seen him or heard from him in 5 years and now he wants to see my 

daughter. He doesn’t care about her or me. This isn’t safe for us. I am very 

scared about what might happen. (Survivor, FG2) 

Tudalen y pecyn 83



19 
 

I was totally isolated he broke me with mental and sexual abuse, I’m left with 

no self esteem, no self worth, no confidence. I felt like I couldn’t survive without 

him. I still feel he has total control over me now even though I’ve left, I know 

he can kill me any time he wants to (Survivor, FG4).  

 

iii. Survivors spoke of being judged, labelled, blamed or disbelieved 

Survivors wanted agencies to understand the abuse they experience, and recognise 

its impact and the links between different forms of violence against women, domestic 

violence and sexual violence. Instead, many survivors gave several examples of being 

disbelieved, judged or let down by professionals in public services.   

I was abused as a child. I told them (Social Services) but no one did anything and 

nothing happened. It’s gone on since then, and now I’m where I am (Survivor, 

FG5) 

I was in hospital having taken alcohol and drugs because of the abuse; it was 

because of the way my husband abused me yet they took my children into care 

while I was in hospital. I was told by social services I was an addict which I 

wasn’t…it was all emotional abuse and control. The police laughed at me, and 

called me a liar (Survivor, FG2) 

I think agencies believe it’s cultural or don’t want to get involved in family 

arguments. We had an argument in front of a teacher and they just dismissed it, 

but he was controlling me. He was calm and controlling, I have a louder voice and 

speak quickly and came across as the aggressive. But I was falling apart. Who 

would you listen to him or me? They listened to him and dismissed me (Survivor, 

FG4)        

There’s a big misunderstanding about why women don’t report, the police and 

council asked me why I’d not reported sooner…That just knocks you back, it felt 

to me like they were blaming me for something I’d not done, just like the abuse 

all over again. They need to understand the emotional manipulation and the 

control going on. (Survivor, FG7) 

My neighbour called the police recently, they arrived and said ‘he seems to be 

calm and collected’ and said ‘cant you sort this out quietly between you’. They 

saw me screaming and behaving like I’m losing my mind, so who are they going 

to believe. They went without doing anything (Survivor, FG4).  

Social workers in the UK have superpowers and can do what they want, so I have 

to be careful and not speak out of turn, or they won’t believe me as I’m a minority 

woman (Survivor, FG1) 

With me it’s mind games – I say to the police, there’s bottles left outside, the 

tyres are down on my car, I know he’s been in my house, but the police think 

I’m mad. That’s what he wants (Survivor, FG1)  

Tudalen y pecyn 84



20 
 

iv. Gendered nature of abuse, women-only and BME services, and 

services’ understanding of the different needs of men and women   

Many survivors spoke of physical abuse, coercive control and sexual violence whilst 

others talked about their experiences of child abuse. Some survivors disclosed having 

suffered ongoing domestic and sexual abuse in several relationships, and of needing 

to be supported for years of cumulative abuse. Survivors wanted to see a greater 

understanding by public services of the gendered nature of abuse and how it impacts 

on women and men differently, how violence against women is reinforced by state 

systems and services, and by wider inequality between men and women in society.  

There are so many expectations of women and how we have to be as wives and 

mothers...this is reinforced by abusers.  (Survivor, FG1) 

Men can earn more money and pay more for legal advice and a house. I couldn’t 

go out to work because of the children and the state I was in after leaving. 

(Survivor, FG5) 

My ex tells local judges – who are also men – that he’s a local businessman and 

well known in the community and then I have to say I’m a housewife. He knows 

the judge …he’s well connected and moves in the same circles – who’s going to 

be believed? (Survivor, FG3) 

I’ve not gone back to the police because he’s too clever in the way he’s doing it, 

he’s still completely in control of everything…He has total power, he does what 

he wants to do. (Survivor, FG4) 

The court is just another extension of the abuser, it’s a platform for the perpetrator 

to play their mind games. They get the courts to reinforce that no one believes 

you, you’re a mess, and they have all the power (Survivor, FG5) 

You’re put back in the same room as your perpetrator, they try to get you to 

mediate with him … when he holds all the power and has dominated you for years, 

you haven’t got a chance, it’s not equal (Survivor, FG2). 

All agencies that have authority are simply being used as weapons against us, by 

the abuser, it’s part of their game. There’s supposed to be equal rights for both 

parties, but it doesn’t happen, the children are living in a war zone as am I, and 

it’s just a form of state violence (Survivor, FG3).     

Sometimes men just set out to destroy women. It takes time and dedication and 

they take in all the professionals gullible enough to not see the signs, along the 

way, and make sure that women have no choice. (Survivor, FG3) 

Survivors also acknowledged that the same service would not always be appropriate 

for men and women, because their needs and experiences might be very different, so 

services need to understand this and provide different responses to men and women 

based on their needs.  

Tudalen y pecyn 85



21 
 

Having a women only space in the drugs service means we’re more likely to 

get the help we need, and more likely to open up and share what we’ve been 

through (Survivor, FG4)   

Women’s drop in sessions are simple but invaluable, if the building and 

environment feels safe, you can take another woman along with you for a 

coffee, and you don’t always have to see a support worker, it’s just having that 

space to get out, see others who understand, and it helps you grow in 

confidence. Women’s drop ins and women’s centres are really helpful (Survivor, 

FG1)  

I went to the refuge out of desperation and thought before I got there, there’s 

no way I’m going to stay in a million years. I went there and one of the women 

working there said just look around, see what you think, you don’t have to stay. 

But they were so lovely, they immediately understood, they listened to me, it 

immediately felt safe, they reinforced my feelings were right and that I wasnt 

going mad. I couldn’t stay quickly enough (Survivor, FG2)  

I had gone through FGM and had a social worker but they didn’t make me feel 

I could trust them… women try to hide things because we are frightened,  they 

should ask us when we’re alone, women together, let us know it’s safe to talk, 

like ‘are you ok’ or ‘are you struggling’ (Survivor, FG3).  

We should have weekly sessions for women to talk in groups with others who 

have experience of abuse and with women who can support women (Survivor, 

FG4) 

Survivors said that although all public services are available for men and women, 

interventions would need to be tailored and specific to meet women’s and men’s 

needs, and to adapt their approach and service delivery accordingly.  

It was so difficult to get help…People don’t believe that men suffer too. I have 

help now but I can’t work or move forward because of what’s happened to me. 

There must be more services for men too. (Survivor, interview)  

Groups don’t work as men won’t open up in front of other men. It’s embarrassing. 

Women will talk but men just don’t. Services need to think about men and how 

they are and what might help. (Survivor, interview) 

Survivors from Black and minority communities also highlighted the importance for 

them of being supported by services led by and for Black and minority women who 

understood their needs and experiences, including their experience of state services.  

We can’t ever explain to doctors and health services …so many women I know in 

my country killed themselves or their families killed them because of the violence. 

There has been no help for so many women, we are the lucky ones (Survivor, 

FG3).    

Tudalen y pecyn 86



22 
 

Organisations also need to know about religious and cultural issues, we are 

different cultures and if services don’t know about these, they should understand 

about our family culture, issues about honour and shame (Survivor, FG4).   

Women in my community don’t trust the police and don’t want to speak to police. 

My husband told me I cant go to the police because I have no evidence, so they 

wont believe me and will just lock me up or deport me. It was scary not knowing 

where to go, he beat me and did so many things, I tried to kill myself so many 

times, and I don’t have anyone from my family here, I was totally alone. (Survivor, 

FG3)  

I cant go back to my family any more, if [service] didn’t help me, I would definitely 

kill myself because I would have nowhere else. They are my friends and my life 

(Survivor, FG1).    

It’s important for us to have someone to help us who know what our rights are 

in relation to no recourse to public funds, because there can be help available. 

(Survivor, FG4).     

  

v. Listening to survivors and responding with timely support  

All survivors said they wanted services to listen to them and offer support based on 

their circumstances and needs  

It’s not about creating specialists in every service but making sure general services 

have enough information to signpost you to the right services for your needs at 

that time. (Survivor, FG1) 

We all need agencies to see us as individuals with needs, sectors and agencies 

take over and we need to fit into them, it should be turned around so we have a 

‘beginning to end’ service built around our needs and is joined up. (Survivor, FG3) 

We need more support for us so we’re not seen as a case to be closed or passed 

on to someone else, we have needs in our own right, and support should be 

available for as long as we need it, not time limited (Survivor, FG1).   

It’s at least 6 months or more just to get counselling…Why don’t the domestic 
abuse services have their own counsellors for every woman who needs it – not 
everyone does but I had history and wanted support around my mental health 
(Survivor, FG6).   
 

Survivors stated that services were not always available when they needed the 

support. For example, accessing services is a particular problem for women who work; 

counselling services have such long waiting lists that many found it impossible to 

access therapeutic support; and survivors spoke of significant delays with accessing 

ID documents and made practical suggestions for improving the system.   

 

Tudalen y pecyn 87



23 
 

If you work you can’t access any help. Groups are held in the day and services 

close at 5. There’s just no help during the evenings or on weekend. You can’t 

go into a refuge and pay the rent if you work either, it’s just too expensive. 

(Survivor, FG4) 

The refuge was excellent for one to one support but it wasn’t always available 

when you need it. They’re very understaffed so when you wanted to see 

someone or get advice there’s not always someone available. (Survivor, FG1) 

My young daughter went through a stage of trying to kill herself because of 

what we lived with, the doctor gave her tablets. It was 8 weeks later before 

social services could get to see her and then she was also on a waiting list for 

counselling. In that time – it took 5 months – I had to manage this on my own, 

…I needed support myself, a safe space for me to talk through my feelings 

about being a mother and how I can help her get through this. (Survivor, FG1) 

I was diagnosed with PTSD and depression and I’ve got really bad anxiety. But 

their waiting list is long… it’s been a year since I’ve been told that and nothing 

… I’ve been taking medication and its had such a bad effect on me…There are 

some days I can’t leave the house, I think if I had better help from mental 

health services l could be a better mum.” (Survivor, FG4) 

I don’t have ID, I don’t have bank accounts, we don’t have any of our 

documents. I’ve been waiting for weeks from social services for papers to 

provide a record of abuse. I’ve been waiting 24 months to get replacement ID… 

I’m stuck if I don’t have my passport, I can’t get work, I can’t stay and live and 

I can’t leave (Survivor, FG3) 

Why can’t women, when they come to this country, have copies of their 

passports taken by the Government… It would be helpful if one day a month 

someone from London came to Cardiff to do immigration interviews, to save us 

travelling, the interviewer should come to here. There is also no access to 

embassy staff in Cardiff, they’re in London or in other areas in the UK but not 

in Cardiff. This would help us with passport and ID card access (Survivor, FG3).  

At the time the support was a 3-5 year waiting list and I thought I wouldn’t be 

alive to see 5 years. So I started doing overdoses and being held on hospital 

corridors (Survivor, FG6). 

My GPs, they were great to a point but what can they do, there is no 

psychological help out there, there’s 2-3 years waiting lists (Survivor, FG2) 
 

vi. The needs of specific groups of survivors  

Survivors in different groups spoke with great insight and understanding of how 

different life experiences and different identities should not act as barriers to seeking 

help. Many felt strongly about agencies labelling some groups as ‘hard to reach’ which 

meant in reality that services were not meeting their needs.  

Tudalen y pecyn 88



24 
 

Several issues were identified by survivors as additional barriers to accessing help and 

support, based on their identities or life experience.  

- Older women  

Some older women said they were not comfortable accessing refuge services but 

were accessing other support services including advocacy or counselling in the 

community. They explained that they felt accessing a refuge at this stage in their 

lives was not an option for them. They spoke of needing to avoid the stigma of 

having to live in a refuge or being homeless, which resulted in some survivors 

opting to stay with abusive partners until they could find suitable accommodation 

to move to.  

Older women just don’t have anywhere to go. I would never go into a refuge 

at my age. I want to move out but I don’t have anyone practically to help me. 

So I stay with him. A friend I know who is older and is being abused too, she 

is totally isolated. (Survivor, FG7) 

 

Financially at my time of life I can’t start all over again with nothing, but there’s 

still a strong assumption you need a man to survive. I wouldn’t go into a refuge 

but would live on my own in a small flat if I could have support (Survivor, FG6) 

 

Older women also said that they needed to access housing that was more suitable 

and adapted for their needs, given some of the health issues they were now facing. 

For some, these were exacerbated by long-term substance use and involvement in 

the sex industry.   

 

I’m older, I’m vulnerable, I suffer from ill health and I’m disabled, but I don't 

even have a social worker. The outreach health clinic had to stop coming 

around my house because he's so dangerous. But they expect me to live there, 

and expect me to turn him away when he shows up at my door. (Survivor, FG5) 

I don’t feel safe in my home but where would I feel safe? There should be 
somewhere that’s safe and secure, which isn’t sheltered housing which we 
couldn’t get in to anyway, that supports independence but has wardens or 
CCTV. Older women on the beat who’ve lived with abuse for years and years 
need at some stage to get some respite, proper healthcare and protection 
(Survivor, FG6) 
 
Neighbours called the police and they just came and asked him ‘have you hit 
your mother again’. He’d picked me up and threw me on the floor. I’ve had 
injunctions against him and he’s been locked up, but he comes straight back to 
my house. It’s helpful when they take him away, I feel calmer, my health isn’t 
good so it’s difficult for me to cope when he’s around (Survivor, FG5) 

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 89



25 
 

- Women abused by their children   

 

Women of all ages who experienced violence from children also spoke of having 

no-where to turn, and of being frightened but also embarrassed because it was 

their child who was being violent.  

 

It’s hard to accept your child is doing this to you. You can accept a boyfriend – 

I mean it’s more normal. It’s worse when it’s your own flesh and blood because 

you expect better. He might kill me ….I’m already on borrowed time. (Survivor, 

FG4) 

 

My abuser was one of my older children, it’s linked to taking drugs, and my 

younger children are now starting to have an attitude too, they need help to 

know that’s not ok and that’s not normal…Getting to the refuge and the help 

here has been amazing, invaluable. Going through it with my children has been 

really hard (Survivor, FG1) 

  

- Black and minority women  

Black and minority women believed that services did not understand the cultural 

and religious contexts of their abuse. They spoke of being afraid to seek help and 

of the consequences of leaving which included further violence from other family 

members. Survivors wanted services to have a better understanding of religious 

and cultural issues particularly notions of honour and shame. 

In our communities women are even more scared to speak out or share their 

experience with others. We need to educate these communities so they can 

speak out, get help and support. (Survivor, FG3) 

 

I can’t ever go back. My brothers will kill me. They knew what was going on 

but told me I had to stay as he was my husband. (Survivor, FG3) 

 

Many survivors stated that the police and other agencies were often reluctant to 

intervene as they believed it to be a cultural issue. 
 

No one wanted to help me. I called the police but they said ‘things are different 

in your culture maybe you can work things out’. (Survivor, FG4) 

 

I went to the doctor for 3 abortions in so many months. No one ever asked me 

why. If they had asked I would have told them.  (Survivor, FG3) 

The police don’t really pursue perpetrators in non-white communities because 

they see it as being racist, when what they should be doing is protecting 

women. My husband told me I have two weaknesses – my family and the 

police; the police won’t believe me if I tell them about the abuse, and my family 

will be killed after he chops me up. So I didn’t tell anyone for a long time. 

(Survivor, FG2) 

Tudalen y pecyn 90



26 
 

Police need training and to be held accountable for a stronger response to BME 

perpetrators, despite all the evidence police believe what men and community 

leaders and the family are saying about women, that they’re mad, they’re bad 

mothers, it’s their fault (Survivor, FG4) 

 

The police and others need to be better trained to deal with domestic violence 

and different cultures and to publicise this in different communities in different 

languages – all the time, not just some times of the year.  (Survivor, FG2) 

  

Immigration status and insecurity was a real worry for many minority survivors. 

Many feared destitution as a result of having no recourse to public funds. Some 

spoke of perpetrators using insecure immigration status as part of the ongoing 

abuse by threatening to expose them to police and having the women deported 

and taking their children from them. Services too were often reluctant to help 

victims with insecure immigration status. 

 

All agencies see is an immigration status they do not see us as human beings. 

We need help. (Survivor, FG3) 

 

He told me no one will believe me because of my status, that they will take my 

children from me. (Survivors, FG1)  

 

Not having access to identification papers which then affected their ability to 

access services or prove any identity or status was causing huge difficulties in 

accessing legal help and progressing their cases. Some women faced threats of 

deportation, which they experienced as secondary abuse by the state.  

 

He has all my papers. No one will help me to get them. He’s in {….} and they 

say it’s too far. (Survivor, FG2) 

 

My father is very sick... I haven’t seen him for many years. I have no papers 

and no one can help me get them. I can’t go to my father. (Survivor, FG2) 

I was brought here by him and now they tell me I will have to leave in a few 

weeks. What can I do? I will have to go back – but to what? My family don’t 

know what happened to me and now I don’t know if I will have anything. 

(Survivor, FG6) 

No recourse to public funds was a significant problem for women accessing help 

and support, and in many cases was an immediate problem for some of the 

survivors we spoke to.  

I will have to leave the refuge in 2 weeks because I have no money. (Survivor, 

FG2) 

Where will I go? I will be destitute if I can’t get money in 28 days. I am so 

frightened. (Survivor, FG6) 

Tudalen y pecyn 91



27 
 

Having no recourse to public funds is a huge problem. When I married my 

husband he was supposed to put me onto his own documents but he refused… 

When I left home with my pram and baby bag, I saw housing and social 

workers. I’d had a baby 3 months ago and they both told me – no you can’t go 

back to that house, it’s not safe but at the same time said no, we can’t help 

you because you have no recourse to public funds. What was I supposed to 

do?  (Survivor, FG1) 

Survivors who had lived in the UK for several years and had endured abuse for 

much of that time told us they faced particular challenges moving on from the 

abuse towards independence. The abuse had stripped them of life skills, 

confidence and self-esteem, and they had been prevented from learning English, 

leaving the house, and in some cases accessing maternity care when pregnant. 

These women were subsequently deemed by benefits assessors to have limited 

or no prospect of finding work so their access to Job Seekers Allowance was only 

payable for a limited period.  

I got JSA for a bit and its now stopped so I only get child benefit, £34 per week 

for me and my children, that’s all I have to live on. I’m in a refuge and can’t 

afford to stay there anymore. The benefits agency told me Ive got no hope of 

getting work. I tried to explain I’ve been living with violence for 9 years but 

was kept at home all that time, I was trapped, I couldn’t learn English I wasn’t 

able to learn any skills that would help me work and I don’t have childcare. 

Why don’t they understand that?  (Survivor, FG2) 

How does anyone help a woman like me? I had no one. I never went out. I had 

my child but no one knew or was there to help. Nothing could have helped me. 

I got out by chance. (Survivor, FG3) 

 

If a woman has experienced years of abuse and claims JSA, they should take 

that domestic abuse into account before assessing us as ‘without any prospect 

of work’. (Survivor, FG2) 
 

Survivors also spoke of the system challenging their experience of being victims 

of severe violence and abuse, despite police call-outs and evidence from other 

agencies, including in some cases the state issuing leave to remain for their 

abusers.  

 

They told me to go back home to Africa as I would be safe there because he 

now has his stay [leave to remain]. I called the police 100s of times about him 

and he nearly killed me. The police know all about it. But they let him stay 

anyway. (Survivor, FG2) 

Services need to be improved – legal services, the courts - Ive come here for 

help and support but they didn’t consider my experience…They’ve turned down 

my application for asylum and haven’t accepted the things I’ve been through 

so everything is closing for me (Survivor, FG7).  

Tudalen y pecyn 92



28 
 

Nowhere is safe for women seeking asylum…I feel this is no life for me or my 

children here, I can’t see anything changing. It’s been [like this] from 16 years 

of age in my first marriage, my second husband wanted to traffick me and I’ve 

never slept one night in peace. I want the home office and immigration people 

to understand violence and abuse and what happens to women, we need to 

feel safe. That is my one recommendation for things to change (Survivor, FG7).  

Language was often a barrier to accessing help and support for many minority 

women. Several minority women spoke of not knowing what help and support was 

available because they did not read or speak English and they did not understand 

that services were available to support women experiencing violence and abuse.  

I don’t speak English. How could I call anyone? I did call once but then hung 

up. I was frightened. What could I say anyway? What if he found out? (Survivor, 

FG6) 

I did not even know that I could speak to my GP or tell anyone at the hospital 

what was happening to me. (Survivor, FG4) 

I called {service} 3 times before I told them what was happening. I needed to 

know what they do and be sure they wouldn’t tell him I’d called. (Survivor, FG2) 

Taking English language classes would be good. We need to be able to 

communicate in here and in the outside world. (Survivor, FG4) 

Women can’t speak or say what they’re feeling because of the language, it’s a 

barrier to speaking about the abuse because we’re trying to talk about the same 

thing but in different languages. Even with an interpreter it’s hard (Survivor, 

FG5) 

There were particular concerns raised about access to helplines, including the Live 

Fear Free Helpline and other services that depend on survivors accessing them by 

phone or through leaflets.  

Information should be available in community languages, we can’t all read or 

write in our own languages. It’s a massive cultural barrier to get women to 

come forward…there should be radio or TV ads in our own communities where 

to go for help. Just an image and Helpline and number available. (Survivor, 

FG1) 

The helpline leaflets aren’t helpful, they have too much information on them, it 

doesn’t have any pictures – images would speak to women across all languages, 

for us who can’t speak English very well, this information tells us nothing. We 

need to know there’s help and what the number is, that’s all. (Survivor, FG4) 

Even when you call the helpline you can’t get through if you don’t speak English 

or Welsh, it’s not a person, I called a few times and wanted to hear someone’s 

voice, to hear if they sounded kind, even though I couldn’t speak the language, 

so I could then ask for an interpreter. I called and kept hanging up as it was a 

machine. (Survivor, FG2) 

Tudalen y pecyn 93



29 
 

- Survivors living in rural areas and small communities  

Survivors in rural areas raised a number of issues specific to their abilities to access 

and engage with services. They spoke of their fear of their experiences becoming 

known by the local community and of the stigma associated with this.  

The [local paper] had reported my story from court. I was devastated. They 

did it without me knowing which had ramifications for work. My boss called me 

in to speak to me. Our names and address were in there and everyone who 

knew me knew it was me. (Survivor, FG5) 

He moved away but he’s now moved back. He’s told our friends and everyone 

locally knows what I’ve been through. He’s lied about me. I just can’t get away 

from it. I’ve got to put up with it or move away and why should I? (Survivor, 

FG3) 

Women living in rural or smaller towns or villages also found it difficult to seek 

help because they didn’t trust local professionals to keep this information 

confidential. This problem was exacerbated when their abusers are also known 

locally, and in some cases abusers were the local police officer, GP, court official 

or other well-known community leader.  

He works in the justice system locally so it really limits me still. I was more 

scared of going to court because he worked in the system. (Survivor, FG3) 

I’ve been having really bad panic attacks for years and my doctor has been 

asking me why I get them….My doctor knows everyone in the village and we 

live in a very small village. But I don’t really want to tell her about the abuse 

because I don’t want anyone else to know. (Survivor, FG6)  

Transport issues in many areas meant that survivors who did not have access to their 

own vehicle which they were freely able to use, were forced to use public transport 

which was extremely limited, where it existed at all.  

Some women can’t get out at all because they haven’t got access to a car or 

can’t drive. The only place some women ever get to is the farmers markets. It’s 

impossible to get anywhere sometimes. (Survivor, FG6) 

Broadband and mobile coverage is very limited and in some areas of Wales, non-

existent, which meant finding out about sources of help and support could be almost 

impossible. Survivors spoke of being increasingly isolated and vulnerable without 

access to a phone line or mobile service so that they can get help in an emergency.  

I’ve moved here after several other moves to get away, there’s no landline or 

mobile connection, I was terrified he might turn up and kill me, and there was 

nothing I could do. I had no internet, no mobile signal for a month. I wasn’t 

able to call emergency services. I spoke to the police and they said there was 

nothing they could do. That’s a major flaw in the system that’s supposed to 

protect women from abuse. Why can’t BT lines be prioritised if the police or 

council tell them it’s an emergency? (Survivor, FG3) 

Tudalen y pecyn 94



30 
 

Hospital services including emergency services are often some distance from where 

a survivor lives, and several survivors told us that getting to the hospital could take 

over and hour or more from where they lived. 

It’s really difficult to access regular services in our community, any service at 

all let alone whether they know about domestic abuse. There’s no doctor 

nearby, there’s no A&E – the nearest is an hour away. (Survivor, FG3) 

In some areas there is only one legal practice which was used by local people. This 

meant survivors had to travel to another area to try and get legal advice and 

support.  

He knew the solicitor so got there first. I haven’t got anyone (solicitor) for me 

yet. (Survivor, FG3) 

Survivors who had been placed in rural areas as a result of fleeing an abusive 

relationship said they experienced a culture shock coming from a larger town or 

city. Several said they did not feel accepted even after a number of years of being 

in the area.  

I was moved here from [….]. It’s been 3 years and I still hardly know anyone. 

I feel like a stranger. It can be really lonely. (Survivor, FG3) 

There’s a lot of stigma for single women in small villages. In a city you’re not 

so noticed but in rural areas everyone expects you to be married and you can’t 

really go out on your own if you’re single. It’s a stigma, it’s odd. (Survivor, FG5) 
  

- Women with multiple support needs  

During the consultation we were able to hear from women who had support needs 

relating to mental health support needs, problematic substance use and 

homelessness.  

They stated that they felt judged by some services and felt they got a worse 

response than other women who were being abused, because of their life 

experiences.  

I can’t go to a domestic violence service or a refuge. If they find out I’ve been 

on the streets on the beat that’s it. They look down on you, think your 

worthless, its staff and the other women. (Survivor, FG5) 

The police called because of domestic violence, they’re so used to coming 

round, they just separate him from me and tell him to take a minute, then 

leave. Are they like that with everyone, if women don’t work the beat or aren’t 

known for having been in trouble before, do they do the same? I doubt it…The 

thing is you get beaten so badly after the police come and do nothing, it makes 

you think twice about calling the police again. (Survivor, FG5) 

Tudalen y pecyn 95



31 
 

Sometimes they turn up with women’s aid who tell me about this or that 

support, or about refuges, but I’ve been there before it doesn’t work (Survivor, 

FG5). 

I was there at the back of the court supporting him, I find them [domestic 
abuse advocates] a bit pushy, they turned up at my house and told me ‘you've 
got to prosecute, we’re here to support you’ but what are they going to do 
afterwards, what happens then, they won't be there for me when he comes 
straight home. What will they out in place to protect me then? They've got no  
answers. (Survivor, FG6)  
 
Social services have made it impossible for me to be honest with them. They 
wouldn't work with us…they threatened me with adoption if I had anything to 
do with him. So we went back to lying to them again. We didn't trust them 
(Survivor, FG6)  
 

Survivors with problematic substance use or mental health support needs spoke 

about the inordinate delays they experienced accessing assessments, and they felt 

they were being punished because they found it difficult accessing the service at 

set appointment times.  

It takes months to even get an assessment, and the system is designed for 

women to fail. From assessment to appointment can take 4 months or longer 

and if we miss an appointment we have to start again…Once we’re ready to 

get help, there should be a way of getting from an appointment to a script 

within a week (Survivor, FG5).      

Drug service appointments are 9-5 which it makes it difficult for us to get there 

if we’re working the beat at night (Survivor, FG5).  

Mental health services say to women who are obviously struggling, ‘why are 

you here’, or they say there’s nothing wrong we don’t need help. A woman I 

know tried to kill herself and was told by her doctor ‘that’s only superficial, 

that’s not a real attempt’. (Survivor, FG6).      

Survivors also spoke to us about their concerns about health services medicalising 
their need for support for the trauma they had experienced, and treating them 
with medication, without access to specialist services or other talking therapies. 
Long waiting lists for counselling services and/or lack of provision of therapeutic 
services in some areas was a real concern for many survivors. 
 

When I was pregnant I went to the GP to ask for something, and no matter 

what I’ve been through it’s like they weren’t interested, they gave me tablets, 

I was  pregnant and had another one to look after and I didn’t need those 

tablets because they just wouldn’t help…they just think of me as the problem. 

(Survivor, FG7).      

I disclosed that things had happened which led me to feeling suicidal and there 

and then the police referred me to the crisis team in hospital, they asked me 

Tudalen y pecyn 96



32 
 

do you still feel the same, I said I don’t really know, and they said that’s good 

enough here’s some sleeping tablets, off you go. (Survivor, FG7).      

It feels like the public sector lets us down and the charity sector like here is left 

to pick up the pieces. It’s like you go to a GP or whoever and they can’t deal 

with the trauma, you are psychologically traumatised but you are treated with 

medication, it doesn’t get to the root cause of the problem. Counselling services 

here don’t deal with it as a medical issue. (Survivor, FG7).      

I wanted counselling but the doctor gave me pills because there was a waiting 

list. I didn’t want the pills but took them anyway. When the counselling was 

available I couldn’t go because of the pills – I’d lost all motivation and couldn’t 

speak. (Survivor, FG3) 

Survivors with additional needs said they wanted services available at times suited 

to their needs, and that understood their life experiences and could help them 

without judging them.  

I’m on a methadone script. I’ve been clean for 4 years. I don’t want to still be 

working the beat in 10 years’ time. It’s important to have support – my support 

workers here coordinate my social worker, my probation officer, health visitor 

– so they’re all working to help me. (Survivor, FG5) 

My support worker goes above and beyond, they will see me at night when I’m 

out working, they're a voice at the end of the phone … She's there for anything 

I need, she takes me to hospital appointments, food banks, to the doctor, she's 

there for everything, because I don't have family to help me. (Survivor, FG5) 

Most women like us who need help have experienced child sexual abuse and 

are either now involved in offending because of that or need more support than 

there can be available, and are now victims of abuse as adults. Children need 

support at the time of being abuse … what is there when it happens to us first 

time round? (Survivor, FG5).       

If every woman on the beat had a keyworker from very early on, when they’re 

vulnerable to getting involved… then so many of the other problems we face 

would be less by the time they get to our age. (Survivor, FG5).      

I’ve been using counselling here for coming up to a year and I’m worried it’s 

about to finish, I just want this to carry on… it’s much better to have someone 

listen to you when they’re sat in front of you, speaking with someone you can 

trust, that’s what these ladies have done. (Survivor, FG7).           

This service is good because they stick to what they say they’ll offer. They 
never let me down, if I have an appointment it will happen, there’s consistency 
and there’s an opportunity to open up, talking through years and years and 
years of things that have caused me problems, to work through that in my own 
head and speak about it with someone is good. (Survivor, FG7).           
 

Tudalen y pecyn 97



33 
 

vii. Training for professionals   

Training for all service providers was a recurring theme throughout the consultation 

process. Survivors were concerned that agencies did not understand or were not 

aware of the dynamics and impact of violence against women, domestic abuse and 

sexual violence. This affected the services they delivered to survivors but also agencies 

ability to work together as they were approaching cases form different perspectives. 

Many also stated that training and improved understanding of violence and abuse 

would enable services to better engage with survivors and improve service delivery.  

Professionals don’t always know how to deal with disclosures, and aren’t 

engaging with women who try to seek help. Women only tell someone who the 

feel comfortable with, most professionals get minimal training on this. 

(Survivor, FG6)          

My child has been diagnosed with stress, and they’re not a teenager yet, they’ve 

had psychologists, but find its too difficult to talk about feelings, and the school 

has no training on how to deal with these issues. They were having these 

flashbacks at school, it took one of the refuge workers to go into the school to 

tell them why this was happening. (Survivor, FG1)  

Domestic abuse services need to have training on supporting minority women 

and on our culture, immigration and language support needs are, what our 

rights to public funds are, and so on (Survivor, FG3) 

All agencies need training on sexual exploitation, trafficking, child abuse, and 

mental health and drugs issues… support workers in [specialist services] should 

be respected for the expertise and knowledge they have (Survivor, FG5).        

Survivors also spoke of the importance of community members being trained to 

understand violence and abuse and the help available.  

First aid courses for community groups gives you 2-day training to listen, assess 

level of danger and signpost to support services. If you did something like that 

on domestic abuse, for 2 days, to explain to all people how to refer to specialist 

services, to know who to go to, that might be the first and only time they’ve 

spoken about it so it’s so important that community members know how to 

respond. (Survivor, FG2)          

viii. The value of holistic specialist services  

Survivors spoke movingly of the role of specialist services and the support they had 

received that had helped them move towards independence, autonomy and a life free 

from violence and abuse. Many survivors spoke of specialist services as a lifeline, a 

last hope and the reason they were still alive or with their children.  

One of the least stigmatising services is the refuge and services for women. 

They still have to tell social services if they’re concerned but at least you’ll get 

support while they do it and afterwards. (Survivor, FG1) 

Tudalen y pecyn 98



34 
 

 

I lacked knowledge that women’s aid dealt with emotional abuse, I thought my 

situation was nowhere near as bad as it needed to be to go to a refuge service, 

but my friend persuaded me and it was the best thing I’ve ever done, it saved 

my life (Survivor, FG2) 

Many survivors spoke of the importance of having someone who understood their 

experience but also who could advocate on their behalf when necessary.  

If you haven’t got bruises they think there’s nothing wrong with you… We need 

an advocate who argues our case because you get so many people involved it’s 

a minefield. Even if you have a support worker it’s important to know they’re 

there for you. (Survivor, FG6) 

I cant praise women’s aid enough, they gave me knowledge about my rights 

and options, they challenge social workers when they’ve given me wrong 

information (Survivor, FG4) 

It wasn’t until I spoke with women’s services that I understood what rights I 

had, that I understood it is so important to name your abuse and talk to other 

women about what’s happened (Survivor, FG6) 

Some survivors also talked about the importance of simply being listened to and how 

counselling was helping them.  

Coming here and just talking and sobbing my heart out to someone listening 

to you, being able to talk and talk and talk and talk with no one saying anything 

back…You can never move on, that’s why you need to talk to cope with the 

things that happen  (Survivor, FG7). 

You just want someone to listen and not say to you you’re wrong or you should 

be doing this or doing that because they don’t know what you should be doing. 

They should be there to just listen to you, you have to decide yourself from 

what you say to them ‘yeah im getting better’. (Survivor, FG7) 

They’re just someone you can sit and just talk and talk to without any 

interruptions just about how you feel, it could be anyone because they don’t 

have to talk they just listen, how you feel from very young to what happened 

yesterday you’ve just got that space to talk and say what’s going round and 

round in your head  (Survivor, FG7) 

Whilst many survivors recounted positive experiences of specialist services they were 

aware that these services were not always well regarded by other service providers 

e.g. police and the courts. Survivors wanted to see specialist services given 

professional recognition by other agencies for the services they provide supporting 

women, men and children and the expertise that they bring to this area of work.   

They don’t really like it if you have women’s service in court with you. No one 

listens to them anyway. They should as they know about what’s happened to 

me and understand. (Survivor, FG1).  

Tudalen y pecyn 99



35 
 

Women’s aid should be authoritative enough in the eyes of others to say to 

the police, CAFCASS and any other agencies yes this is domestic abuse … but 

I sometimes get the impression it’s detrimental in court if you’ve had support 

from women’s aid, its looked down on, as like you’re being more vulnerable 

(Survivor, FG2). 

In each of the focus groups and the telephone interview fears were expressed by 

survivors about the impact of austerity measures and cuts to services which may result 

in the loss of specialist violence and abuse services, counselling services and other 

sources of help and advice.  

What will happen if these services go? Who will be there to help? They’re 

already struggling. You can see it but they try to help all the time. (Survivor, 

FG7)  

Survivors were concerned that funding cuts would mean the severing of a vital lifeline 

for them.  

The women in this service saved my life. I couldn’t cope and they gave me my 

life back. I was living in an unreal situation and they understood. They made 

me feel less isolated and helped me find myself again. (Survivor, FG1) 

The refuges …break down the isolation, get you out of the situation, and believe 

you. Even though we’re all from different backgrounds they’re holding us all 

cos they know what we’ve been through. I don’t know what could happen if 

they weren’t here. (Survivor, FG7) 

(Service) was there and they really helped me with money and finding out 

where to go for help but they are gone now as there was no more money. I 

still need help. (Survivor, FG1) 

Funding for services is so important. (Survivor, FG2) 

ix. Peer and group support: Survivors supporting each other 

Many survivors spoke of how much they valued the peer support they received from 

accessing specialist services, individually or in groups.  

Groups really help, peer to peer support really helps … you make the 

connections (Survivor, FG3) 

I wasn’t allowed friendships and children weren’t allowed friendships. So the 

women I got to know through groups are so important to me now, I’ve made 

really strong friendships which I wasn’t allowed to do before. (Survivor, FG4)  

For women in a refuge it was a simple gesture that led to friendships being formed.  

When I came to the refuge I was terrified I didn’t want to be friends with 

anyone, now we’re such a close knit group. I moved in and a lady gave me 

pakoras and I didn’t know why…I just closed the door on her. Now she’s a good 

friend. (Survivor, FG4) 

Tudalen y pecyn 100



36 
 

Meeting other survivors who had also experienced violence and abuse helped survivors 

recognise that their experience was not unique and reduced a sense of isolation.  

The group was the most helpful thing as it made me feel less isolated. I had 

contact with other women and realised for the first time in years that I wasn’t 

the only one living with this. It’s common and it’s what many men do to women 

– that was an invaluable lesson and made me feel stronger, that it wasn’t about 

me, that he had the problem. It helped me to begin to move on, the women’s 

group saved me. (Survivor, FG2) 

Groups are great because women had been going through all this on their own, 

… what we get from the group is the support and connections with other 

women, because we’re all on a journey and we can help eachother along even 

though we’re in different places (Survivor, FG6).  

It’s really self fulfilling to have peer support groups, I can say something 

honestly to my peer and we can make connections and can support eachother 

outside of this group. My biggest problem with it is that it ends … the support 

of women is invaluable (Survivor, FG1)  

Women need more group support because it helps break down the belief that 
it’s only me going through this, it reduces our isolation it helps us make 
connections that this is common – whether we’ve experienced sexual abuse, 
emotional or mental torture or physical beating, it helps us name it so we can 
move on, we need more groups (Survivor FG6)  
 

For some others, groups were inaccessible or considered unhelpful unless women said 

they were ready to talk to others.  

If you work full time you can't access any help, groups are held in the day 
and services close at 5, there's just no help or groups during the evenings or 
on weekend. Why not? (Survivor FG3)  
 
I don't want still to be working in the street in 10 yeas time, but you could have 
put a thousand groups in front of me, but until I was ready I knew it wouldn't 
work (Survivor, FG5).  

 

Many survivors told us about how important drop-in centres, women’s centres and 

places where they could meet other survivors could be, to helping those who have 

experienced violence and abuse recover.  

Drop-in centres are great, they’re critical because we need support when it’s 

most needed. The Friendship Forum here gives us support that we organise – 

like self-defence, yoga classes – that’s fine for us but we need services who 

know what they’re doing for all women who aren’t yet ready to come to a wider 

forum. (Survivor, FG1) 

Tudalen y pecyn 101



37 
 

I’m stuck and I can’t see any way out. I wouldn’t ever go through the door of 

a council office or call the police unless it was a dire emergency. They’ve 

brainwashed you into thinking its normal and you’re trapped anyways so even 

if someone asked me I would deny it. But being able to come to a centre like 

this, where there are women there in groups like this one we’re in today, that 

would give me the courage to plan to move out, it would help if I know I could 

get support without telling someone official (Survivor, FG6) 

 

x. Children and young people  

 

Many survivors repeatedly stated their primary concern was the impact of the violence 

and abuse on children. Survivors wanted children to be heard and to be able to access 

specialist support separate and distinct from the support being given to their 

mothers/carers.  

 

The children need support too. They need to be able to get help to help them 

understand what’s happened. (Survivor, FG1) 

There’s no one to listen to children especially if they’re under 6. (Survivor, FG4) 

We have asked [service] for parenting courses, and for play groups for children, 

and for child care, they say there’s no money. That would be one thing I would 

like to see. (Survivor, FG2)  

 

Survivors were very concerned about preventing children and other young people from 

experiencing further violence and abuse in their lives. They welcomed any efforts to 

ensure that all those working with children and young people had access to 

information that helped them identify abuse and be able to recognise it should it 

happen, and to know where sources of support could be accessed if needed.  

Children need to know what’s wrong and right in relationships, what’s 

acceptable, and what help is available – what services there are. It needs to be 

age appropriate, in primary school – it should be compulsory and not out of 

choice as parents and some children may not get it. As they get older, in 

secondary schools, boys already hit girls in school, for the sake of it and no-

one challenges it. It needs to continue all the way through university” (Survivor, 

FG1). 

The focus group participants wanted programmes in school to begin with young 

children as early as possible and to be available to all boys and girls.   

My child he’s seen and heard a lot. I’m glad I got out because if I stayed any 

longer he would think it’s more normal. But they should have sessions in at 5, 

6, 7 years of age; it needs to start very early on. (Survivor, FG3).  

I want my daughter and her friends to know. I wish I’d had more knowledge, 

I never saw it coming and I’m not stupid, but we just didn’t have any education, 

Tudalen y pecyn 102



38 
 

any awareness. I didn’t know there were services here to help me. This should 

be taught in all schools. (Survivor, FG6). 

Survivors stated the need for children and young people to be able to access 

confidential services at school to ensure that those who are living with abuse are not 

identified or singled out. 

The worse thing was the children didn’t have the option of speaking to someone 

at school. They wouldn’t say anything to a teacher of a police officer ‘cos they 

don’t want everyone to know but if there was a support worker there for 

children I’m sure they’d have spoken to them. (Survivor, FG6) 

Survivors stated that therapeutic services for children to help them understand their 

experiences were either extremely limited or not available at all. Survivors who had 

engagement with the family courts and child contact proceedings were especially keen 

to ensure that provision for support for children was made available. Survivors 

expressed concern at how children were subject to ongoing emotional abuse as a 

result of child contact issues and that this had a significant impact on both mothers 

and children who had to go through the process with limited support.  

The children need help just for them, but maybe not in school because they 

may be embarrassed or worried their friend’s will find out. Someone needs to 

listen to the children. (Survivor, FG1) 

Survivors were aware of the impact of the abuse on their relationships with their 

children and their ability be a parent. They used various strategies to address this but 

spoke of being judged by services.  

I can’t work and I’ve been diagnosed with PTSD after the abuse. I’ve left my 

children with {…}s and see them regularly but at I’ve got services telling me 

they should be with me. I know I’ve not got enough support to cope with 

supporting the children at the moment. They’re safe and happy why would I 

risk that? (Survivor, FG5)  

Some survivors also told us about their need to have support for themselves, when 

their children have also disclosed or experienced child abuse by the perpetrator, but 

this had not always been forthcoming.  

I wanted a service there for me, someone to explain what sexual abuse was, I 

tried to cope …I had to understand all that and no one gave me support…I just 

cried every night and started drinking to block this out (Survivor, FG7). 
 

xi. Criminal Justice Services 

Survivors had mixed experiences of criminal justice services. 

I called the police and they were brilliant. They referred me to women’s aid to 

get the help I needed. (Survivor, FG6) 

Tudalen y pecyn 103



39 
 

They asked him to leave the property which he agreed to. The following day 

women’s aid contacted me having had my details from the police, which was 

great. That’s what made the police response good for me – to get help from 

here as I didn’t know these people and these services existed. (Survivor, FG1) 

Everyone says ‘phone the police’, but they don’t do anything. They’ll send him 

away and he’ll be back in an hour and kicks down the door. (Survivor, FG4) 

I don’t think the police know enough about domestic abuse. I was 17 when I 

first spoke to police and they used to say ‘why don’t you just leave him?’ they 

helped him more than they helped me. He went to court and there were more 

agencies around him and wanting to help him than me. When he told them it 

was my fault he did this and that, they believed him – they gave him 

counselling, they offered him parenting sessions but no one told me about 

refuges or offered me support. (Survivor, FG2).  

I didn’t have secure status when my abusive situation started, I called in the 

police over 49 times over a few years, but because I didn’t have my immigration 

status, they would tell me to call social services, give me options to go back to 

Africa or go back to him This went on for 5 years. (Survivor, FG1). 

Many survivors stated that they did not feel safe and were looking for protection, and 

how they continued to feel unsafe after criminal justice services had taken action 

against the perpetrators. Court orders, prison sentences and injunctions seemed to 

have little effect at keeping some of the survivors safe from further abuse.  

He was given 6 weeks in prison for attacking me but as soon as he was released 

he came straight back to me. It’s his home and he’s my son. What can I do but 

let him in and it starts all over again. (Survivor, FG4) 

The court said he has to stay 100 metres away from the house. He does stay 

that far away but he stands and watches – all the time – I don’t know what 

he’ll do next. (Survivor, FG1) 

His 3 previous wives have gone through similar. Despite all the evidence the 

courts believed him. So now he’s stalking me and no-one’s interested. 

(Survivor, FG1) 

What would be helpful is for him to be kept away and for him to not know 

where I live ever. (Survivor, FG7)  
 

xii. Family Justice Services and legal aid 

The family justice system12 was the most negatively experienced by survivors who 

participated in this consultation. Every focus group highlighted significant criticism in 

relation to family court processes, child contact proceedings and the consideration 

given to domestic and sexual abuse.  

                                                           
12 This included problems with legal aid, CAFCASS, social workers, contact centres and family courts.  

Tudalen y pecyn 104



40 
 

Survivors in many areas talked about their experience of perpetrators using the family 

court system to continue to abuse and control them.  

In family court the fact that you’re not allowed to bring in past issues doesn’t 

make sense when it’s domestic abuse. Judges should be allowed to hear this. 

He defended himself and just spoke and spoke and I wasn’t allowed to answer 

any of the lies. (Survivor, FG1) 

The family court system can continue abusing you after you’ve left your ex – 

it’s like the system abuses you all over again. (Survivor, FG3) 

They put you back in the same room as the abuser, to try to get you to mediate 

with him when he holds all the power and has dominated you for years, you 

haven’t got a chance it’s not equal. (Survivor, FG1) 

Survivors stated that, unlike the criminal justice system, the family courts did not 

appear to understand domestic abuse and its impact on the non-abusing parent or 

the children. This lack of understanding resulted in not being able to access the help 

and support needed by survivors and their children, through the court process.  

Court services aren’t utilising all the services in place that victims need. 

(Survivor, FG6) 

CAFCASS has not been helpful. I had to go to see them [where he’s from] so 

I’m trying to see them here because I don’t want him to know where I am. 

They don’t seem to know about domestic abuse or what I’ve been through. 

This is still going on years later and the issue is still not resolved. (Survivor, 

FG3) 

Survivors also spoke of a lack of a joined up approach between criminal and family 

court cases, where in some cases women felt family courts were not aware there was 

also a criminal case being investigated.  

He went to prison but the family courts were just interested in him seeing the 

children. I’m not sure they even knew about the prison stuff. (Survivor, FG3) 

Cross border working was also raised as an issue particularly in relation to contact 

proceedings.  

He had other relationships where he did the same thing. There were children 

too and he always wanted contact. Why didn’t the courts make the 

connections between the cases? I know they were in England but they need 

to know about when they’ve done this before. (Survivor, FG3)  

CAFCASS didn’t make the connections between my experience and the ex-wives 

he’s had before. He’s done the same to them, we’re all going through court. 

There was clearly a pattern but maybe because it was cross border they don’t 

connect this up. They should look at the history of abuse. In the end it was his 

word against mine and the children didn’t get a look in. (Survivor, FG5) 

Tudalen y pecyn 105



41 
 

Survivors stated that they felt the courts did not look positively upon involvement of 

specialist services or other services that know about the violence and abuse. In some 

regions, survivors spoke of CAFCASS preventing support workers from domestic abuse 

services from attending appointments with women.  

They were awful…I was a wreck when I first left, I couldn’t sit in a room with 

him on my own so I had someone from women’s aid come with me, the 

CAFCASS officer thought I was a drama queen, they felt sorry for him and told 

women’s aid they couldn’t come in with me even though they didn’t say 

anything, she was just there to help me feel I could go into the room, I was 

that terrified (Survivor, FG2).   

Many survivors said they felt that family justice system professionals seemed to side 

with the perpetrator, and dismissed evidence of abuse presented by women and 

children.  

He won’t let my daughter access her own support through a domestic abuse 

service. She was offered activities, groups with other children and he said no 

way’, he wouldn’t have his child having their own support. I told CAFCASS I’d 

like my child to go access support, and she said to me ‘there’s no sign of 

emotional abuse in your relationship so I don’t see why your child needs to go 

to this service’, she told me I’m not a victim of domestic abuse. (Survivor, FG3) 

My CAFCASS officer went to see my ex and he put on the charm and she was 

taken in. She came back and told me ‘there’s no domestic abuse going on here.’ 

They should be professional and trained and see through what they’re being 

told by abusers. Instead the court report was written making out I was lying. 

They don’t see him as a stereotypical abuser so don’t believe he’s capable of 

that, they just go on what he says to them which is part of the way they 

continue abusing us. (Survivor, FG7) 

Many survivors stated that the abusive parent’s rights to see his/her children seemed 

to override the safety and well-being of their children, during family court proceedings, 

despite the intent of the law to put the child’s safety, wishes and feelings first. 

Children aren’t listened to, these children who are afraid of their fathers are 

going through hell. CAFCASS isn’t there for them, just for him. (Survivor, FG1)   

My child is bed wetting, not concentrating, terrified of seeing their father and 

in a total state before and after the visit, which I have to manage. Yet CAFCASS 

don’t seem concerned about that at all. My child is dragged kicking and 

screaming to contact visits…My child tells CAFCASS they don’t want to see their 

dad, they tell them he frightens them…Why aren’t they speaking up for children 

and making the case that this isn’t in their best interests, it’s harming them? 

(Survivor, FG1) 

Survivors spoke of the non-abusing parent often being seen as being obstructive or 

lying to stop contact. Survivors stated that they were having real difficulty proving the 

abuse they and their children had suffered, to the family courts.  

Tudalen y pecyn 106



42 
 

Going to the family courts, you’re just treated like dirt, you’re accused of lying. 

(Survivor, FG1) 

My husband is trying to take my son, he’s going for custody. I’ve been told the 

family court judge may not believe the abuse because I don’t have any 

evidence. The fact finding meeting suggested I’ve not really been abused. This 

is a man who cons everybody. He’s nice to everyone but he’s been degrading 

me my whole life. How will I prove it? (Survivor, FG1) 

Survivors in many instances spoke of family justice system services prolonging and 

reinforcing the abuse they had experienced by perpetrators. Survivors felt they and 

their children were not heard or understood in cases of child contact and family 

proceedings.  

I didn’t feel listened to by CAFCASS. The report they submitted to the court 

wasn’t based on what I told them. She’s biased towards him and against me 

because he works in the system, and it’s his word against mine. (Survivor, FG5) 

Family courts and CAFCASS need training. Women and children aren’t being 

heard. (Survivor, FG1)  

My children don’t want to see their dad after what he's done, they're scared 
of him, where can children tell someone this and where are children listened 
to? (Survivor, FG2)   
 

My daughter is dragged screaming to visits with my ex. She runs away from 

him in the car park. It’s like he’s abducting her, she doesn’t want to go and 

she’s scared and it breaks my heart. I’m her Mum and there’s nothing I can do 

to protect her. Why do they let this happen? It’s like they’re on the side of the 

abuser. It’s wrong that children don’t have a voice in family courts. (Survivor, 

FG3) 

Many survivors believed that perpetrators were using child contact as a mechanism of 

ongoing control and that this was either not understood or ignored by the court and 

related agencies.  

All agencies that have authority are simply being used as weapons against us 

by the abuser, it’s part of their game, there’s supposed to be equal rights for 

both parties but it doesn’t happen. The children are living in a war zone and so 

am I. it’s just a form of state violence. (Survivor, FG1) 

The reason he wanted my daughter was to keep the house and get the child 

tax credits. Now he’s got the house he doesn’t want her he sent her back to 

me – that’s fine for me and my daughter. The courts can’t see the games he’s 

playing. (Survivor, FG1) 

He showed my daughter all the court documents and said “mum said this about 

me and mum said that about me” which is just emotionally abusing her. She’s 

too young to have to deal with that, it’s also made me not able to say what I 

Tudalen y pecyn 107



43 
 

needed to in court because I knew he would show her every detail. He 

brainwashed her against me. (Survivor, FG6)   

The costs of childcare for court attendance was an issue of concern for some survivors.  

Costs of childcare is a big problem. I’ve been in family court on and off for over 7 

months with my husband and any time I have to go to court I need childcare, I 

need to be back there tomorrow and I don’t have anywhere to leave my child. 

Social services and CAFCASS say I can’t help you. Do they want me to bring my 

baby to court for 3 to 4 hours? No, they won’t let me. So what am I supposed to 

do with my child? I’ve tried registering them at nursery as I only need it when I 

need childcare, I can’t pay for nursery all the time, I can’t afford it. If the family 

court is dragging me to court they should provide me with childcare. (Survivor, 

FG3)  

Survivors in many areas spoke of the facilities available for supervised and supported 

contact in their area, which are provided by a range of agencies across Wales. 

Concerns were expressed about the availability, location and access to suitable 

supervised contact facilities, following a family court decision.  

If there are kids involved, the whole process of contact after leaving abuses 
you all over again. There's a lack of contact centres that can provide proper 
supervised not supported contact, the closest is [  ] which is hours away and 
it's only available once a fortnight (Survivor, FG6).  
 
The contact centres in […] only have volunteers in, no one who knows what to 
look out for... I’m concerned about safety every time we go there. (Survivor, 
FG4) 

  

We need adequate supervised contact centres around Wales that know about 
domestic abuse and a CAFCASS service that is trained in domestic abuse and 
listens to children and knows about the damage contact can make unless it’s 
safe. (Survivor, FG2) 

 

Survivors also spoke of problems with not being able to access legal aid, and the 

additional trauma this had caused them.  

When you finally have the confidence to leave, there are so many problems 

with the courts and solicitors, we have no access to legal aid and the men, they 

have your money and they can get legal help so they keep their power; even if 

you have a good job and earn money, it doesn’t mean it’s yours to use to 

protect yourself (Survivor, FG1).  

There’s no come back on the men, they get money, they get the children, they 

can buy the best lawyers and they continue to abuse me after I’ve left. I have 

to travel 2 hours to access a legal aid lawyer, the abuse just carries on by the 

system (Survivor, FG2). 

Tudalen y pecyn 108



44 
 

There’s very few legal aid lawyers in Wales, there’s not much choice, especially 

if you want specialist support with family matters and immigration issues. They 

have offices in the cities so there’s no access to legal advice in other areas 

(Survivor, FG4).  

It doesn't help when you can't get legal support and your ex is cross examining 
you in court, when he presents the case against you it's him and the judge 
against you (Survivor, FG6).  

  

He turned me into an absolute wreck. Yet on the surface he’s a middle-aged 

respectable businessman who does everything to appear like a normal 

charming person. I thought I was going absolutely mad, I’ve got boxes of 

evidence and the thing that let me down most of all was the family court. I had 

to represent myself, I’m in debt, I sold everything I owned to pay for a barrister, 

and the judge thought he was untouchable, they believed every word he said 

(Survivor, FG1).  

 

xiii. Social Services 

A number of survivors told us they were very wary and suspicious of social services 

and their motives. There was a still an accepted view that social services would 

remove children from non-abusing parents if they did not comply with social 

services procedures, and survivors did not feel there was enough – or any – onus 

on the abusers to stop their abuse.  

Social services tell him one thing, and they tell me if I don’t leave him, I’ll lose 

my children. (Survivor, FG6) 

Social workers came out to see me, 4 months ago, but they haven’t seen me 

since. Because I’m in a refuge agencies assume you’re ok, leave you there 

without any support or without anyone challenging the abuse (Survivor, FG1).  

It’s the way they say to me, do this and don’t do that, and they can come into 

my house whenever they want. Why aren’t they going after him, who’s been 

so abusive to us (Survivor, FG1). 

I would advise every woman to stay away from social services, all they want to 

do for victims of abuse is put the children up for adoption, not help us look 

after our kids. We walk into social services for help and they don’t understand, 

they put us in more danger (Survivor, FG4).          

Some survivors told us that social services had not responded positively to their 

attempts at seeking help, and many said they felt judged and blamed for the abuse.  

I went to social services, they weren’t interested and said ‘we don’t have 

funding for you’ and ‘you have to go back to London’ (Survivor, FG1). 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 109



45 
 

Because I decided to stay in the house I get no support from social workers or 

anyone in the council. They assumed that because I didn’t leave the house, 

because my children had issues about being frightened of moving, they 

assumed it wasn’t that bad (Survivor FG2). 

Social services are the worst agency to get involved, because we know we will 

end up losing our children. They have so many rules for us to follow and if we 

don’t follow the rules we will lose our child, they look in the fridge, they ask my 

daughter what I’m doing, they check if my house is clean. And it’s not us who’s 

done anything wrong… (Survivor, FG3). 

I am still with my violent partner and all social services do is come round to see 

if everything is ok. They put my children on the register and go away, and leave 

me to it... I just need help. (Survivor, FG1).  

Social services didn’t tell me about refuges, they just scared me by threatening 

to take my children away … if they’d have helped and told me about these 

services I could have got away sooner, I wouldn’t have stayed so long with the 

abuse. (Survivor, FG2).  

All social services said was we’ll get you back in a room with him to talk about 

it. But I didn’t want to go near him after what he’d done. I feel social services 

are not very good, I’ve got no praise for social services, the way they’ve treated 

my son and myself (Survivor, FG7).  

Safeguarding training was a particular concern for some survivors.  

Safeguarding training for agencies just isn’t enough. It gives a bit of knowledge 

but there’s no information or in depth understanding of domestic abuse 

included in safeguarding courses. (Survivor, FG3)  

Some told us that the advocacy the received from specialist services helped them keep 

their children in their care. 

If it wasn’t for women’s aid I wouldn’t have kept [my children]. Social services 

didn’t think I was strong enough to look after them, so I had to hand them 

over, and I had to prove to them I was ok to have them back; the support 

workers helped me get through that. (Survivor, FG2) 

Survivors stated that the safety of them and their children should be paramount in 

cases of violence and abuse. They felt that this was not the case and that survivors 

were judged and sometimes asked to mediate with the abuser.  

What social services seem to be doing in domestic abuse is erring on the side 

of treating everyone the same but what they should be doing is erring on the 

side of children’s safety because what happens time and again is they expect 

women to mediate with their own abusers when they’ve lived with them in a 

war zone, and if you don’t do this you’re judged by agencies for failing in some 

way or for not doing what they expected you to do. (Survivor, FG1)   

Tudalen y pecyn 110



46 
 

xiv. Independence and moving forward 

In each of the focus groups and in the telephone interview survivors stated that whilst 

they highly valued specialist services, they did not want to become dependent upon 

services but wanted to be able to access skills, training and employment in order to 

gain independence and move forward with their lives. They spoke of setting an 

example for their children and gaining financial independence.  

For most of us mothers here it’s important we can settle children and move into 

a settled home life again as quickly as possible. A place to live, work, money, 

a future. So the children see a better life. (Survivor, FG5)  

Some things that survivors said they needed help with included English language 

teaching for minority women 

I’m desperate to get help to support me with a CV and to get help to get skills 

and to learn English and to find a job. That’s the only way I can see to survive. 

(Survivor, FG2) 

Survivors also said they wanted to find out more information about training, education 

and other learning opportunities with a view to accessing employment opportunities. 

You need to help women to move away from the abuse and have a new life. It 

should be important to get new life skills and we should be able to link to other 

services to do this. (Survivor, FG1)  

Services help with benefits, doctors, schools and urgent things, but then the 

dependency comes in and women aren’t helped to move on to live well on their 

own, to make community links, to get English lessons, to stand on their own 

two feet and to get work if they can, even practical help with CVs or skills so 

they’re not dependent on these services for ever. Otherwise the service is a 

substitute for the family or for them getting a new life (Survivor, FG2). 

xv. Housing 

Housing was a significant issue for many survivors, and concerns ranged from 

extended lengths of stay in a refuge, accessing affordable housing, issues with private 

landlords, housing benefit allowances and eligibility, to issues around getting furniture.  

I was living in a house for 13 months with just a bed, without any furniture or 

heating, it was freezing cold, there was nothing left and he still harassed me. 

(Survivor, FG2) 

Private landlords are the worst. They keep you there for 6 months if you’re 

lucky and put the rent up and there’s just no security. It’s not possible to get 

out if you can’t afford it. (Survivor, FG1) 

I’ve been told I can’t stay in […] because I have no local connection …..that 

shouldn’t matter if you’re a victim of domestic abuse. They should look at your 

safety, local connection shouldn’t come into it. (Survivor, FG6) 

Tudalen y pecyn 111



47 
 

A small but significant number of survivors who attended groups had been in refuge 

accommodation for some time, ranging from 6 months to, in one case, two years.  

I’ve been in the refuge for two years now. I’m hoping to get a place soon but 

then I’ve got to get everything to go in it. I just want a home for me and my 

son. (Survivor, FG6) 

Survivors questioned the approach that always resulted in the victim of the abuse and 

any children having to move.  

Why did I have to leave? They always make the woman move. He gets to stay 

in the house with everything and he’s the one who has done wrong. There’s no 

consequences. I’ve lost everything – my belongings, the kids toys, everything. 

It’s not right. (Survivor, FG2) 

No one ever said to me when the police came that they should remove him – 

every time it’s been me and my child that’s left. (Survivor, FG1) 

The cost of finding alternative accommodation was a barrier to moving forward and 

single women were also concerned about their lack of housing options.  

It takes ages to get rehoused here, there’s nothing available, and if you find 

anywhere you can’t afford it. (Survivor, FG6)  

Single women under 35 shouldn’t have to live in a shared house or stay in a 

refuge until they can afford to move out that just tells them to stay with the 

abuse until they’re 35. (Survivor, FG6).  

There should be a combination of refuges, support in your own home and 

support into houses where women have moved on either from the refuge or 

from abuse. (Survivor, FG6) 

xvi. Communication, media, raising awareness  

Despite many years of raising awareness about violence against women, domestic 

abuse and sexual violence, survivors in each of the focus groups said much more 

needed to be done to raise awareness of the different forms of abuse and where to 

seek help. Many survivors said that as they were not suffering physical violence they 

did not recognise their own experiences in the images of victims portrayed in publicity 

or by services.  

The verbal and emotional abuse, it happens so slowly, you get to thinking 

there’s no other way. It was a total eye opener coming to a domestic abuse 

service and realising what I’d been through. (Survivor, FG6) 

Survivors spoke of their fears and the potential consequences of disclosing the abuse 

to a service and/or professional.  

I was scared when I went to the hospital with broken bones. I wanted to tell 

them but I was terrified. I didn’t know how to tell or how to report or what they 

would do with the information. (Survivor, FG4). 

Tudalen y pecyn 112



48 
 

Survivors wanted to see more advertising on television and radio – not just as part of 

a short-term campaign – but ongoing so that they could access the information needed 

without any risks from the perpetrator. Comparisons were made with child abuse 

campaigns and advertising. Although some survivors recognised that the child abuse 

advertisements on television were focused on funding and donations they felt that the 

campaign was still able to convey the different forms of abuse and name an 

organisation that could help.  

There’s an advert on TV about child abuse and they show the different things 

(forms of abuse) – you know – and there’s a number. It’s on all the time. They 

should do something like that. (Survivor, FG4)  

Minority women also recommended the use of television and radio as a means of 

sharing information about violence and abuse that was safe for them and would not 

arouse the suspicions of the perpetrator. Several survivors talked about how health 

services used television advertising in promoting health campaigns to minority 

communities e.g. diabetes and stroke campaigns, in which a generic advert is dubbed 

in community languages and shown throughout the day.   

Survivors wanted information to be much be widely available including online.  

Having online support would be really helpful, as I can’t find anything that helps 

me during the day or for me to see anyone in person. I’d rather it be 

anonymous. But then some libraries don’t have computers so how would they 

get help? Is there any information in local libraries? (Survivor, FG1) 

Survivors in rural areas spoke of the difficulties they and others faced in accessing 

help and information, and that information should be available in as many locations 

as possible. 

Farmers markets are the only place married women I know go. They should 

have this information there or articles should regularly be in the [local paper], 

posters in the hairdressers and dentists and local libraries. To give women 

options and the chance of seeing something. Youth clubs and young farmers 

too. Young people need to know what to look out for. (Survivor, FG3) 
 

Information about the help there is should be everywhere women go, like 

supermarkets, pharmacists, on local radio, in local community halls and in every 

GP surgery, or if you work your employer should publish this as routine. It 

should just be everywhere. We should be able to go somewhere and see what 

help there is. The local shop should have posters. (Survivor, FG6) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 113



49 
 

xvii. Misperceptions and misinformation 

 

Over the course of the focus groups it became clear to the facilitators that there were 

a number of misconceptions and misinformation that was affecting survivors’ ability 

to engage with services and to understand the experiences of others. There are three 

points to highlight in this regard. 

 

Firstly, a small number of survivors said that limited ability to access services was a 

result of an increasing immigrant and migrant population, as well as survivors being 

placed in refuges out of area, across Wales. They felt that this had resulted in a 

shortage of housing, health services including counselling and support workers. 
 

I’m sorry but I have to say it. It’s the immigrants. If they weren’t all here there 

would be enough money for everything. Me – and these other women would 

be able to get housing. But they’ve got it. I know people won’t like it but it has 

to be said. (Survivor, FG6) 

 

Secondly, the male survivor who participated in this consultation said that he and 

other male survivors he knew, believed that services for women received all the 

funding and male victims of violence and abuse were disregarded.  
 

There are all these services for women and nothing for the men. The women’s 

services get all the funding. (Survivor, telephone interview) 

 

Finally, survivors in rural areas were concerned that funding was disproportionately 

distributed to cities resulting in a lack of services in their areas.  
 

Welsh government needs to give more money to [rural areas] rather than give 

it all to Cardiff. Just because it’s more rural here that doesn’t mean we don’t 

need support. (Survivor, FG6) 

 

These misconceptions must be addressed and challenged in order to avoid building 

resentment between communities and survivors.  

 

Tudalen y pecyn 114



50 
 

5. Recommendations 

Recommendations for the National Strategy in Wales  

SUMMARY:  

Survivors strongly recommended that a national framework for ongoing 

survivor engagement and involvement be prioritised and resourced by Welsh 

Government that enables survivors to educate, advice and inform services on 

improving their practice.  

Survivors also identified 10 key recommendations for priority inclusion in the 
updated national strategy, to be delivered by Welsh Government:  
 

1. Dedicated specialist services for children and young people impacted by or 
experiencing domestic abuse, sexual violence, FGM, forced marriage, sexual 
exploitation or harassment, available in every area.  

2. Specialist domestic abuse and sexual violence services for survivors that are 
accessible and resourced to meet the needs of specific survivor groups, 
available in every area.  

3. Improved awareness of and response to violence against women, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence by professionals involved in the family justice system 
(CAFCASS Cymru, judges and court personnel, contact centres), and safe child 
contact with parents/carers following separation, in cases of domestic abuse 
and sexual violence.  

4. Accessible ‘refuge service’ support in every area, accompanied by safe, 
affordable, longer-term housing options for survivors of abuse, that provide 
flexibility, choice and meet survivors’ needs.    

5. Women’s groups and peer support available in every area, to reduce isolation 
and maximise independent spaces that increase confidence, esteem, and 
empowerment.  

6. Protection and support for all survivors who have no recourse to public funds, 
to ensure equal access to safety, support, protection and justice, and finances 
to live independently, irrespective of survivors’ immigration and residency 
status. 

7. Counselling and therapeutic services for survivors that is available, in every 
area, when needed, is age-appropriate, and helps build resilience and recovery 
from abuse.  

8. Greater focus on stopping perpetrators’ behaviour and holding them to account 
by public services, and where violence and abuse involves coercive control, 
action by public services to ensure perpetrators leave and end abusive 
relationships.   

9. Improved training for all services on all aspects of violence against women, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence, informed by survivors’ experiences. 

10. Preventing violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence from 
happening in the first place, through compulsory prevention education in all 
schools and colleges, increasing awareness of the issues and the help available 
in local communities across Wales.  

 

Tudalen y pecyn 115



51 
 

Survivors stated that it is important the needs of all survivors be addressed in the 

development of national and regional strategies, including survivors in rural and urban 

locations, in Black and minority communities and those who face immigration issues, 

survivors who are disabled, who are lesbian bisexual or gay, who are young or older, 

who are transgender, and survivors whose life experiences lead agencies to define 

them as having multiple and/or complex needs (for example if they have mental health 

or substance abuse needs, if they are involved in the criminal justice system or in the 

sex industry, if they are homeless or in the care system).  

The stated aims of the Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 

Act (2015) is to improve prevention, protection for survivors and provision of 

services. In addition to the key priorities survivors identified that the strategy should 

address (above), additional issues and recommendations emerged during the 

consultation process which either addressed each of these aims or cut across and 

encompassed all three aims.   

The additional issues and recommendations made by survivors across all groups and 

interviews, are outlined below. 

 

Additional recommendations for the National Strategy, for Welsh 

Government, commissioners and public services:  

 

PROVISION  

Independent violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence 

support services 

 To ensure high quality specialist support services, accessible for all survivors of 

violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence, in every area, that 

are independent of state agencies and include:  

o community outreach and advocacy support that meets needs e.g. one stop 

shops, women’s centres     

o refuges that have dedicated support for survivors and their children  

o age-appropriate, specialist services for children and young people  

o counselling and timely therapeutic support for children  

o perpetrator programmes with partner support integral to the programme  

o specialist services for Black and minority families 

o safe suitable and affordable housing and rehousing options 

o Sexual assault referral centres  

 To ensure specialist services are available unconditionally, meet needs, and help 

survivors with immediate needs as well as achieve long term independence and 

freedom from abuse.   

Tudalen y pecyn 116



52 
 

 To provide access to specialist services in a range of locations, including in 

communities and through co-located locations in other agencies (eg co located 

specialist support workers in health, police, social services, housing, education).   

 To provide more counselling services that survivors can access when they need it.  

 Provision of a range of safe, supported housing (refuges, dispersed units with 

access to specialist support), which is accessible for survivors including older 

women, women in the sex industry, and women with substance use problems.  

 To ensure that survivors involved in the sex industry have access to an independent 

support worker, who can coordinate and support services to meet their needs, help 

divert or safely exit from the sex industry, and navigate agency systems to support 

their engagement with other services.  

 To review and address the accessibility of the Live Fear Free helpline for survivors 

with additional support needs, including language support needs. 

 To ensure provision of support for child survivors of violence and abuse who are 

in refuges and that specialist support is available in communities for children who 

have experienced violence and abuse that is specifically focused on their needs.   

 To ensure provision of groupwork with survivors of violence against women, 

domestic abuse and sexual violence is available and accessible for all survivors.  

 Dedicated drop-in ‘women’s centres’ for women survivors of abuse that is accessible 

to all women where they will not be judged, where women can be supported to 

meet their needs irrespective of the type of abuse they have experienced. This 

would include being supported to exit from prostitution, poverty, addictions and to 

achieve independence from violence. Provision should include a range of services 

including sexual health support, targeted group work to help recover from abuse, 

access to advocacy and counselling.  
 

Social care services 

 To ensure social workers are trained in all aspects of violence against women, 

domestic abuse and sexual violence, to better identify and respond to survivors 

and perpetrators across all services and departments.     

 Provision of co-located domestic and sexual abuse support workers in social care 

services, to take referrals following disclosure of abuse.  

 To ensure adequate and accessible safe supervised or supported child contact 

facilities, following separation, in cases of domestic abuse, provided by staff or 

volunteers trained in domestic abuse.    

 To ensure that government initiatives such as Flying Start which are available in 

areas associated with disadvantage, are not bound by geography but include 

disadvantage associated with domestic and sexual abuse.  

 To ensure provision of domestic and sexual abuse services for children in 

appropriate settings that meet their needs.  

 To ensure provision of domestic and sexual abuse support services for young 

people in the care system who need it.  

 To ensure provision of support for mothers of children who have been victims of 

child sexual abuse.  

Tudalen y pecyn 117



53 
 

 To develop systems for the transition of survivors from children to adult services 

and ensure that survivors are supported through this process so they are able to 

access the services they need.   

 To incorporate in depth domestic and sexual abuse training in all safeguarding 

courses – for adults and children. 

 To ensure forced marriage and FGM are seen as key safeguarding issues. 
 

Health services 

 To ensure health services are trained in all aspects of violence against women, 

domestic abuse and sexual violence, to better identify and respond to survivors 

and perpetrators across all services and departments.     

 To ensure mental health service professionals understand the needs of survivors, 

and that services are accessible in a timely manner for survivors of violence and 

abuse.   

 To ensure that survivors are seen alone by health practitioners, and that there is 

a co-located specialist domestic abuse/sexual violence support service /worker 

available who can offer support following disclosure.  

 To make more specialist therapeutic counselling services (individual and group 

support) available and accessible for survivors affected by violence and abuse, and 

ensure that counsellors have received training and understand different forms of 

violence and abuse e.g. domestic abuse, sexual violence, female genital mutilation, 

forced marriage, honour based violence. 

 To incorporate training on domestic and sexual abuse in safeguarding courses for 

vulnerable adults.  

 To improve links between health access points and specialist support services, and 

facilitate specialist support services available at GP and health centres.  

Housing services 

 To ensure housing services are trained in all aspects of violence against women, 

domestic abuse and sexual violence and to better identify and respond to survivors 

and perpetrators across all services and departments.     

 To ensure appropriate, safe housing provision for older people who have 

experienced violence and abuse, with specific needs that cannot be met in refuges. 

This accommodation could support independence but also be used to provide 

respite, healthcare and protection. 

 More support for survivors of domestic abuse to stay in their own homes when 

safe to do so and training for agencies to remove the perpetrator and address their 

abusive behaviour.  

 To work with housing providers to ensure that the needs of domestic and sexual 

abuse services are incorporated within housing strategies and policies.  

 To work with Benefits Agency to ensure that the needs of domestic and sexual 

abuse survivors are addressed.  

 To improve access to information about benefit entitlement in order to secure 

affordable and appropriate housing.  

Tudalen y pecyn 118



54 
 

PROTECTION  

 To ensure all agencies have a greater focus on perpetrators that incorporate 

sanctions and prioritise survivors and children’s needs and safety.  

 To ensure the behaviour of perpetrators is taken into account and risk assessed by 

all agencies when making decisions about child contact.  

 To ensure criminal, family and civil justice services are trained in all aspects of 

domestic abuse, sexual violence and violence against women, to better identify 

and respond to survivors and perpetrators across all services and departments.     

 To work with telecommunications providers to develop a system that prioritises 

installations in rural areas for survivors who have fled violent and abusive 

situations.  

 To ensure all services have systems that enable them to see survivors alone 

without the perpetrator present and, where an interpreter is needed, that an 

independent language service is used.  

 To improve police responses to survivors of abuse who are involved in the justice 

system and/or involved in the sex industry.  

 To ensure equal access to protection and justice irrespective of immigration status. 

This would include for example, ensuring that Welsh Government Ministers and 

officials work with UK government departments to ensure: 

o Improved access to legal advice for survivors with specific immigration 

needs.  

o UK Borders Agency arrange immigration appointments in Wales to avoid 

women having to travel significant distances for appointments; and they 

explore taking copies/holding copies of identification documents as a person 

enters the country so these can be electronically accessed at a later date.   

o UK Borders Agency and Home Office ensure that survivors of abuse can use 

electronic records of their ID papers when they no longer have hard copies 

with them as a result of fleeing violence.  

o Relevant embassies explore the possibility of survivors of violence and abuse 

being able to access embassy services in Wales. 

 To improve access to and effectiveness of legal aid in offering protection against 

violence and abuse.  

 To work with relevant agencies to ensure the specific needs are addressed of 

survivors of violence and abuse who have no recourse to public funds and/or are 

EU nationals unable to access benefits after a fixed time period and  face 

destitution. 

 The possibility of a national emergency ‘destitution fund’ is explored in Wales for 

survivors without recourse to public funds who do not have access to the domestic 

violence concession.  

 To ensure all survivors whose cases are progressing through court have access to 

advocacy and pre-trial counselling as appropriate, and to review ways of improving 

communication between criminal and civil legal systems so that violence and abuse 

is effectively addressed and that the family court process does not contradict 

orders made in criminal courts.  

Tudalen y pecyn 119



55 
 

 To ensure advocacy and support is available for survivors involved in civil legal 

action relating to violence and abuse, particularly advocacy and support in relation 

to the family justice system.  

 To improve training and understanding of domestic and sexual abuse and its 

impact for CAFCASS Cymru and all associated legal personnel involved in child 

contact proceedings, and that its impact is fully considered by family court 

professionals.  

 To ensure survivors of domestic abuse attending the family court have access 

special measures, similar to those available in criminal courts e.g. separate waiting 

areas, safe access/exit routes, and screens if needed. 

 To ensure that survivors of domestic and sexual violence and abuse are no longer 

involved in mediation meetings with perpetrators and that they receive specialist 

support throughout the court process where possible.  

 

PREVENTION  

Training 

 Training for all frontline staff in all services and for this to be cascaded.  

 To ensure all training includes emotional and psychological abuse, coercive and 

controlling behaviour, financial abuse, sexual exploitation, forced marriage, and 

sexual violence and abuse.  

 Ensure specific focused training for child protection officers, social workers, 

teachers, and others in the voluntary sector working with children about violence 

and abuse, and how to respond effectively.  

 To ensure that all services have training on religious and cultural issues and how 

these can impact on survivors of violence and abuse.  

 To ensure that all services have training on immigration issues and no recourse to 

public funds. 

 To develop a programme of prevention focused initiatives that addresses the 

gendered nature of violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence, 

the types of abuse, coercive and controlling behaviour and healthy relationships.   

Media  

 To ensure media campaigns raise awareness about forms of violence and abuse, 

the services available, and national and regional helplines.  

 Ongoing publicity campaigns targeting survivors and the help available should be 

developed for television and radio and shown throughout the day (including 

community channels in different languages).  

 To ensure that publicity materials are widely disseminated and available; these 

should include publicity materials focussing on coercive controlling behaviour, 

emotional abuse, sexual and financial abuse. Targeted publicity should focus on 

the help available for survivors in rural areas, those from minority communities, 

amongst older people, young people, LGBT communities, and male survivors. 

Tudalen y pecyn 120



56 
 

 Publicity campaigns should also target  

o different agencies so they are aware of the range of services available for 

survivors of different forms of violence and abuse.  

o family and friends so that they know what help is available for survivors and 

their children. 

o Journalists and the television companies so they report stories of violence 

against women more responsibly and include more storylines about violence 

and abuse in their programmes, with a focus on Wales-based media.   

Education 

 To work with education providers nationally and locally to ensure mandatory 

healthy relationships education for all school pupils, and all schools and colleges to 

focus on awareness raising and prevention. 

 Provision of peer support for children and young people in schools, and for children 

and young people to have access to school counselling services that are trained in 

sexual and domestic abuse.  

 To work with relevant education bodies to support survivors to gain skills and 

qualifications to support them in moving towards independence. This can include 

English language classes, literacy and numeracy classes, support to find paid 

employment and/or training etc.  

 Improved access to affordable childcare so that survivors with children can engage 

with education, training and employment.  

 

Specific priorities for action for the Independent National Adviser 

Survivors were encouraged when told about the developments planned as part of the 

implementation of the Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 

(Wales) Act 2015.  

Many of the recommendations directed at the National Adviser were focussed on 

ensuring that Welsh Government, and public and third sector services, delivered the 

recommendation made for the strategy (as set out above).  

Survivors agreed that it is for the National Adviser to work with the relevant national 

and regional agencies and contacts to ensure that the recommendations contained 

within this report are taken forward. However they were concerned that whilst these 

are being developed, that there would be a delay in improved interventions in the 

short term.  

Survivors recommended a plan be developed and disseminated by the National Adviser 

that addressed immediate needs for prevention work, protection and support, that 

includes prioritising holding Government and Public Authorities nationally and 

regionally to account for taking action to deliver improvements in the following areas 

in the short term, whilst ensuring all recommendations made are implemented in the 

longer term:  

Tudalen y pecyn 121



57 
 

 Media and publicity campaigns 

 Sustainable funding for specialist services 

 Education 

 Immigration 

 Family and criminal courts 

 The development of a sustainable model for future survivor engagement.  

 

Survivors also strongly recommended that the advisor be responsible for ensuring 

Welsh Government works effectively with Westminster to make sure that criminal and 

family law issues and immigration concerns are addressed. They felt that closer 

alignment is needed between action being developed in Wales and responsibilities for 

public services as set out by the UK Government.  

They also felt that the Adviser should review lessons learned from the way media and 

publicity campaigns for health (diabetes) and/or child abuse (NSPCC) are currently 

delivered, to ensure these are applied to improving publicity on violence against 

women.  

 

Survivor engagement: Recommendations for sustainable involvement  

Survivors consulted strongly supported a coordinated approach to ensure consistent 

survivor engagement across Wales. 

Survivors recommended that the National Strategy requires agencies to work directly 

with survivors to develop a number of ways of utilising survivor experience to inform 

and improve practice and policy. There was much positive support received for a 

model for survivors to be supported – and resourced – to empower and educate 

service to improve their responses to violence and abuse (SEEDS).  

Some additional suggestions included: 

 Supporting survivors in local communities to signpost women to known, safe 

sources of help and support, where appropriate   

 Developing befriending and group support services, and a national network of 

peer support groups where survivors are trained and supported to support other 

women.   

 Training and supporting survivors to form groups to research issues or problems 

with practice and educate services about these, and on how to improve their 

response.  

 Engaging survivors in the development of training materials, e.g. by using filmed 

clips to support agencies’ training.  

 Supporting survivors to continue to meet after group work programmes end so 

that informal friendship forums evolve.  

 Training and supporting survivors to volunteer and gain education and 

employment in the sector wherever appropriate.  

Tudalen y pecyn 122



58 
 

 Group support where women can meet each other. This would open up a safe 

space for women to meet, access help and support when needed and know that 

they are not alone.  

 Including survivors in the development of publicity material to ensure that 

campaigns reflect their experiences.  

 

6. Final Comments – what survivors gained from the consultation 

 

At the end of the focus groups many of those who participated wanted to tell us how 

they felt about being part of this process.  

 

I want to help other women who experience domestic violence. It’s been good 

to have a chance to do that today. (Survivor, FG3) 

 

This was good, I think we should be able to feed back to other services, on a 

more regular basis. If they listened to us more maybe things could be better 

for others. (Survivor, FG4) 

 

It was good to hear women who left longer ago than me, that they can say 

that things are better for them now. There’s hope for me too. (Survivor, FG1) 

 

I think it’s important that we say what we think — so that women and children 

are protected. (Survivor, FG5) 

 

It was good to be here, to contribute to changes being possible. (Survivor, FG3) 

 

It’s been good. I liked meeting the other women. (Survivor, FG7) 

 

It gave me a chance to reflect back and see where I’ve come. Survivor, FG1) 

 

Some survivors said they would be keen to participate in further consultation.  
 

Survivors have lived through violence and abuse. They know first-hand what it is like 

and what may help others in a similar situation. This report is an opportunity for 

agencies to receive direct feedback and recommendations from survivors. It is vital 

now that Welsh Government and partner agencies are prepared and willing to use the 

feedback it receives. This can really have an impact on future services and resources 

for families impacted by violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence 

in Wales.  

 

  

Tudalen y pecyn 123



59 
 

Appendix One 

Survivors Consultation: Information for agencies  

Wales Strategy for addressing Domestic Abuse, Sexual Violence & all forms of Violence 

Against Women    

 

I am writing to let you know about a small number of focus groups Welsh Women’s Aid has 
been asked to organise, and to report on survivor recommendations to Welsh Government 
officials, by the end of March 2016.  
 
The purpose of the groups is to help contribute survivors’ voices to the development of a 
new national strategy in Wales to prevent domestic abuse, sexual violence and all forms of 
violence against women. We also want to gather survivors’ views on what the priorities 
should be for the Independent National Advisor in her first year, and on how survivor 
involvement should be established and supported across Wales, in future.  
 
The 6-8 focus groups, which will last around 2-2.5 hours maximum, will target survivors 
who are in touch with specialist services in Wales. Whilst survivors of violence who have 
recently accessed services will be the main contributors, we particularly aim to hear views 
from diverse backgrounds and experiences. The focus groups will be led by experienced 
facilitators, and will have Rhian Bowen Davies in attendance in her role as the National 
Independent Ministerial Advisor on Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual 
Violence.  
   
All contributions will be confidential, and feedback on the group’s recommendations will 
only be reported in an anonymous manner to the Welsh Government. We will be offering 
survivors a token of thanks for their time and to cover expenses they might have incurred, 
in the form of vouchers, after the group.  
 
I have contacted you as I hope your service can support survivors to attend focus 
groups on the proposed dates (see email), to enable survivors’ voices to be heard, 
to inform this strategy development. If you are able to support survivors attend these 
groups, or if you already have a group you would like us to speak with or can offer a venue 
at your premises, please do get in touch.  
 

I have attached a protocol for the focus group, which provides some background information, and 

an attendance nomination form for the group, which you should complete and return to Welsh 

Women’s Aid: AliceMoore@welshwomensaid.org.uk. If you have any questions about the enclosed 

information or would like further details, please get in touch with Alice or I on 02920 541551.  

Thank you for your help with such a vital task. 

Yours sincerely, 

Eleri Butler  

CEO, Welsh Women’s Aid 

Tudalen y pecyn 124

mailto:AliceMoore@welshwomensaid.org.uk


60 
 

Focus group protocol 

 

1. Purpose of the focus group 

To responsibly record the views of survivors who have experienced violence and recently used 

services, to inform: 

- the development of the Wales Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual 
Violence Strategy  

- the priorities for the Independent National Advisor in her first year, and  
- how survivor involvement should be established and supported across Wales, in 

future.  
 

Welsh Women’s Aid is committed to hearing the views of survivors from diverse backgrounds 

and experiences. Separate groups will be held with women and men, to maximise safety. The 

groups will primarily be attended by groups leads who can communicate in English or Welsh; 

where survivors have additional language support needs, interpreters or signers will be 

arranged to support the groups (advance notice of additional support needs is needed).   

2. Purpose of this protocol 

To provide information on what can be expected from the focus group and to ensure those 

wishing to attend these focus groups are not harmed or endangered in any way as a result. 

3. Contacting survivors to attend the consultation focus groups 

Welsh Women’s Aid will use its existing contacts with specialist services in order to contact 

survivors who voluntarily have expressed an interest in attending any of the consultation focus 

groups. Welsh Women’s Aid will hold these names in its office and will not, under any 

circumstances, share these with any other agency or use them for any future consultations, 

unless express permission is provided from an individual. If so, Welsh Women’s Aid will only 

do this in the way that is dictated as safe by that survivor participating in the group. 

4. Who will be at each consultation focus group 

These are survivor-only focus groups, and will be for women-only or men-only.             

At each focus group there will be: 

• (Approximately) 6 - 12 survivors; and AS A MAXIMUM: 

• Facilitators to guide the process and ensure survivors get a chance to contribute to the 

consultation; and the Independent National Advisor on Gender-based Violence   

• Welsh Women’s Aid staff members to oversee the logistics of the day and to transcribe 

proceedings; 

• Interpreters (as required). 

All of these people listed above are committed to and bound by this protocol. 

5. Format for the consultation focus groups 

The focus groups are not support groups and facilitators will not be asking about experiences 

of abuse. Questions will focus on survivors’ views about preventing violence and abuse, how 

Tudalen y pecyn 125



61 
 

should agencies support and protect survivors, what should the national priorities be, and how 

can survivors be better involved in national and local developments future.  

Each group will last for approximately 2 – 2.5 hours. Refreshments will be available on arrival 

and where appropriate a sandwich lunch will also be provided. Each focus group will broadly 

follow a programme such as that outlined below, although groups will be sufficiently flexible in 

response to survivors’ needs and circumstances: 

Approx. times 

15 minutes Welcome / introductions / about the consultation 

40 minutes Discussion – feedback on use of services  

30 minutes Discussion – priorities for prevention, protection and support  

20 minutes Discussion – feedback on good practice for survivor involvement   

15 minutes Round-up and close 

A verbal outline of the proposed national priorities of a strategy will be provided. All additional 

content will also be verbally presented and collected. There will be no requirements to read or 

write unless participants wish to. Should survivors who attend the focus groups offer advice 

on how the programme might work better, we will consider this and alter it where necessary. 

The focus groups have not been designed to act as a ‘support group’. However, Welsh 

Women’s Aid will ensure that survivors who attend are in contact with local support services, 

should they need support following the group. The facilitators will also have on hand a list of 

agencies which can offer support and guidance following each event. 

6. Access and additional support  

Welsh Women’s Aid will only book venues for the consultation focus groups which are 

recommended by specialist services as meeting the support needs of survivors.  Signers and 

interpreters will be provided where necessary. To assist with the costs that may be incurred, 

Welsh Women’s Aid will be providing those attending the focus groups with some form of 

reimbursement, for example in the form of supermarket or high-street vouchers as appropriate. 

Welsh Women’s Aid aims to hear the views of women from diverse backgrounds and 

experiences. Survivors attending will be encouraged to complete equality monitoring forms 

after each event (this will be voluntary) in order for us to make sure we invite a range of 

different survivors to attend and participate – not just those who can easily make their voices 

heard. 

7. Recording and storage of material collected at the focus groups 

In order to accurately reflect survivors’ views, Welsh Women’s Aid will need to record key 

issues arising from the focus groups. Information will be recorded in written form and if agreed 

by all attendees, a back-up in the form of a recording may be used. It should be noted that 

any tapes made of proceedings will only be used to cross-reference to recommendations and 

to provide anonymous, non-identifiable quotes in the final report, as necessary.   

There will be ground rules for ‘no use of surnames’ in order to help survivors feel more 

comfortable in sharing views and information. Welsh Women’s Aid will use the feedback from 

the focus groups to publish a report to Welsh Government to inform the development of the 

National Strategy.  

Tudalen y pecyn 126



62 
 

All written material and recordings will be held in a locked filing cabinet in Welsh Women’s Aid 

office. It will not, under any circumstances, be shared with any other agency, nor will it be used 

for any other purpose than to feed in to the development of this consultation. Following 

production of the report, the recorded material will be destroyed. 

8. Use we will make of the consultation material 

Welsh Women’s Aid will be producing a report summarising the key findings from the focus 

groups. Survivors who attend these focus groups will not have the opportunity to comment on 

this report due to the tight timeframes of this programme of focus groups.  However Welsh 

Women’s Aid commits to providing timely feedback to focus group participants by distributing 

the finished report to the organisations involved in supporting these groups, so survivors can 

view the report in this way – or directly - if they wish.  

 

Thank you very much for your help. 

Please contact Welsh Women’s Aid by emailing AliceMoore@welshwomensaid.org.uk or 

calling 02920 541551.  

Tudalen y pecyn 127

mailto:AliceMoore@welshwomensaid.org.uk


MA - L/CS/5196/16

Pwyllgor Cydraddoldeb, Llywodraeth Leol a Chymunedau
Equality, Local Government and Communities Committee 
ELGC(5)-08-16 Papur 2 / Paper 2

Gwaith craffu ar ôl y broses ddeddfu mewn perthynas â Deddf Trais 
yn erbyn Menywod, Cam-drin Domestig a Thrais Rhywiol (Cymru) 
2015

Papur gan Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Gymunedau a Phlant cyn 
ymddangos gerbron y Pwyllgor ddydd Mercher 19 Hydref 2016

Cefndir

Derbyniodd Deddf Trais yn erbyn Menywod, Cam-drin Domestig a Thrais 
Rhywiol (Cymru) 2015 (y Ddeddf) Gydsyniad Brenhinol ar 29 Ebrill 2015 ac 
mae’r holl ddarpariaethau sy’n ymwneud â’r Ddeddf bellach wedi dod i 
rym. Mae’r Ddeddf yn ddarn hanesyddol o ddeddfwriaeth, ac yn torri tir 
newydd fel y gyfraith gyntaf o’i bath yn y DU.  

Diben cyffredinol y Ddeddf yw gwella ymateb y sector cyhoeddus yng 
Nghymru i drais ar sail rhywedd, cam-drin domestig a thrais rhywiol. Ei 
bwriad yw rhoi ffocws strategol ar y materion hyn a sicrhau y rhoddir 
ystyriaeth gyson i ddulliau ataliol, amddiffynnol a chymorth wrth ddarparu 
gwasanaethau.

Roedd rhagflaenydd y Pwyllgor yn y Pedwerydd Cynulliad, y Pwyllgor 
Cymunedau, Cydraddoldeb a Llywodraeth Leol yn gyfrifol am graffu ar y Bil 
Trais ar sail Rhywedd, Cam-drin Domestig a Thrais Rhywiol (Cymru) cyn 
iddo gael ei ailenwi a dod yn Ddeddf. Adroddodd y Pwyllgor Cymunedau, 
Cydraddoldeb a Llywodraeth Leol ar y Bil yn Nhachwedd 2014 ac roedd 
hefyd yn gyfrifol am ystyried diwygiadau Cyfnod 2 i’r Bil yn Ionawr 2015.

Mae’r papur hwn yn rhoi diweddariad ar y cynnydd a wnaed wrth weithredu 
darpariaethau’r Ddeddf a’i heffaith hyd yma fel y nodir drwy gylch gorchwyl 
y Pwyllgor.

I ba raddau mae’r dull o fynd i’r afael â thrais yn erbyn menywod, 
cam-drin domestig a thrais rhywiol yn gwella o ganlyniad i 
rwymedigaethau’r Ddeddf?

Rydym wedi gwneud cynnydd sylweddol o ran ein dull o fynd i’r afael â 
thrais yn erbyn menywod, cam-drin domestig a thrais rhywiol ac rydym yn 

Tudalen y pecyn 128

Eitem 3



MA - L/CS/5196/16

hyderus y bydd yr hyn yr ydym yn ei wneud yn cael effaith ar welliant o 
ganlyniad i rwymedigaethau’r Ddeddf.

Strategaeth Genedlaethol

Un o rwymedigaethau’r Ddeddf yw dyletswydd i baratoi, cyhoeddi ac 
adolygu Strategaeth Genedlaethol. Rhaid cyhoeddi’r Strategaeth 
Genedlaethol gyntaf heb fod yn hwyrach na 6 mis ar ôl dyddiad yr etholiad 
cyffredinol cyntaf a gynhaliwyd ar ôl cychwyn yr adran hon. Ar hyn o bryd 
mae Llywodraeth Cymru yn ymgynghori ynghylch y Strategaeth a daw hyn 
i ben ar 10 Hydref. Bydd fy swyddogion yn adolygu’r ymatebion ynghyd â 
mewnbwn a gafwyd o 3 digwyddiad rhanddeiliaid a gynhaliwyd ledled 
Cymru yn ystod Medi a chaiff hyn oll ei ystyried ar gyfer y strategaeth 
derfynol a fydd yn cael ei chyhoeddi ar 4 Tachwedd. Rhoddir ystyriaeth 
hefyd i ganfyddiadau’r Pwyllgor wrth ddatblygu fersiwn derfynol y 
Strategaeth.
  
Mae’r Strategaeth yn adeiladu ar gynnydd ar y cyd o’r Sector Cyhoeddus 
hyd yma, ac yn blaenoriaethu’r meysydd atal, amddiffyn a darparu 
cymorth, yn unol â diben y Ddeddf. Mae’r amcanion arfaethedig fel a 
ganlyn: 

 Trefniadau ar gyfer atal trais yn erbyn menywod, cam-drin domestig 
a thrais rhywiol; 

 Trefniadau ar gyfer amddiffyn dioddefwyr trais yn erbyn menywod, 
cam-drin domestig a thrais rhywiol; 

 Cymorth i bobl yr effeithir arnynt gan drais yn erbyn menywod, 
cam-drin domestig a thrais rhywiol. 

Y tri diben yma sy’n sail i’r Strategaeth hon ac yr ydym ni’n disgwyl i 
bartneriaid eu defnyddio fel sail i ystyried a datblygu eu strategaethau a’u 
polisïau hwy eu hunain.

Strategaethau Lleol

Rhaid i bob Awdurdod Lleol a Bwrdd Iechyd Lleol fynd ati ar y cyd i baratoi 
strategaeth leol ar gyfer ardal yr awdurdod lleol.

Wrth baratoi ac adolygu strategaeth leol, rhaid i awdurdod lleol a Bwrdd 
Iechyd Lleol ystyried y canlynol —

(a) y strategaeth genedlaethol ddiweddaraf a gyhoeddwyd;
(b) yr asesiad diweddaraf ar gyfer ardal yr awdurdod lleol o dan 
adran 14 o Ddeddf Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Llesiant (Cymru) 
2014 (dccc 4) (asesu anghenion am ofal a chymorth, cymorth i 
ofalwyr a gwasanaethau ataliol);
(c) yr asesiad strategol diweddaraf a baratowyd yn unol â 
rheoliadau o dan adran 6 o Ddeddf Trosedd ac Anhrefn 1998 (t.37) 
sy’n ymwneud â lleihau trosedd ac anhrefn yn ardal yr awdurdod 
lleol; 
(d) yr asesiad strategol diweddaraf a baratowyd yn unol â 

Tudalen y pecyn 129



MA - L/CS/5196/16

rheoliadau o dan yr adran honno sy’n ymwneud â mynd i’r afael â 
cham-drin sylweddau yn ardal yr awdurdod lleol;
(e) yr asesiad strategol diweddaraf a baratowyd yn unol â 
rheoliadau o dan yr adran honno sy’n ymwneud â lleihau 
aildroseddu yn ardal yr awdurdod lleol.

Cyllid Grant Gwasanaethau Cam-drin Domestig

Yn 2015-16 dyrannwyd £4.97m o gyllid refeniw i sefydliadau er mwyn 
darparu gwasanaethau effeithiol mewn perthynas â Thrais yn erbyn 
Menywod a Cham-drin Domestig i ddioddefwyr ledled Cymru (£4m o 
refeniw; £0.97 o gyfalaf.)  

Yn 2016-17 cafwyd cynnydd o £500,000 yn y gyllideb refeniw i £4.5m, gan 
ddod â’r gyllideb i gyfanswm o £5.4m, a oedd yn golygu y gellid cynyddu’r 
dyraniadau i Awdurdodau Lleol. Mae tair ardal yn cael eu hariannu ar sail 
ranbarthol yn 2016-17 – Gwent, Powys a Chwm Taf sy’n cynnwys Merthyr 
Tudful a Rhondda Cynon Taf. Mae’r dyraniadau wedi bod yn seiliedig ar y 
boblogaeth sy’n byw ym mhob ardal Awdurdod Lleol.  

Mae cyfanswm y gyllideb wedi’i dyrannu fel a ganlyn:
 £1,937,730 wedi’i ddyrannu i Awdurdodau Lleol 
 £1,979,820 wedi’i ddyrannu’n uniongyrchol i sefydliadau’r Trydydd 

Sector i roi cymorth i holl ddioddefwyr trais yn erbyn menywod, cam-
drin domestig a thrais rhywiol, yn cynnwys dioddefwyr sy’n ddynion. 
Mae’r cyllid hefyd yn cwmpasu’r broses o ddarparu’r Llinell Gymorth 
Byw Heb Ofn. 

 caiff £582,450 ei ddyrannu i weithredu Deddf Trais yn erbyn 
Menywod, Cam-drin Domestig a Thrais Rhywiol (Cymru) 2015 sy’n 
cynnwys gweithredu’r Fframwaith Hyfforddi Cenedlaethol, 
canllawiau statudol ar nifer o faterion; ariannu’r Cynghorydd 
Cenedlaethol a Chyhoeddusrwydd.

Gwnaed buddsoddiad cyfalaf sylweddol dros y pum mlynedd diwethaf - 
£5.3 miliwn – drwy ddatblygu’r rhwydwaith o 21 o Siopau Un Stop ledled 
Cymru sy’n cynnwys gwasanaethau i fenywod, dynion a phlant.     

Fframwaith Hyfforddi Cenedlaethol

Cyhoeddwyd y Fframwaith Hyfforddi Cenedlaethol ar drais yn erbyn 
menywod, cam-drin domestig a thrais rhywiol ar 17 Mawrth 2016 a daeth i 
rym ar 1 Ebrill 2016. Mae Canllawiau Statudol y Fframwaith yn amlinellu 
cyfres o ofynion gwahanol ar gyfer hyfforddiant ar draws y gwasanaeth 
cyhoeddus a’r trydydd sector arbenigol yn dibynnu ar y rôl dan sylw.

Mae Adran 4 o’r Fframwaith Hyfforddi Cenedlaethol yn ganllawiau statudol 
a gyhoeddwyd o dan adran 15 o’r Ddeddf a daeth i rym ar 1 Ebrill 2016; 
rhaid i holl ofynion statudol y Fframwaith sy’n ymwneud â dyddiad penodol 
gydymffurfio â’r dyddiad hwn. Arferion da a gyhoeddir o dan adran 60 o 
Ddeddf Llywodraeth Cymru 2006 yw gweddill y canllawiau.

Tudalen y pecyn 130



MA - L/CS/5196/16

Mae’r Fframwaith Hyfforddi Cenedlaethol wedi’i anelu at bob Gweithiwr 
Proffesiynol yn y Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus yng Nghymru, yn enwedig y 
rhai sy’n ymwneud â dysgu a datblygu, y rhai sy’n gweithio ym maes Trais 
yn erbyn Menywod, Cam-drin Domestig a Thrais Rhywiol ac Arweinwyr 
Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus.

Un o brif elfennau’r broses o weithredu’r Fframwaith yw codi 
ymwybyddiaeth Awdurdodau Perthnasol o’u dyletswyddau a’u 
cyfrifoldebau o dan y Fframwaith ac egluro’r disgwyliadau o ran pwy ddylai 
wneud beth. I’r perwyl hwnnw, cyhoeddodd fy swyddogion becyn 
gwybodaeth ddechrau mis Hydref ar gyfer Awdurdodau Perthnasol a oedd 
yn cynnwys rhestr o’u dyletswyddau a thempled cynllun hyfforddi. 

Fel rhan o’r Fframwaith mae Llywodraeth Cymru yn treialu “Gofyn a 
Gweithredu” sef dull ymholi wedi’i dargedu ar draws y gwasanaethau 
cyhoeddus ynglŷn â thrais yn erbyn menywod, cam-drin domestig a thrais 
rhywiol. Bydd hyn yn rhoi hyder i weithwyr proffesiynol ‘Ofyn’ os byddant 
yn gweld arwyddion o gam-drin a ‘Gweithredu’ mewn modd priodol er 
mwyn sicrhau, os bydd dioddefwr yn datgelu gwybodaeth o’r fath, ei fod yn 
cael y gofal priodol. Ar hyn o bryd rydym yn gweithio mewn partneriaeth â 
dwy ardal beilot (pum Awdurdod Lleol Gwent a Bwrdd Iechyd Lleol 
Prifysgol Abertawe Bro Morgannwg) i brofi dull ‘hyfforddi’r hyfforddwr’ o 
ddarparu hyfforddiant Gofyn a Gweithredu a datblygu dull llywodraethu 
rhanbarthol ar gyfer Gofyn a Gweithredu. Yn dilyn gwerthusiad o’r dull hwn 
yn gynnar y flwyddyn nesaf byddwn yn llunio’r Canllawiau Gofyn a 
Gweithredu terfynol ac yn eu cyflwyno’n genedlaethol ledled Cymru o 2017 
ymlaen.

O ran gwneud gwahaniaeth, dim ond megis dechrau mae’r Fframwaith 
Hyfforddi Cenedlaethol a bydd yn cymryd nifer o flynyddoedd i gael ei 
ymgorffori’n llawn o fewn gweithlu’r awdurdodau perthnasol a thu hwnt. 
Mae’r arwyddion cynnar yn gadarnhaol ac mae’n amlwg bod croeso mawr 
i’r Fframwaith o ran codi ymwybyddiaeth ymhlith gweithlu’r sector 
cyhoeddus er y cydnabyddir bod cyfathrebu rheolaidd yn hanfodol ac y 
bydd Llywodraeth Cymru yn monitro effaith y Fframwaith Hyfforddiant 
Cenedlaethol yn fanwl iddo fynd rhagddo.

Grŵp Cynghori ar Drais yn erbyn Menywod, Cam-drin Domestig a 
Thrais Rhywiol

Diben y Grŵp hwn oedd darparu safbwynt strategol ar gyfer y sector ac i 
randdeiliaid roi cyngor arbenigol i ategu’r broses o weithredu’r Ddeddf yn 
ogystal â chefnogi polisïau a rhaglenni.  

Mae trefniadau, ffocws ac aelodaeth bresennol y Grŵp hwn wedi’u 
diwygio’n ddiweddar ac mae’n amlwg bod angen i Lywodraeth Cymru 
sicrhau bod lleisiau a phrofiadau’r sector cyfan, yn cynnwys goroeswyr yn 
cael eu clywed.

Tudalen y pecyn 131



MA - L/CS/5196/16

Mae’r grŵp cynghori yn chwarae rhan bwysig o ran casglu safbwyntiau o 
bob rhan o’r sector ond mae angen iddo hefyd roi cyngor strategol imi. 
Gofynnir i’r grŵp roi mewnbwn strategol sylweddol dros y misoedd nesaf, 
yn cynnwys, er enghraifft, ar y Strategaeth Genedlaethol, ymgysylltu â 
goroeswyr, Dangosyddion Cenedlaethol a threfniadau datganoli cyfrifoldeb 
i’r rhanbarthau ar gyfer y dyfodol.

Anffurfio Organau Cenhedlu Benywod 

Cyflwynodd Llywodraeth y DU Ddeddf Troseddau Difrifol 2015 a 
gyflwynodd ddarpariaethau i amddiffyn a chefnogi dioddefwyr a’r menywod 
sydd mewn perygl o ddioddef anffurfio organau cenhedlu. Mae 
Llywodraeth Cymru wedi bod yn gweithio gyda’r Weinyddiaeth Gyfiawnder 
a’r Swyddfa Gartref ar nifer o ganllawiau statudol sy’n ymwneud â 
chyflwyno dull adrodd gorfodol, gorchmynion amddiffyn rhag anffurfio 
organau cenhedlu benywod a’r canllawiau amlasiantaeth ehangach.

Daeth adrodd ar achosion o anffurfio organau cenhedlu benywod yn 
orfodol ar 31 Hydref 2015. Mae’r ddyletswydd yn ei gwneud yn ofynnol i 
weithwyr iechyd a gofal cymdeithasol proffesiynol rheoledig ac athrawon 
yng Nghymru a Lloegr roi gwybod i’r heddlu am achosion hysbys o 
anffurfio organau cenhedlu ymhlith merched o dan 18 oed.

Cyhoeddodd y Swyddfa Gartref Ganllawiau Ymarfer Amlasiantaeth 
diwygiedig ar Anffurfio Organau Cenhedlu Benywod ar gyfer pob unigolyn 
sy’n arfer swyddogaethau cyhoeddus ar 1 Ebrill 2016. Mae’r canllawiau 
hyn yn ganllawiau statudol o dan Ddeddf Troseddau Difrifol 2015. Mae’r 
canllaw yn nodi cyfrifoldebau prif weithredwyr, cyfarwyddwyr ac uwch 
reolwyr o fewn asiantaethau sy’n ymwneud â diogelu a chefnogi menywod 
a merched y mae anffurfio organau cenhedlu yn effeithio arnynt.

O ganlyniad i adroddiad “Tackling FGM in the UK – Intercollegiate 
recommendations for identifying, recording and reporting” a gyhoeddwyd 
gan Goleg Brenhinol y Bydwragedd, datblygodd Llywodraeth Cymru a GIG 
Cymru ffrwd waith Iechyd mewn perthynas ag anffurfio organau cenhedlu 
benywod. 

Yn dilyn arolygiad Arolygiaeth Cwnstabliaeth Ei Mawrhydi a oedd yn 
edrych ar ymateb Heddluoedd i Drais ar sail Anrhydedd, Anffurfio Organau 
Cenhedlu Benywod a Phriodasau dan Orfod, penderfynwyd uno’r Grŵp 
Arwain Trais ar sail Anrhydedd a Phriodas dan Orfod a’r Grŵp Arwain 
Strategol Anffurfio Organau Cenhedlu Benywod. Cynhaliwyd cyfarfod 
cyntaf y Grŵp Arwain Strategol Trais ar sail Anrhydedd ar ei newydd wedd 
ar 15 Mawrth 2016, ac mae’r grŵp wrthi’n cwblhau Cynllun Gweithredu 
2016-2017, a fydd, o hyn ymlaen, yn cwmpasu anffurfio organau cenhedlu 
benywod, trais ar sail anrhydedd a phriodas dan orfod.

Mae swyddogion yn parhau i weithio’n agos gydag Uned Anffurfio Organau 
Cenhedlu Benywod y Swyddfa Gartref er mwyn lleihau’r risg bosibl o 
anghysondeb ag unrhyw ganllawiau a gyhoeddir o gan Ddeddf Trais ar sail 

Tudalen y pecyn 132



MA - L/CS/5196/16

Rhywedd, Cam-drin Domestig a Thrais Rhywiol (Cymru) 2015 a Deddf 
Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Llesiant (Cymru) 2014 er mwyn sicrhau 
bod strwythur a threfniant gwasanaethau datganoledig yn cael eu 
hystyried.

Beth yw’r ffyrdd mwyaf effeithiol o gasglu safbwyntiau a phrofiadau 
goroeswyr? A oes trefniadau ar waith i gasglu’r profiadau hyn ac i ba 
raddau mae’r wybodaeth hon yn cael ei defnyddio i helpu i lywio’r 
broses o weithredu darpariaethau’r Ddeddf?

Adroddiad Ymgysylltu â Goroeswyr
Mae Llywodraeth Cymru yn cydnabod pwysigrwydd gwrando ar oroeswyr a 
defnyddio’r hyn maent yn ei ddweud wrthym i helpu i lunio polisïau. 
Comisiynodd fy rhagflaenydd, y Gweinidog Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol, 
Gynghorydd Cenedlaethol a Chymorth i Ferched Cymru i lunio adroddiad 
ar brofiadau goroeswyr. Mae’r adroddiad hwn ‘Are you listening and am I 
being heard?’ yn cyflwyno safbwyntiau a phrofiadau goroeswyr trais yn 
erbyn menywod, cam-drin domestig a thrais rhywiol yng Nghymru.

Ystyriwyd argymhellion yr adroddiad fel rhan o’r broses o ddatblygu’r 
Strategaeth Genedlaethol. Bydd llawer o’r argymhellion yn cael eu 
cynnwys yn y cynllun cyflawni a gaiff ei gyhoeddi ar ôl cyhoeddi’r 
Strategaeth. Mae’r egwyddorion a amlinellir yn yr adroddiad wedi cael eu 
hymgorffori yn y Strategaeth, yn enwedig o ran gwella cymorth a 
hygyrchedd gwasanaethau arbenigol a’r broses o gyfeirio pobl atynt, ar 
gyfer y dioddefwr, y goroeswr a’u teuluoedd.

Fel y nodir uchod, yn dilyn adolygiad o drefniadau llywodraethu ac 
aelodaeth y Grŵp Cynghori ar Drais yn erbyn Menywod, Cam-drin 
Domestig a Thrais Rhywiol, mae’r aelodaeth bellach yn cynnwys 
cynrychiolydd goroeswyr i sicrhau bod lleisiau a phrofiadau goroeswyr yn 
cael eu clywed.

A yw goroeswyr achosion o gam-drin yn dechrau cael gwell 
ymatebion gan awdurdodau cyhoeddus o ganlyniad i’r Ddeddf, yn 
enwedig y rhai sydd angen gwasanaethau arbenigol? 

Credaf fod awdurdodau lleol yn dechrau ymateb yn well i oroeswyr a’n bod 
yn ymdrechu i wella’r sefyllfa. Rydym yn parhau i ddatblygu gwell ffyrdd i 
oroeswyr roi gwybod am eu profiadau a sicrhau bod gwasanaeth 
cyhoeddus ac arbenigol cadarn ar gael i helpu.

Rydym yn cydnabod bod bylchau o hyd yn y broses o ddarparu 
gwasanaethau arbenigol a chyda’n partneriaid arbenigol, rydym yn parhau 
i fynd i’r afael â’r bylchau hyn a pharhau i gefnogi’r gwasanaethau sydd 
eisoes ar gael, a byddwn yn targedu adnoddau ychwanegol tuag at y 
meysydd lle mae’r angen mwyaf er mwyn sicrhau bod gwasanaethau 
arbenigol yn gynaliadwy yn y dyfodol.

“Gofyn a Gweithredu”

Tudalen y pecyn 133



MA - L/CS/5196/16

Mae “Gofyn a Gweithredu” yn ei gwneud yn ofynnol i bobl broffesiynol ofyn 
i gleientiaid a ydynt yn cael eu cam-drin ac mae’n ofynnol iddynt gynnig 
atgyfeirio, ymyriadau neu gymorth arbenigol yn dibynnu ar yr hyn sydd ei 
angen arnynt. 

Fel y nodir uchod, mae Llywodraeth Cymru yn treialu “Gofyn a Gweithredu” 
ar hyn o bryd, sef dull ymholi wedi’i dargedu ar draws gwasanaethau 
cyhoeddus mewn perthynas â thrais yn erbyn menywod, cam-drin 
domestig a thrais rhywiol. Bydd hyn yn rhoi hyder i bobl broffesiynol ‘Ofyn’ 
os byddant yn gweld arwyddion o gam-drin a ‘Gweithredu’ mewn modd 
priodol er mwyn sicrhau, os bydd dioddefwr yn datgelu gwybodaeth o’r 
fath, ei fod yn cael y gofal priodol. 

Mae Llywodraeth Cymru yn bwriadu comisiynu gwerthusiad o dreialon 
‘Gofyn a Gweithredu’. Ymhlith nodau arfaethedig y gwaith ymchwil mae: 

 Nod 1 – Deall a all y ddau ddull “Gofyn a Gweithredu” a 
fabwysiadwyd yn gynnar newid patrymau neu effaith y broses 
adnabod, atgyfeirio a’r defnydd o wasanaethau ar gyfer y rhai sy’n 
profi trais yn erbyn menywod, cam-drin domestig a thrais rhywiol, a 
sut y maent yn gwneud hynny.
 

 Nod 2 – Cynnal dadansoddiad cost a budd mewn perthynas â’r dull 
Gofyn a Gweithredu. 

 Nod 3. Deall y gwersi allweddol sy’n dod i’r amlwg o bob un o’r 
safleoedd sydd wedi mabwysiadu’r broses yn gynnar er mwyn 
llywio’r gwaith o gyflwyno’r broses yn genedlaethol.

Yn wreiddiol, bwriadwyd i’r gwerthusiad gael ei gynnal rhwng hydref 2016 
a gwanwyn 2017. Fodd bynnag, mae pob un o’r safleoedd sydd wedi 
mabwysiadu’r broses yn defnyddio dulliau gwahanol o hyfforddi a chasglu 
data. Mae angen mynd i’r afael â materion yn ymwneud â chasglu data er 
mwyn gwerthuso’r prosiect yn effeithiol.  

Rhaglen bum mlynedd yw hon ac ar ôl ei chyflwyno ar ddiwedd 2017 bydd 
pob cyflogai mewn awdurdod perthnasol yn y sector cyhoeddus sydd naill 
ai’n gweithio mewn swydd sy’n ymdrin â’r cyhoedd (e.e. bydwraig neu 
Swyddog Tai Awdurdod Lleol) neu’r rhai sy’n gweithio mewn swydd lle y 
byddai profiad o Drais yn erbyn Menywod, Cam-drin Domestig a Thrais 
Rhywiol yn cymhlethu natur ymgysylltiad eu cleientiaid â hwy yn eu rôl ac 
yn effeithio ar hynny (e.e. Gweithiwr Cymdeithasol neu weithiwr Iechyd 
Meddwl proffesiynol) yn cael hyfforddiant Gofyn a Gweithredu. 

Llinell Gymorth Byw Heb Ofn

Mae Llywodraeth Cymru wedi ail-dendro contract Llinell Gymorth Cam-drin 
Domestig a Thrais Rhywiol Cymru Gyfan ac fe’i hailenwyd yn wefan Byw 

Tudalen y pecyn 134



MA - L/CS/5196/16

Heb Ofn. Cymorth i Ferched Cymru oedd y darparwr llwyddiannus a 
dyfarnwyd y contract newydd ym mis Hydref 2015.

Mae’r wefan Byw Heb Ofn wedi cael ei hailstrwythuro’n sylweddol i 
ddarparu adnodd cynhwysfawr i ddioddefwyr a goroeswyr, teuluoedd a 
ffrindiau a gweithwyr proffesiynol. Mae’r safle newydd wedi cael ei 
gynllunio i fod yn un o’r prif ffynonellau gwybodaeth am drais yn erbyn 
menywod, cam-drin domestig a thrais rhywiol yng Nghymru ac mae’n 
ategu gwaith y Llinell Gymorth drwy roi cyngor i bobl a’u cyfeirio at 
ffynonellau cymorth.

Yn 2014-15 derbyniodd y Llinell Gymorth 199 o alwadau gan ddynion o 
gymharu â 4,754 o alwadau gan fenywod a oedd yn gofyn am gymorth a 
chyngor. O ran ffigurau 2015-16 cafwyd 232 o alwadau gan ddynion a 
5,161 o alwadau gan fenywod.

Cynllun Dyn

Mae Cynllun Dyn yn darparu cymorth eiriolaeth rheng flaen i ddynion, yn 
ogystal â chymorth dros y ffôn a’r we gan eu cyfeirio at wasanaethau lleol. 
Mae’r Cynllun hefyd yn darparu hyfforddiant ac yn gweithio i godi 
ymwybyddiaeth ledled Cymru o’r mater a sut i gefnogi dynion yn yr 
amgylchiadau hyn yn y ffordd orau.

Darparodd Llywodraeth Cymru gyllid i Cynllun Dyn yn ystod 2016-17. 

A oes gan y Cynghorydd Cenedlaethol ddigon o bŵer ac 
annibyniaeth ar Lywodraeth Cymru i sicrhau bod y Ddeddf yn cael ei 
gweithredu?

Mae’r Cynghorydd Cenedlaethol yn darparu safbwynt annibynnol, 
arbenigol o ran y gwaith sy’n cael ei gyflawni yng Nghymru; gan gynghori, 
llunio a llywio datblygiadau deddfwriaethol, strategaethau a pholisïau a 
hybu gwelliannau yn y broses o atal, amddiffyn a chefnogi unigolion y mae 
trais yn erbyn menywod, cam-drin domestig a thrais rhywiol yn effeithio 
arnynt. 

Mae’r rôl yn un gynghorol statudol, sy’n annibynnol ar y Llywodraeth, a 
nodir ei swyddogaethau yn adran 21 o’r Ddeddf; 

(a) cynghori Gweinidogion Cymru ynghylch ymgyrraedd at ddiben y 
Ddeddf hon neu fynd i’r afael â materion cysylltiedig (gweler isadran (2));

(b) darparu cynhorthwy arall i Weinidogion Cymru wrth iddynt ymgyrraedd 
at ddiben y Ddeddf hon neu fynd i’r afael â materion cysylltiedig; 

(c) gwneud gwaith ymchwil mewn perthynas ag ymgyrraedd at ddiben y 
Ddeddf hon, mynd i’r afael â materion cysylltiedig neu ymchwilio i weld a 
yw cam-drin o unrhyw fath yn gysylltiedig yn uniongyrchol neu’n 

Tudalen y pecyn 135



MA - L/CS/5196/16

anuniongyrchol ag anghydraddoldeb o unrhyw fath rhwng pobl o wahanol 
ryw, hunaniaeth o ran rhywedd neu gyfeiriadedd rhywiol; 

(d) darparu cyngor a chynhorthwy arall, gyda chydsyniad Gweinidogion 
Cymru, i unrhyw berson ar faterion sy’n ymwneud ag ymgyrraedd at 
ddiben y Ddeddf hon neu fynd i’r afael â materion perthnasol; 

(e) cynhyrchu adroddiadau ar unrhyw fater sy’n berthnasol i ddiben y 
Ddeddf hon neu fynd i’r afael â materion cysylltiedig.

Dechreuodd y Cynghorydd Cenedlaethol, Rhian Bowen-Davies ar ei 
swydd ar 28 Medi 2015 ac mae’n gwbl annibynnol gyda chymorth 
gweinyddol gan y Tîm Trais yn erbyn Menywod, Cam-drin Domestig a 
Thrais Rhywiol mewn perthynas ag arfer ei swyddogaethau.

Mae’r Cynghorydd yn ymgysylltu’n llawn â’r Gwasanaeth Cyhoeddus, gyda 
sefydliadau arbenigol o’r trydydd sector a chyda dioddefwyr a goroeswyr. 

Mae’r Ddeddf yn ei gwneud yn ofynnol i’r Cynghorydd Cenedlaethol 
ddrafftio Cynllun Blynyddol. Rhaid i’r Cynllun Blynyddol nodi sut mae’n 
bwriadu arfer swyddogaethau’r rôl yn ystod y flwyddyn ariannol ganlynol. 
Mae Adran 22(2) yn datgan bod yn rhaid i Gynllun Blynyddol:

(a) Datgan amcanion a blaenoriaethau’r Cynghorydd 
Gweinidogol ar gyfer y flwyddyn ariannol mae’r 
adroddiad yn ymwneud â hi; 

(b) Datgan unrhyw faterion y mae’r Cynghorydd 
Gweinidogol yn bwriadu adrodd arnynt yn ystod y 
flwyddyn honno; 

(c) Datgan unrhyw weithgareddau eraill mae’r Cynghorydd 
Cenedlaethol yn bwriadu ymgymryd â hwy wrth arfer ei 
swyddogaethau yn ystod y flwyddyn honno.  

Cyhoeddwyd Cynllun Blynyddol cyntaf y Cynghorydd Cenedlaethol ym mis 
Ebrill 2016 ac mae’r Adroddiad Blynyddol cyntaf, sy’n ymwneud â’r cyfnod 
chwe mis o fis Medi 2015 i fis Mawrth 2016, wedi cael ei gyhoeddi’n 
ddiweddar.

Nod cyffredinol yr Adroddiad Blynyddol cyntaf oedd dysgu am brofiadau 
pobl yng Nghymru, yr hyn a oedd yn bwysig iddynt a’r hyn yr oeddent am 
i’r Cynghorydd ganolbwyntio arno.  

Yn ystod y chwe mis cyntaf, er mwyn i’r Cynghorydd Cenedlaethol sicrhau 
cyfreithlondeb a hygrededd, gosodwyd tri amcan: Gwrando, Cyfathrebu a 
Deall, y Defnyddiwr Gwasanaethau Presennol a’r Darpar Ddefnyddiwr 
Gwasanaethau, a Chyfranogi a Dylanwadu ar sail Persbectif.

Tudalen y pecyn 136



MA - L/CS/5196/16

Tudalen y pecyn 137



MA - L/CS/5196/16

I ba raddau mae’r canllaw arfer da ar gyfer cydberthnasau iach yn 
dylanwadu’n llwyddiannus ar ddatblygu dull ysgol gyfan o herio trais 
yn erbyn menywod, cam-drin domestig a thrais rhywiol?

Ni wyddom beth yw maint y dylanwad ar hyn o bryd. Bydd Estyn yn cynnal 
adolygiad thematig o’r ddarpariaeth cydberthnasau iach bresennol yn 
ystod blwyddyn academaidd 2016-2017, ac erbyn hynny bydd y 
diwygiadau presennol rydym yn ymgymryd â hwy, yn cynnwys mewn 
perthynas â’r Fframwaith Hyfforddi Cenedlaethol, wedi cael cyfle i 
ymsefydlu’n gadarn.

Mae adolygiad o adnoddau addysgu cydberthnasau iach wedi cael ei 
gomisiynu ac mae Llywodraeth Cymru wedi parhau i ariannu ‘Prosiect 
Sbectrwm’ Hafan Cymru a ‘Phrosiect Plant yn Cyfrif’ Cymorth i Ferched 
Cymru er mwyn cefnogi elfen atal y Ddeddf.

Bydd y cyllid ar gyfer ‘Prosiect Sbectrwm’ yn parhau yn 2016-17, yn 
ogystal â chymorth i blant yn y gymuned drwy ‘Brosiect Plant yn Cyfrif’ 
Cymorth i Ferched Cymru.

Tudalen y pecyn 138



Alun Davies AC/AM 
Gweinidog y Gymraeg a Dysgu Gydol Oes 
Minister for Lifelong Learning and Welsh Language 
 

 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 

Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Alun.Davies@llyw.cymru 

               Correspondence.Alun.Davies@gov.wales 
 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 

gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and 

corresponding in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

 
 
John Griffiths AC 

Cadeirydd 
Y Pwyllgor Cydraddoldeb, Llywodraeth Leol a Chymunedau 
Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru 

Bae Caerdydd 
CF99 1NA 

 
 
 

12 Hydref 2016  
 
 

Annwyl John, 
 
Diolch am y cyfle i drafod y Tasglu Gweinidogol ar gyfer Cymoedd De Cymru ar 21 Medi. 
Yn eich llythyr dilynol, rydych wedi gofyn am ragor o wybodaeth yn dilyn cyfarfod cyntaf y 
tasglu, a gynhaliwyd ar 22 a 23 o Fedi.   
 
Bydd copïau o bapurau a chofnodion ein cyfarfod yn cael eu cyhoeddi ar dudalen we 
tasglu'r cymoedd Llywodraeth Cymru yn ddiweddarach yr wythnos hon. 
http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/communities/taskforce-for-the-
valleys/?lang=cy  
 
Yn dilyn adborth yn ystod y cyfarfod hwn o'r tasglu, mae'r cylch gorchwyl yn dal i fod ar 
ffurf drafft ond bwriedir cytuno arno'n electronig cyn y cyfarfod nesaf ar 28 Tachwedd. 
Bydd yn cael ei gyhoeddi ar y dudalen we. 
 
Nododd y tasglu nifer o heriau allweddol yn ei gyfarfod cyntaf, y gellir eu grwpio o dan y 
pedwar pennawd canlynol: 
 

 Gwell integreiddio a chydgysylltu ar draws gwasanaethau cyhoeddus; 

 Mwy o fynediad i swyddi o ansawdd da, gan gynyddu sgiliau cyflogadwyedd; 

 Cyfathrebu cadarnhaol ac ymgysylltu o ddifrif â chymunedau; 

 Sicrhau'r manteision mwyaf o strwythurau a sefydliadau sy'n gweithio gyda'r cymoedd 
ac yn y cymoedd. 

 
Mae'r tasglu yn cynnwys cynrychiolaeth o blith y rhai sy'n datblygu Cynnig Prifddinas-
Ranbarth Caerdydd a'r rhai sy'n gweithio gyda Dinas-Ranbarth Caerdydd. Bydd y tasglu 
yn adeiladu ar y meysydd cysylltiedig hyn o weithgarwch a noddir gan y llywodraeth yn 
hytrach na'u dyblygu. Fel yr eglurais wrth y pwyllgor, nid wyf yn bwriadu adeiladu 
strwythurau cyflawni ar wahân a chyfochrog.   

Pwyllgor Cydraddoldeb, Llywodraeth Leol a Chymunedau 
Equality, Local Government and Communities Committee 
ELGC(5)-08-16 Papur 3 / Paper 3 

Tudalen y pecyn 139

Eitem 4.1

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Alun.Davies@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Alun.Davies@gov.wales
http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/communities/taskforce-for-the-valleys/?lang=cy
http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/communities/taskforce-for-the-valleys/?lang=cy


 
Bydd ymgysylltu o ddifrif â chymunedau lleol yn hanfodol i waith y tasglu.  Rydym yn 
awyddus i fynd at wraidd yr hyn y mae cymunedau'r cymoedd ei eisiau ac er mwyn 
gwneud hyn byddwn yn ymchwilio i ddulliau arloesol o ymgysylltu. Mae cynllun 
cyfathrebu ac ymgysylltu yn cael ei ddatblygu a byddwn yn falch o rannu hyn gyda'r 
pwyllgor ar ôl iddo gael ei gwblhau.   
 
Trafododd y tasglu oblygiadau refferendwm yr UE a'r DU yn ymadael â'r Undeb 
Ewropeaidd yn y dyfodol yn ei gyfarfod cyntaf. Mae'n rhy fuan i benderfynu beth fydd y 
goblygiadau i'r cymoedd, fodd bynnag, byddwn yn parhau i adolygu'r pwnc pwysig hwn.   
 
Mae gwaith y Tasglu Gweinidogol ar gyfer Cymoedd De Cymru ar gam datblygiadol - 
bydd yn esblygu dros dymor pum mlynedd y llywodraeth hon ac yn cael ei lywio gan 
ymgysylltu parhaus â chymunedau'r cymoedd. Gyda hyn mewn golwg, byddaf yn falch o 
roi'r wybodaeth ddiweddaraf am y datblygiadau i'r Pwyllgor Cydraddoldeb, Cymunedau a 
Llywodraeth Leol. 
 
Yn gywir, 
 
 

 
 
Alun Davies AC/AM 
Gweinidog y Gymraeg a Dysgu Gydol Oes 
Minister for Lifelong Learning and Welsh Language 
 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 140



 

Carl Sargeant AC/AM 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Gymunedau a Phlant 
Cabinet Secretary for Communities and Children 
  
 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 

Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 
 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Carl.Sargeant@llyw.cymru 

Correspondence.Carl.Sargeant@gov.wales 
 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 

gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 

in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

 
 
Ein cyf/Our ref: MA-P/CS/7019/16  

 
John Griffiths AC 
Cadeirydd 

Pwyllgor Cydraddoldeb,  Llywodraeth Leol a Chymunedau 
Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd 

Caerdydd 
CF99 1NA 
 

13 Hydref 2016  
 
Annwyl John, 
 

Diolch am eich llythyr dyddiedig 30 Medi, yn dilyn fy ymddangosiad gerbron y Pwyllgor 
Cydraddoldeb, Llywodraeth Leol a Chymunedau ar 21 Medi.  
 
Yn ystod y sesiwn, cytunais i ysgrifennu atoch ynglŷn â thrafod cymorth ar gyfer ffoaduriaid 
Syria gyda Llywodraeth y DU ac ynglŷn â bwriad Llywodraeth y DU i gyflwyno Deddf 
Hawliau Prydeinig. 
 
Nid wyf wedi cael unrhyw drafodaethau uniongyrchol gyda'r Gweinidog Gwladol dros 
Fewnfudo, Robert Goodwill AS, eto.  Fodd bynnag, mae wedi ysgrifennu ataf ynglŷn â 
phlant sy'n geiswyr lloches ac sy'n ffoaduriaid, sydd ar eu pen eu hunain, gan gydnabod 
ymdrechion Awdurdodau Lleol Cymru i roi cymorth ceiswyr lloches a'u teuluoedd. At hynny, 
cyfarfu Prif Weinidog Cymru yn ddiweddar â Chymdeithas Llywodraeth Leol Cymru ac mae 
wedi cytuno y dylid gwneud cais ar y cyd i'r Swyddfa Gartref am gymorth ychwanegol, gan 
adlewyrchu safbwynt yr Alban hefyd o bosibl. Rwy'n edrych ymlaen at ddeialog barhaus 
gyda Llywodraeth y DU ar y materion hyn. 
 
Ar 7 Medi, holodd Pwyllgor Cyfiawnder Seneddol y DU yr Ysgrifennydd Gwladol dros 
Gyfiawnder, Elizabeth Truss AS, ynglŷn â chynlluniau Llywodraeth y DU i ddisodli Deddf 
Hawliau Dynol 1998 â Deddf Hawliau. Pan bwyswyd arni gan y Pwyllgor am fwy o fanylion 
am y cynigion, fel yr amseru a'r effaith ar y gweinyddiaethau datganoledig, yr wyf ar ddeall i 
Ms Truss ddweud eu bod yn dal i edrych ar y paramedrau a bod angen ymgynghori'n 
drwyadl ar y cynigion. Fodd bynnag, cadarnhaod Ms Truss na fyddai'r cynigion yn golygu 
tynnu'n ôl o'r Confensiwn Ewropeaidd ar Hawliau Dynol. Felly, byddaf yn hysbysu'r Pwyllgor 
pan fydd unrhyw wybodaeth bendant am y cynigion ar gael. Mae'n hanfodol bod 
Llywodraeth Cymru a Chynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru yn rhan o unrhyw ymgynghoriad sy'n 
effeithio ar hawliau dynol pobl Cymru, ac rydym yn disgwyl i Lywodraeth y DU gyflawni ei 
hymrwymiad i ymgynghori'n llawn ar y cynigion hyn. 

Pwyllgor Cydraddoldeb, Llywodraeth Leol a Chymunedau 
Equality, Local Government and Communities Committee 
ELGC(5)-08-16 Papur 4 / Paper 4 

Tudalen y pecyn 141

Eitem 4.2

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Carl.Sargeant@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Carl.Sargeant@gov.wales


 

 

 
 
 
 
Yn eich llythyr, gofynnoch am wybodaeth am nifer o faterion ychwanegol.  Gofynnoch a wyf 
yn ystyried gwneud unrhyw newidiadau i'r cyfnod o amser y mae'n rhaid i landlordiaid preifat 
gofrestru a chael trwydded o'i fewn o dan Ran 1 o Ddeddf Tai (Cymru) 2014.  Erbyn hyn 
rwyf wedi cael cyfle i ystyried ymhellach y posibilrwydd o newid y cyfnod o amser y mae'n 
rhaid i landlordiaid preifat gofrestru a chael trwydded o'i fewn ond nid wyf yn argyhoeddedig 
ynglŷn â mantais hyn, os bydd mantais o gwbl. Mae landlordiaid wedi cael blwyddyn i 
gofrestru a dod yn drwyddedig, a hoffwn roi clod i'r llu o landlordiaid sydd wedi gwneud 
hynny. Mae perygl nawr y gall y rhai sydd wedi ei gadael yn hwyr fod yn torri'r gyfraith. 
Roeddem yn gwybod o'r cychwyn y byddai hyn yn risg ac fe wnaethom rybuddio 
landlordiaid i osgoi hyn os yn bosibl. Fy mhryder gydag ymestyn y cyfnod amser ymhellach 
yw y bydd yr un broblem yn digwydd gyda'r terfyn amser newydd gan y bydd rhai bob 
amser yn gadael pethau tan y funud olaf. Teimlaf nad yw'n iawn oedi cyn gweithredu'r 
ddeddfwriaeth oherwydd nad yw unigolion wedi cymryd eu cyfrifoldebau o ddifrif. Rwyf 
hefyd yn credu y byddai hyn yn cyfleu'r neges anghywir ynglŷn â pha mor bwysig yw ein 
gwaith deddfu. Mae angen i landlordiaid ac asiantau gymryd camau nawr i gofrestru neu 
wneud cais am drwydded. O ran y rhai sydd wedi ei gadael yn rhy hwyr i ddilyn cwrs 
hyfforddi, byddwn yn awgrymu eu bod yn ystyried cwblhau'r hyfforddiant ar-lein yn lle 
hynny. Os bydd eu cais wedi'i gyflwyno erbyn y dyddiad cau, dylai hyn fod yn ddigon i osgoi 
unrhyw gamau yn eu herbyn a bydd Rhentu Doeth Cymru yn prosesu eu cais am drwydded 
cyn gynted ag y bo modd. 
 
O ran cefnogi landlordiaid newydd i sicrhau eu bod yn cydymffurfio â'u rhwymedigaethau 
statudol o dan Ran 1 o Ddeddf Tai (Cymru) 2014, bydd yn rhaid iddynt sicrhau eu bod yn 
cofrestru ac yn gwneud cais am drwydded neu benodi asiant trwyddedig o fewn yr amserlen 
a nodir yn y Ddeddf. Mae'r Ddeddf yn darparu cyfnod o 28 diwrnod i landlordiaid gofrestru. 
Gan mai dim ond tua 15-20 munud y mae'n ei gymryd i gofrestru ar lein, mae'r amser hwn 
yn ddigonol. Gellir ymgymryd â hyfforddiant ar unrhyw adeg ac mae'r cyfleuster hyfforddi ar-
lein yn cynnig mwy fyth o hyblygrwydd a dewis. Nid yw dod yn landlord newydd yn rhywbeth 
sy'n digwydd dros nos neu'n ddifeddwl fel arfer. Fel gydag unrhyw broffesiwn arall, bydd 
angen i unrhyw ddarpar landlordiaid sicrhau eu bod yn cydymffurfio â phob un o'u 
rhwymedigaethau cyfreithiol. Mae gwefan Rhentu Doeth Cymru yn rhoi digon o arweiniad a 
chymorth i landlordiaid newydd ac, a barnu wrth yr adborth rwyf wedi'i gael hyd yma, mae'r 
staff yn gefnogol iawn ac yn hynod gymwynasgar.  
 
Gofynnoch am fanylion cynlluniau Llywodraeth Cymru i fynd i'r afael ag unrhyw faterion a all 
godi o benderfyniad  y Swyddfa Ystadegau Gwladol i ailddosbarthu Landlordiaid 
Cymdeithasol Cofrestredig Cymru yn gyrff sector cyhoeddus. Rydym yn ymchwilio i 
ddatrysiad deddfwriaethol i'r mater o ailddosbarthu. Gall Cymdeithasau Tai fod yn hyderus y 
bydd yn cael ei ddatrys. Bydd fy swyddogion yn gweithio'n agos gyda chynrychiolwyr 
rhanddeiliaid a'r Swyddfa Ystadegau Gwladol i ddatblygu pecyn deddfwriaethol a fydd yn 
cyflwyno'r diwygiadau angenrheidiol ond yn sicrhau bod y sector yn parhau i gael ei 
reoleiddio'n effeithiol. Mae hyn yn golygu y byddant yn gallu parhau i fenthyca oddi wrth y 
sector preifat er mwyn ein helpu i gyrraedd ein targed o 20,000 o gartrefi fforddiadwy yn 
ystod tymor y Cynulliad hwn.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 142



 

 

 
 
O ran cynaliadwyedd gwasanaethau arbenigol yn y sector trais yn erbyn menywod a cham-
drin domestig, mae'r Grant Gwasanaethau Cam-drin Domestig wedi bod ar waith ers dros 
10 mlynedd ac mae'n cefnogi prosiectau sy'n ymwneud â thrais yn erbyn menywod, cam-
drin domestig a thrais rhywiol.  Cynhaliwyd adolygiad o ddyrannu'r Grant Gwasanaethau 
Cam-drin Domestig a sut yr ymdrinnir â'r grant yn 2014 er mwyn sicrhau bod cyllid yn y 
dyfodol yn cyd-fynd yn well ag amcanion y Ddeddf a chyfeiriad polisi ehangach yn y maes 
hwn.  Ar hyn o bryd rydym yn ystyried opsiynau i newid i ddull mwy rhanbarthol gydag 
Awdurdodau Lleol er mwyn rhoi cyfle i geisiadau am gyllid yn y dyfodol fod yn fwy ymatebol 
i anghenion lleol.  Nod yr adolygiad hwn oedd annog a hwyluso mwy o gydweithio rhwng 
partneriaethau Diogelwch Cymunedol a phartneriaid perthnasol wrth gyflawni prosiectau 
trais yn erbyn menywod, cam-drin domestig a thrais rhywiol gan gynnwys y rhai a ariennir 
drwy'r Grant Gwasanaethau Cam-drin Domestig, ond nid yn gyfyngedig i hynny, drwy nodi 
cydflaenoriaethau o fewn eu priod feysydd. 
 
Rydym yn annog Awdurdodau Lleol a'u partneriaid i fabwysiadu dull mwy cydweithredol o 
ddarparu gwasanaethau.  Gall hyn olygu comisiynu a darparu gwasanaethau ar sail 
ranbarthol er mwyn gwella gwasanaethau sy'n mynd i'r afael â thrais yn erbyn menywod, 
cam-drin domestig a thrais rhywiol fel canlyniad allweddol. Rwy'n disgwyl i Awdurdodau 
Lleol weithio gydag Awdurdodau Lleol cyfagos ac ar draws ardaloedd Byrddau Iechyd Lleol 
i asesu anghenion a darpariaeth leol, gan nodi ble y bydd mwy o ffocws ar ddarparu 
gwasanaethau yn hwyluso gwerth am arian a hyblygrwydd gwasanaethau a ariennir er 
mwyn diwallu anghenion lleol, gan ddarparu gwell gwasanaeth i ddioddefwyr. Bydd y broses 
hon yn cael ei chyflawni drwy ymgynghori â rhanddeiliaid, darparwyr gwasanaethau 
arbenigol a goroeswyr i helpu i sicrhau asesiad cynhwysfawr o anghenion a darparu 
gwasanaethau dilynol.  Mae fy swyddogion wedi cwrdd â'r Sector Arbenigol i drafod y model 
cyllido cynaliadwy a bydd y trafodaethau hyn yn parhau. 
 
Yn ystod y sesiwn, cyfeiriwyd at adolygiad arfaethedig o Reoliadau Adeiladu, Rhan L (Arbed 
tanwydd ac ynni). Gan mai un o feysydd cyfrifoldeb fy nghydweithiwr, Ysgrifennydd y 
Cabinet dros yr Amgylchedd a Materion Gwledig, yw hwn, rwyf wedi gofyn iddi roi'r 
wybodaeth ddiweddaraf i'r Pwyllgor ar y mater maes o law. 
 
Yn olaf, o ran ymgysylltu â'r Cynulliad, mae'r pedair strategaeth drawsbynciol a amlinellir yn 
Symud Cymru Ymlaen yn cynrychioli dull llywodraeth gyfan o gyflawni ein blaenoriaethau a 
sicrhau canlyniadau gwell i bobl Cymru. Bydd hyn yn gofyn am gydweithio gan bob aelod o'r 
Cabinet, bob Gweinidog a phob un o Adrannau Llywodraeth Cymru. Wrth ddatblygu'r 
strategaethau, bydd y trefniadau ar gyfer cydweithio agos ar draws y llywodraeth yn cael eu 
sefydlu.  
 
Yn gywir, 
 

 
Carl Sargeant AC/AM 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Gymunedau a Phlant 
Cabinet Secretary for Communities and Children 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 143



 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 144


	Agenda
	2 Ymchwiliad ôl-ddeddfwriaethol i Ddeddf Trais yn erbyn Menywod, Cam-drin Domestig a Thrais Rhywiol (Cymru) 2015 sesiwn dystiolaeth 5
	ELGC(5)-08-16 Papur 1 Cynghorydd Cenedlaethol ar gyfer Trais yn erbyn Menywod a mathau eraill o Drais ar Sail Rhywedd, Cam-drin Domestig a Thrais Rhywiol (Saesneg yn unig)
	ELGC(5)-08-16 Papur 1a Cynllun blynyddol (Saesneg yn unig)
	ELGC(5)-08-16 Papur Adroddiad blynyddol (Saesneg yn unig)
	ELGC(5)-08-16 Paper 1c Eich bod yn gwrando ac yr wyf yn cael eu clywed (Saesneg yn unig)

	3 Ymchwiliad ôl-ddeddfwriaethol i Ddeddf Trais yn erbyn Menywod, Cam-drin Domestig a Thrais Rhywiol (Cymru) 2015 sesiwn dystiolaeth 6
	4.1 Llythyr gan Weinidog y Gymraeg a Dysgu Gydol Oes ynghylch y Tasglu Gweinidogol ar gyfer Cymoedd y De
	4.2 Llythyr gan Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet ynghylch ymgysylltu â Llywodraeth y DU ar gymorth i ffoaduriaid o Syria ac ar gyflwyniad arfaethedig Llywodraeth y DU o’r Ddeddf Hawliau Prydeinig



